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EMECO IS THE WORLD’S LARGEST, INDEPENDENT MINING EQUIPMENT RENTAL BUSINESS. WE PROVIDE 
SAFE, RELIABLE AND MAINTAINED EQUIPMENT RENTAL SOLUTIONS TO THE GLOBAL MINING INDUSTRY. 

WHO WE ARE

AUSTRALIA REVENUE 61% INDONESIA REVENUE 14% CANADA REVENUE 21% CHILE REVENUE 4%

COUNTRIES WE OPERATE IN

1972
YEAR  
ESTABLISHED

NUMBER OF  
EMPLOYEES*

SIZE OF  
FLEET*

633 813
FY13 AVERAGE  
FLEET UTILISATION*

67%

WHERE WE ARE GOING

OUR VISION

To contribute to a sustainable and 
productive mining industry and to  
provide a great workplace for our  
people and teams.

OUR VALUES
•	 Collaboration
•	 Accountability
•	 Integrity
•	 Continuous Improvement

OUR MISSION

To add value to our customers  
through cost effective equipment  
and service solutions. We deliver 
sustainable financial returns by:

•	 Behaving appropriately
•	 Building our capabilities
•	 Focusing on our customers
•	 Enhancing our service offering

OUR FOCUS

BUSINESS STRATEGY
Our business strategy is based  
on the three pillars of:
•	 Optimise the Core
•	 Sustainable Growth
• 	 Consistent Value Creation  

for Shareholders

PEOPLE STRATEGY
Our strategy for Emeco people 
(Empower) is about delivering a  
great place to work for all employees.  
We regularly survey Emeco people  
and review our internal human resource 
systems and processes to ensure  
we are continually focused on making  
a good place to work great.

*Figures current  
at 30 June, 2013

Emeco at a glance
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FLEET OVERVIEW

REAR DUMP TRUCKS
50 to 240 tonnes
Caterpillar, Komatsu

GRADERS
14H to 24M
Caterpillar

ARTICULATED TRUCKS
30 to 40 tonnes
Caterpillar

ANCILLARY
Watercarts, service trucks, compactors, 
integrated tool carriers, tyre handlers

EXCAVATORS
40 to 400 tonnes
Komatsu, Hitachi, Liebherr, Caterpillar

DOZERS
D8 to D11
Caterpillar

LOADERS
966 to 994H
Caterpillar, Komatsu



Emeco was first established in Australia in 1972. For the past 40 years we have been providing 
safe, reliable, well-maintained equipment solutions to the global mining industry.

Today, our experienced teams operate out of Australia, Indonesia, Canada and Chile, providing 
the highest levels of customer service and maintenance capabilities to safely deliver best-in-class 
equipment to the go line for our mining industry customers. 

By partnering with Emeco, our customers are:

	 Better equipped to mine their way

	 Better equipped to manage cash flow, capital efficiency and residual value risk

	 Better equipped across their fleet

	 Better equipped to ramp up production quickly

	 Better equipped to maximise fleet productivity

Better equipped than  
ever before to keep our 
customers moving



FY13 OVERVIEW

Performance  
and results
Coming off a period of strong mining activity in FY12 Emeco’s 
operating landscape changed rapidly across key regions in FY13.
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$MILLIONS

SALES 
REVENUE 
DOWN
22.2%

$MILLIONS$MILLIONS

OPERATING 
NPAT  
DOWN
50.5%

INVESTED 
CAPITAL  
UP
11.6%

IMPROVED SAFETY  
PERFORMANCE

THE SAFETY OF OUR EMPLOYEES AND THOSE WE WORK WITH IS THE KEY PRIORITY 
AT EMECO. OUR GROUP TOTAL REPORTABLE INJURY FREQUENCY RATE (TRIFR) 
IMPROVED BY 39% DURING THE PERIOD

FURTHER READING PAGE 25

OPERATING NPAT OPERATING NPAT WAS DOWN 50.5% PCP TO $35.2M, DRIVEN BY LOWER UTILISATION 
AND PRICING ACROSS OUR KEY REGIONS

SUCCESSFUL EXPANSION  
INTO CHILE

IN ITS FIRST YEAR OF OPERATION, OUR NEW CHILE BUSINESS ACHIEVED AVERAGE 
UTILISATION OF 86% AND CONTRIBUTED $6.4M EBIT

FURTHER READING PAGE 22

EARNINGS GROWTH IN CANADA ON THE BACK OF FLEET INVESTMENT DURING LATE FY12 AND  
GROWING CONTRIBUTION FROM MAINTENANCE SERVICES, CANADA CONTRIBUTED 
EARNINGS GROWTH IN FY13

FURTHER READING PAGE 20

REVIEW OF INDONESIAN OPERATIONS IN LIGHT OF CONTRACT LOSSES, EMECO IS CURRENTLY REVIEWING OPPORTUNITIES 
IN THIS MARKET TO DETERMINE LONGER TERM STRATEGIC POSITION

FURTHER READING PAGE 21

RETURNING VALUE FROM IDLE FLEET DURING FY13 $40M OF EQUIPMENT WAS REDEPLOYED TO CHILE AND $49.8M 
DISPOSED INCLUDING $23M RELATED TO THE SALE OF ONE EQUIPMENT PACKAGE

FURTHER READING PAGE 17

POSITIVE FREE CASHFLOW  
DURING 2H13

REDUCED CAPEX COMBINED WITH ASSET DISPOSALS GENERATED  
$60M OF FREE CASHFLOW DURING 2H13

EXECUTED 5% SHARE BUY-BACK  
DURING FY13

DURING FY13 EMECO COMPLETED A 5% SHARE BUYBACK AT AN  
AVERAGE PRICE OF 53.4 CPS

TARGET OUTCOME

EMECO HOLD INGS L IM ITED   ANNUAL REPORT 201304
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PER SHARE  
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12.9C

%

EBIT  
ROC  
DOWN
6.1%

CAPITAL  
RETURNED TO 
SHAREHOLDERS 
DOWN
15.6%

2013 2012
Operating revenue $m 439.7  565.2 

Net profit before net interest and tax $m 16.1  100.4 

Operating net profit $m 35.2 71.1

Total dividends paid in respect to financial year $m 15.1 37.9

Total assets $m 1,126.0 1,216.1

Net debt $m 414.7 386.4 

Shareholders’ equity $m 611.2 640.4 

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment and tangibles $m  178.9 317.0

Depreciation and amortisation $m 112.7 135.7 

Return on average invested capital % 7.1 13.2

Gearing (net debt to EBITDA) x 2.15  1.48 

KEY FINANCIALS

Earnings per share cents 5.9 11.3

Ordinary dividends per share cents 2.5 6.0

Net tangible assets per share cents 75.6 73.9

Free cash flow per share cents -1.5  -14.4

KEY SHARE DATA

KEY RATIOS
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Better equipped  
for a strong future

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Dear Shareholder,

We are pleased to present the Emeco 
Holdings Limited Annual Report for 
financial year 2012/2013 (FY13).

ADAPTING OUR BUSINESS TO 
CHANGING MARKETS
Emeco has exposure to the mining 
industry across a range of commodities 
and geographies. Following a period of 
strong activity across all parts of our 
business we experienced a sharp  
slow-down in activity across Australia 
and Indonesia.

Emeco’s Canadian business grew in  
FY13 on the back of our strategy to 
align the business with oil majors and 
indigenous contractors and we also 
executed a successful expansion into 
Chile. Our success in Canada and  
Chile demonstrates Emeco’s ability  
to adapt the business to create value 
for customers and shareholders, while 
maintaining our disciplined approach  
to managing our balance sheet.

Moving into FY14 Emeco is continuing 
to assess opportunities for further 
geographical expansion, working with 
our customers to create innovative 
equipment solutions and focusing on 
growth opportunities which create 
greater value for our shareholders.  
A key focus for us in these challenging 
times is to focus on cash flow 
generation in order to keep our  
balance sheet in good shape.

SAFETY AND SUSTAINABILITY
The safety of our employees and those 
we work with is a key priority of the 
Board and business with our ultimate 
objective to achieve “zero harm”. During 
FY13 Emeco continued to invest in 
safe work practices and initiatives to 
further entrench a culture of “safety 
first” throughout the business. Emeco’s 
group Total Reportable Injury Frequency 
Rate (TRIFR) improved by 39% during 
the period, however our Lost Time Injury 
Frequency Rate (LTIFR) increased to  
3.5 (up from 1.7 in FY12).+

FURTHER READING PAGE 28

The Board is committed to continual 
improvement in our safety measures 
during FY14 and beyond.

A key factor to Emeco’s future success is 
our ability to attract and retain high calibre 
people. We continue to focus on training 
and development with individual training 
needs identified through our annual 
performance management process. Due 
to the downturn in the market during 
the year resulting in reduced workload, 
particularly across our Australian and 
Indonesian sites, the Company had to 
make a number of employee positions 
redundant. This is always a difficult 
decision but unfortunately has been a 
consistent theme across the resources 
sector in FY13. 

Diversity has been a focus of the  
Emeco Board for a number of years 
now. During the year we established  
our diversity framework which is 
supported by an action plan to be  
driven by Management across the 
business.+ A number of initiatives  
were implemented during the year  
to lay the foundation for improved  
diversity reporting, awareness and  
more flexible work practices. 

FURTHER READING PAGE 30

Emeco continued to actively and 
positively contribute to the communities 
in which it operates during the period. 
Particular highlights include Emeco’s 
involvement with the Clontarf Foundation 
in Australia; the operator training 
program developed by Women Building 
Futures in Canada; and the high level 
of employee participation in the mental 
health and suicide awareness training 
offered at Emeco workplaces through 
our partnership with Lifeline Australia.

Emeco’s successes in engaging with 
employees, enhancing diversity, investing 
in community initiatives and improving 
safety during FY13 are detailed further 
in our Sustainability Report.+

FURTHER READING PAGE 24

BUSINESS ADAPTING TO DYNAMIC 
SHIFT IN GLOBAL MINING MARKET

CONTINUED FOCUS ON SAFETY, 
COMMUNITY AND PEOPLE 
GENERATING POSITIVE RESULTS

EXECUTED 5% SHARE BUY-BACK 
DURING FY13, RETURNING CAPITAL 
TO SHAREHOLDERS

ALEC BRENNAN, AM



 

CONTINUALLY IMPROVING OUR 
REPORTING TO SHAREHOLDERS
The Emeco Board is committed to 
ensuring we keep shareholders informed 
of our performance. You’ll notice an 
improved annual report structure 
tailored to providing our shareholders 
with key information required to make 
informed decisions regarding their 
shareholdings. In particular, we have 
expanded our operational and financial 
review with a focus on informing our 
readers of the key business risks facing 
Emeco today and how we intend to 
mitigate these risks during FY14.+

FURTHER READING PAGE 14

DELIVERING RETURNS TO 
SHAREHOLDERS OVER THE  
LONG-TERM
The Board remains committed to 
Emeco’s dividend policy of a 40–60% 
payout ratio of annual Operating NPAT, 
franked to the fullest extent possible. 
The Company delivered a 2.5 cent 
interim dividend which represents 42.5% 
of FY13 annual Operating NPAT. With 
consideration given to Emeco’s current 
tough operating environment, the 
Board’s focus on managing cashflows 
to maintain a strong financial position 

and the level of returns already made to 
shareholders during FY13, the Board has 
declared a nil final dividend for FY13. 

The Emeco Board is firmly focussed on 
delivering strong shareholder returns 
over the long term with a current aim of 
positioning the business to benefit from 
strengthening commodity markets over 
the next few years. Our commitment 
to delivering value for shareholders is 
evidenced by the special dividend of 
5.0 cents paid during FY11 and more 
recently through the 5% share buy-back 
conducted during the first half of FY13.+

FURTHER READING PAGE 18

BUSINESS REMAINS WELL 
POSITIONED FOR THE FUTURE
Despite the challenging operating and 
economic environment Emeco endured 
during FY13, the business remains 
motivated to build a solid foundation 
on which we can grow following the 
current downturn. As FY14 brings with 
it a new set of challenges, the business 
is well positioned to execute its key 
strategies of diversifying our earnings 
base, demonstrating greater flexibility 
in meeting our customer’s equipment 
needs and maintaining a disciplined 
approach to balance sheet management. 

I’d like to take this opportunity to thank 
Keith Gordon for his contribution to 
Emeco since December 2009. Under 
Keith’s leadership Emeco has achieved 
its strategy of restructuring the 
business to focus on the global mining 
industry, a strategy which has delivered 
significant returns to shareholders since 
2010. The business has commenced a 
global search to identify a successor  
for Keith, we look forward to reporting 
news of a replacement once this 
process is completed.

ALEC BRENNAN, AM
CHAIRMAN

DESPITE THE CHALLENGING 
OPERATING AND ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT EMECO ENDURED 
DURING FY13, THE BUSINESS 
REMAINS MOTIVATED TO BUILD 
A SOLID FOUNDATION ON WHICH 
WE CAN GROW FOLLOWING THE 
CURRENT DOWNTURN

CUSTOMER INSIGHT

NEED ADDITIONAL TONNES? SHORT 
LEAD TIME? NO PROBLEM.
A major copper producer in Northern Chile needed to make up 6 million 
tonnes in 4 months to achieve their financial goals for the project.  
To do this, the mine needed to blend different ore types from a  
variety of locations within the mine. 

OUR SOLUTION
Emeco mobilised approximately USD60 million of equipment to site from 
three locations in Northern Chile within 25 days of being awarded the 
contract. 28 Emeco maintenance personnel, tooling, radial tyres and 
semi-permanent workshop infrastructure was also provided to ensure 
mechanical availability targets were met.
The 240 tonne load and haul fleet exceeded performance expectations 
allowing the customer to meet their project goals. Emeco’s contract was 
then extended and increased to support twice the original tonnage.

3 x 20m3 WHEEL LOADERS

14 x 240 TONNE RIGID DUMP TRUCKS

EQUIPMENT MIX
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Better prepared  
to deliver

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

MANAGING THE BUSINESS DURING 
CHALLENGING TIMES
Coming off a period of strong mining 
activity in FY12, the operating landscape 
for Emeco changed rapidly across 
our key regions during FY13. Lower 
commodity prices, the high value of the 
Australian dollar and a consequential 
change in objectives of the global 
miners led to a rapid decline in mining 
activity. Over the past 12 months 
Emeco’s operating return on capital fell 
from 13.2% at 30 June 2012 to 7.1% at 
30 June 2013. The Company delivered 
Operating NPAT of $35.2 million in FY13, 
down from $71.1 million in FY12.

The Australian and Indonesian 
businesses were both adversely 
impacted by the reduced activity in 
mining industries in those markets. 
Flowing on from FY12, both businesses 
started FY13 in a strong position 
however the end of key contracts during 
the second quarter, without extension 
to new terms, adversely impacted 
earnings. Off-rent fleet remained idle for 
extended periods through the second 
half due to low levels of activity and 
a strong focus on operating costs by 
customers. Managing idle fleet is a 
key focus for Emeco in FY14 with the 
business working closely with customers 
to meet their equipment needs.

Our customer mix strategy in Canada 
has increased exposure to oil companies, 
indigenous contractors and coal miners, 
improving utilisation over the FY12/13 
summer and FY13 winter periods.+ The 
business is now supported by a range 
of high quality customers. Investment 
in building our external maintenance 
services capability over FY13 will 
generate non-capital intensive revenue 
streams as we move into FY14.

FURTHER READING PAGE 20

I am pleased to report that our 
expansion into Chile was a success 
with the Chilean business contributing 
positive returns during its first year of 
operation in FY13. The team in Chile 
has done an exceptional job in winning 
work and demonstrating to customers 
that Emeco can add value to their 
operations.+

FURTHER READING PAGE 22

CONTINUING TO BUILD ON  
OUR SUCCESSES
Having successfully completed our 
expansion into Chile, the business is 
concentrating on identifying markets 
with strong long term growth 
potential. Our goal of diversifying the 
earnings base across geographies 
and commodities will focus on 
developing mining industries in 
areas including, but not limited to, 
the broader Latin America region. 

Our expansion into Chile was founded 
on developing our strong relationship 
with local contractors and major mining 
companies who know the benefits of 
the Emeco offering. Our high quality 
assets and strong maintenance 
support is valued by customers globally, 
providing us a strong brand on which 
to build our diversification strategy.

This strategic initiative is enhanced 
by the appointment of Ian Testrow, 
formerly President of Emeco’s Americas 
business, to the Position of President, 
New and Developing Businesses.

POSITIONING THE BUSINESS FOR 
FUTURE RECOVERY
Global utilisation has declined 
significantly over FY13 averaging 66%, 
down from an FY12 average of 86%. 
Essential to the recovery of our business 
is a targeted approach to idle fleet 
management with Emeco assessing all 
avenues to return value from assets. 
Over FY13 the business realised 
value from identifying equipment 
redeployment opportunities with our 
existing operations transferring  
$37.8 million to Chile and releasing 
capital via asset disposals of  
$49.8 million.+ Moving into FY14  
Emeco continues to consider 

CHALLENGING OPERATING 
ENVIRONMENT CONTRIBUTING 
TO LOWER RETURNS

SUCCESSFUL EXPANSION INTO 
CHILE EXECUTED IN FY13

FOCUS ON GENERATING 
CASH FLOW AND 
MAINTAINING BALANCE 
SHEET FLEXIBILITY IN FY14

HAVING SUCCESSFULLY 
COMPLETED OUR EXPANSION 
INTO CHILE, THE BUSINESS 
IS CONCENTRATING ON 
IDENTIFYING MARKETS  
WITH STRONG LONG TERM 
GROWTH POTENTIAL

KEITH GORDON



 

opportunities to redeploy idle  
fleet with this the first consideration 
when entering new markets.  
In addition, the Company is  
collaborating with customers by  
offering a range of rental and sales 
solutions which fit their business 
strategy and equipment needs. 

FURTHER READING PAGE 17

An ongoing feature of the Emeco 
business is our disciplined approach 
to cash flow and capital management. 
During FY13 Emeco further 
strengthened its balance sheet by 
refinancing its senior debt facility 
thereby increasing average debt 
maturity profile to 4.9 years.  

Given the challenging environment in 
which Emeco currently operates it is 
critical for the business to focus on cash 
flow and reducing debt levels. 

THE YEAR AHEAD
The rapid decline in the global 
commodities cycle has changed 
the landscape for many resources 
companies and mining services 
suppliers. Emeco is no different. We have 
two key areas of focus over the next 
12 months. Firstly, we need to continue 
to work closely with our customers 
in our current markets and continue 
to seek organic growth opportunities 
consistent with our business strategy 
in new markets. In this environment, 
customers are cautious with capital and 
are very focused on lowering costs and 
improving operational productivity. This 
may create opportunities for Emeco to 
support customers through tailoring 
solutions, whether it be dry hire rental, 
rent to buy or asset sales.

Secondly, we need to remain vigilant 
with regard to cash flow, balance sheet 

and gearing. The volatile environment 
we have been experiencing will continue 
to pose challenges for our business 
and maintaining financial discipline 
through these times will be critical in 
ensuring that when the mining industry 
recovers from the current slump, Emeco 
is well positioned to meet the needs 
of its customers and deliver greater 
shareholder returns.

KEITH GORDON
MANAGING DIRECTOR  
& CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

WE NEED TO CONTINUE TO  
WORK CLOSELY WITH OUR 
CUSTOMERS IN OUR CURRENT 
MARKETS AND CONTINUE 
TO SEEK ORGANIC GROWTH 
OPPORTUNITIES CONSISTENT 
WITH OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY 
IN NEW MARKETS

CUSTOMER INSIGHT

LARGE FLEET, SHORT LEAD TIME, 
MAINTENANCE SUPPORT? NO PROBLEM.
An Australian mining contractor won a large project with a leading  
iron ore miner. However, the size and range of equipment required  
was outside of their own fleet and maintenance capability.

OUR SOLUTION
Emeco assisted the contractor from the tender stage by advising on 
a number of maintained dry rental options to best meet the iron ore 
producer’s project needs. 

This partnership approach meant the Emeco team clearly understood 
the timeframes and critical success factors of the project and were 
able to ensure that the fleet commenced work as planned, performed 
reliably and the project was completed safely and on time.

Emeco’s world-class people and equipment management processes 
enabled the successful mobilisation of 21 machines, 24 employees and  
over AUD19.5 million of employed capital within a month of project award.

4 X 100 TONNE RIGID DUMP TRUCKS

6 x 240 TONNE RIGID DUMP TRUCKS

EQUIPMENT MIX
1 x 360 TONNE EXCAVATOR

1 x 180 TONNE EXCAVATOR

3 x D10 DOZERS

3 x WATER CARTS

1 x SERVICE TRUCK

2 x R0LLERS
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Better qualified  
with leadership

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

KEITH GORDON
BSc (Agric) Hons, MBA, MAICD

ROBERT BISHOP
BSc, MSc Eng, FAICD, MIEAust, 
MIET(UK)

JOHN CAHILL
BBus, Grad Dip Bus, FCPA, GAICD

CHAIRMAN & INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR

MANAGING DIRECTOR INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR

ALEC BRENNAN, AM
AM, BSc Hons, MBA, FAICD
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FURTHER READING
Full Board member biographies can be viewed  

on pages 38 and 39 in the Director’s Report.

ERICA SMYTH
MSc, FAICD, FTSE

PETER RICHARDS
B. Com

MICHAEL KIRKPATRICK
BA, BEc, LLB (Hons)

INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR

COMPANY SECRETARY 
& GENERAL MANAGER 
CORPORATE SERVICES

STEPHEN GOBBY
BCom, GAICD, CA

CHIEF FINANCIAL  
OFFICER
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EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM

KEITH GORDON

MANAGING DIRECTOR

Keith Gordon was appointed as Managing 
Director of Emeco Holdings Limited in 
December 2009. 

Keith has brought to Emeco senior 
leadership skills and experience gained 
through an extensive career in the 
industrials sector. Keith joined Emeco after 
a decade with Wesfarmers Limited where 
he held a number of senior roles and 
was heavily involved in major corporate 
transactions. 

Keith has a strong record of achieving 
value-creating growth through innovation 
and disciplined strategies. Keith has been 
a director of EDGE Employment Solutions 
since 2009.

Stephen joined Emeco in March 2008, 
bringing extensive financial and commercial 
business experience to the team. Stephen 
worked for KPMG in Australia and Canada, 
specialising in the energy and resources 
sector and working with a range of large 
Australian and multi-national organisations. 

Prior to joining Emeco, Stephen spent 
a number of years in the corporate 
finance group of ASX listed Alinta Limited, 
undertaking the assessment, funding and 
structuring activities for various corporate 
transactions. Stephen was later appointed 
as Chief Financial Officer of Alinta 
Infrastructure Holdings, a separately listed 
ASX 200 Company. At Emeco, Stephen 
holds responsibility for the Company’s 
finance, treasury, strategy, business 
improvement, risk management and  
IT functions.

STEPHEN GOBBY

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Prior to joining Emeco, Michael was a 
corporate lawyer with several Australian 
law firms and the Legal Counsel and 
Company Secretary of a large industry 
superannuation fund. 

Michael is admitted to practice as a 
barrister and solicitor of the Supreme 
Court of Western Australia and in his 
capacity as General Manager Corporate 
Services for Emeco, Michael is responsible 
for the Company’s in-house legal counsel, 
global human resources and corporate 
affairs functions.

MICHAEL KIRKPATRICK

COMPANY SECRETARY & GENERAL 
MANAGER CORPORATE SERVICES

EMECO HOLD INGS L IM ITED   ANNUAL REPORT 201312
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Ian joined Emeco in October 2005 and has 
over 20 years of experience in the mining 
and civil sectors. Upon joining Emeco, Ian 
was the Queensland State Manager, then 
became General Manager Northern Region. 

In April 2009 Ian relocated to Canada 
to take on the position of President, 
Americas, to establish and lead Emeco’s 
Canadian and Chilean operations. In 2013, 
Ian was appointed to his current role of 
President, New & Developing Business.

IAN TESTROW

PRESIDENT, NEW &  
DEVELOPING BUSINESS

Tony joined Emeco in September 2006  
and has held a number of roles within  
the Australian business including his time 
as Asset Manager, New South Wales  
State Manager and General Manager 
Northern Region.

Prior to joining Emeco, Tony held 
senior management positions and was 
responsible for product support and sales 
with the New South Wales Caterpillar 
dealer. In 2010 Tony relocated with Emeco 
to Perth to embark on his current role as 
General Manager Australian Rental. Tony 
and his team work with customers across 
all mining regions of Australia to provide 
flexible equipment and maintenance 
solutions in support of their mining needs.

TONY HALLS

GENERAL MANAGER,  
AUSTRALIAN RENTAL

Grant joined Emeco in 2009 in the role 
of State Manager New South Wales and 
in 2011 relocated to Perth to take on 
responsibility for Emeco’s West and  
South Australian operations. 

In 2013 Grant was appointed to the 
role of General Manager, Global Asset 
Management. In this role Grant and his 
team are responsible for developing and 
managing asset systems and programs, 
capital management, asset selection, 
procurement and disposals across  
Emeco’s global operations. 

Prior to joining Emeco Grant worked in 
Ernst & Young’s Transaction Advisory 
practice where he specialised in 
operational transaction integration. 
Grant has also brought mining and heavy 
equipment experience with him to Emeco, 
gained during his time working in product 
support management with Caterpillar 
dealers in Australia and Indonesia.

GRANT STUBBS

GENERAL MANAGER,  
GLOBAL ASSET MANAGEMENT

13BET TER EQU IPPED
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Better equipped  
for growth

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Emeco Group supplies safe, reliable 
and maintained equipment rental 
solutions to the global mining industry. 
Established in 1972 the business 
listed on the ASX in July 2006 and 
is headquartered in Perth, Western 
Australia. Emeco currently employs 
633 permanent and fixed term staff 

and owns 813 pieces of earthmoving 
equipment across Australia, Indonesia, 
Canada and Chile. 

Emeco generates earnings from two 
primary revenue streams, dry equipment 
rental and maintenance services. 
Operating costs principally comprise 

parts, labour and tooling associated  
with maintaining earthmoving 
equipment. Capital expenditure 
principally comprises the original 
purchase of equipment and replacement 
of major components over the asset’s 
life cycle while owned by Emeco.

OPERATING RESULTS STATUTORY RESULTS
A$ MILLIONS FY13 FY12 VAR % FY13 FY12 VAR %
Revenue 439.7 565.2  (22.2%) 439.7 565.2  (22.2%)
EBITDA 188.3 261.7  (28.0%) 175.4 260.5  (32.7%)
EBIT 75.6 126.0  (40.0%) 44.9 124.8  (64.0%)
NPAT 35.2 71.1  (50.5%) 6.0 70.0  (91.4%)
ROC % 7.1% 13.2%  4.2% 13.0%  
EBIT margin 17.2% 22.3% 10.2% 22.1%
EBITDA margin 42.8% 46.3%  39.9% 46.1%  

TABLE 1: GROUP FINANCIAL RESULTS

CHART 1: REVENUE BY REGION CHART 2: REVENUE BY COMMODITY CHART 3: FLEET COMPOSITION  
BY ASSET CLASS
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Note: Above analysis relates to  
12 month period to 30 June 2013

Note:
1.	� Significant items have been excluded from the statutory result to aid the comparability and usefulness of the financial information. This adjusted information (Operating Results) 

enables users to better understand the underlying financial performance of the business in the current period.
2.	 FY12 statutory results exclude discontinued operations.
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Note: RECONCILIATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN OPERATING AND STATUTORY RESULTS:
1.	 FY13 Operating Results (non-IFRS) excludes the following: 

•	 �Tangible asset impairments outside the ordinary course of business totalling $10.5 million across Sales inventory, Parts inventory and Property impacting EBITDA, EBIT  
and NPAT (Tangible asset impairments incurred through ordinary course of business totalling $1.6 million were recognised during FY13, refer to Note 8 in the financial 
statements);

•	 Intangible asset impairments of $17.8 million in the Indonesian business segment impacting EBIT and NPAT;
•	 One-off costs related to redundancies in the Australian business segment totalling $1.7 million impacting EBITDA, EBIT and NPAT;
•	 Bad debt write-offs in Indonesia relating to prior years of $0.7 million impacting EBITDA, EBIT and NPAT;
•	 Write-off of debt establishment costs related to previous debt facility totalling $1.9 million impacting NPAT.

2.	 All reconciling items relating to FY13 Operating Results are discussed in further detail later in the Operating and Financial Review.
3.	 FY12 Operating Results (non-IFRS) excludes an expense of $1.2 million, impacting EBITDA, EBIT and NPAT in the Australian business segment, which relates to unpaid employee 

superannuation from FY07 to FY11 arising from a payroll system error identified during an internal payroll systems review which has now been rectified. Also excluded from the 
FY12 Operating NPAT is the loss from discontinued operations of $0.2 million.

TABLE 2: FY13 OPERATING RESULTS TO STATUTORY RESULTS RECONCILIATION

A$ MILLIONS

TANGIBLE 
ASSET 

IMPAIRMENTS

INTANGIBLE 
ASSET 

IMPAIRMENTS REDUNDANCY
BAD DEBT 

WRITE-OFF

DEBT 
ESTABLISHMENT 

COSTS  
WRITE-OFF TAX EFFECT NPAT

Operating       35.2 

Australia (10.5)  (1.7)  (0.7) 3.0 (9.9)

Canada     (1.0) 0.2 (0.8)

Indonesia  (17.8)  (0.7) (0.2) 0.2 (18.5)

Statutory (10.5) (17.8) (1.7) (0.7) (1.9) 3.4 6.0 

Note: Utilisation defined as % of fleet rented to customers (measured by written down value)

MARKET SHIFTS IMPACTING 
OPERATING AND FINANICAL 
PERFORMANCE
Following a strong financial performance 
in FY12, the last twelve months has 
seen a change in Emeco’s key markets 
which has adversely impacted earnings 
and returns. Non-renewal of several 
significant contracts in Australia and 
contract terminations in Indonesia 
during FY13 resulted in average global 
utilisation falling to 67%, down from 86% 
in FY12 (see chart below). Underlying this 
trend was a rapid decline in utilisation 
across Australia and Indonesia in early 
2H13 which was partially offset by 
strong performance in Canada and the 
successful expansion into Chile, which 
contributed positive earnings in its first 
year of operation. 

Group operating revenue reduced by 
22.2% to $439.7 million, down from 
$565.2 million in FY12. Rental and 
Maintenance revenue was down 17.3%  
to $412.2 million (2012: $498.5m) due to 
a general reduction in industry activity 
and customers focusing on reducing 
operating costs resulting in lower 

utilisation and pricing in Australia and 
Indonesia. Sales and Parts revenue also 
reduced by 58.7% to $27.5 million (2012: 
$66.7m) as the Group downsized these 
businesses in line with previous 
announcements regarding its strategy. 

Operating EBITDA and Operating EBIT 
margins in FY13 were 42.8% (FY12: 
46.3%) and 17.2% (FY12: 22.3%) 
respectively. Margins were impacted  
in FY13 through a combination of lower 
rental rates, and the impact of fixed 
overheads and idle fleet depreciation 
expense being applied across less 
utilised fleet with a corresponding 
reduced revenue base.

Operating return on capital (ROC) 
declined to 7.1% in FY13, down from  
13.2% in FY12 primarily through lower 
utilisation of the rental fleet.

FURTHER READING ON REGIONAL 
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE PAGE 19

CHART 4: FY13 AVERAGE GROUP UTILISATION
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FOLLOWING A STRONG FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE IN FY12, THE 
LAST TWELVE MONTHS HAS 
SEEN A CHANGE IN EMECO’S KEY 
MARKETS WHICH HAS ADVERSELY 
IMPACTED EARNINGS  
AND RETURNS

2013 2012
Average 67% 86% 

Year-end 50% 80%
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REDUCING COSTS IN RESPONSE TO 
LOWER OPERATING AND FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE
FY13 operating expenses declined 13.2% 
to $264.3 million from $304.6 million in 
FY12. The decline in operating expenses 
was driven by reduced utilisation 
and cost saving initiatives across the 
business. Repairs and maintenance 
expense, which primarily comprises 
parts and maintenance labour, was 
down 21.2% in line with lower Rental and 
Maintenance Revenue. As a result, the 
Group reduced parts purchasing and 
scaled down the maintenance labour 
workforce in Australia and Indonesia. 
Redundancies were initiated in both 
maintenance and support roles in 
Australia and Indonesia resulting in 
one-off costs totalling $1.7 million. As 
the majority of redundancies were made 
during the second half of FY13 the full 
impact of costs savings will not be 
realised until FY14.

Net other expenses increased 93.9% 
to $57.2 million in FY13. The increase is 
primarily attributable to doubtful debt 

expense of $13.1 million and impairment 
of tangible assets totalling $12.1 million. 
Excluding these two items, net other 
expenses decreased 16.9% in FY13. Refer 
to note 8 in the financial statements 
for further breakdown of net other 
expenses.+

FURTHER READING PAGE 89

Depreciation as a percentage of rental 
and maintenance services revenue 
remained flat at 27.3% in FY13. Although 
depreciation reduces in line with 
utilisation, Emeco continues to recognise 
minimum depreciation per month on 
equipment which has been idle for a 
period greater than 3 months. Given 
the rapid decline in utilisation in late 
1H13, margins were adversely impacted 
in 2H13 by the additional depreciation 
expense with no corresponding revenue. 

Changes in machinery and parts 
inventory was down 58.0% which 
totalled $29.0 million in FY13 as a result 
of the strategic decision in FY10 to wind 
down the Used Equipment Sales and 
Used Parts businesses over time.

ASSET WRITE-DOWNS AND 
GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT
Inventories were written down by 
$8.7 million in FY13 (FY12: $2.8 million) 
to reflect net realisable value (NRV), 
comprising the following: 

•	 $6.7 million – as part of the strategy 
to finalise the exit from the Australia 
Used Parts business, remaining 
inventory was impaired to reflect a 
rapid disposal plan;

•	 $1.2 million – the residual inventory 
remaining in the Australia Used 
Equipment Sales business, comprising 
a small number of non-core 
construction sized equipment which 
were impaired to reflect an expedient 
disposal;

•	 $0.8 million - Represents stock 
write-downs on tyres and rental 
parts inventory transferred out of 
fixed assets and into inventory during 
FY13 that were subsequently sold.

TABLE 4: ASSET IMPAIRMENTS (STATUTORY RESULTS)

A$ MILLIONS 2013 2012
Impairment loss on inventory 8.7 2.8 

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON PPE   

Freehold land & buildings 3.0 – 

Plant & equipment 0.4 0.2 

Impairment of goodwill 17.8 – 

TABLE 3: OPERATING COST SUMMARY (STATUTORY RESULTS)

A$ MILLIONS 2013 2012
REVENUE 439.7 565.2 

OPERATING EXPENSES   

Changes in machinery and parts inventory (29.0) (68.9)

Repairs & maintenance (122.2) (155.1)

Employee expenses (48.1) (47.9)

Hired in equipment & labour (7.8) (3.2)

Impairment of tangible assets (12.1) (1.5)

Doubtful debts / reversal (13.1) 10.3 

Net other expenses (31.9) (38.4)

EBITDA 175.4 260.5 

Impairment of goodwill (17.8) – 

Depreciation expense (112.5) (135.5)

Amortisation (0.2) (0.2)

EBIT 44.9 124.8 
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Impairment loss on property, plant and 
equipment relates to:

•	 Emeco is undertaking a sale and 
leaseback of a major workshop 
facility. Based on indicative market 
valuations, the property has been 
impaired by $3.0 million, representing 
a reduction in written down value to 
market value;

•	 Rental machine impairments of $0.4 
million related to the sale of rental 
assets at market value.

Based on the Group’s annual impairment 
testing, the Indonesian business 
segment goodwill of $17.8 million was 
fully impaired at 30 June 2013. The 
goodwill impairment was the result 
of a sharp decline in earnings over 
the past 12 months and uncertainty 
reflected in the expected recovery of 
future business performance. Refer to 
note 21 in the accompanying financial 
statements for additional information.

CASHFLOW GENERATION A  
KEY FOCUS
Operating cash flow was down 22.9%  
to $173.8 million in FY13 largely due 
to lower EBITDA as a result of lower 
utilisation and rental rates. 

During 1H13 Emeco continued to invest 
in establishing the Chilean business 
and completed previously committed 
plans for sustaining capital expenditure 
across the business. In response to 
a rapid contraction in market activity 
mid-way through the year in Australia 
and Indonesia, the business ceased 
growth capital expenditure and reduced 
sustaining capital expenditure to the 
minimum required for maintaining 
operating fleet during the second half. 
Emeco intends to maintain minimum 
capital expenditure levels in FY14 given 
ongoing low utilisation levels in Australia 
and Indonesia. 

Cash flows from asset disposals totalled 
$49.8 million in FY13, which included the 

sale of one equipment package for  
$23.0 million to a large mining customer 
in Australia. Emeco provided the 
customer an alternative which involved 
purchasing high quality early life assets 
rather than higher priced new equipment. 
This is an example of Emeco tailoring a 
solution for a customer which realised 
value from our idle assets. Emeco 
continues to assess other opportunities 
where we can provide customers with an 
alternative solution which may not have 
been previously considered. 

The combination of strong underlying 
operating cash flows and the highly 
discretionary nature of future capital 

EMECO INTENDS TO  
MAINTAIN MINIMUM CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURE LEVELS IN 
FY14 GIVEN ONGOING LOW 
UTILISATION LEVELS IN 
AUSTRALIA AND  
INDONESIA

TABLE 5: CASH FLOW SUMMARY

A$ MILLIONS 2013 2012
OPERATING CASH FLOW  173.8  225.5 

Sustaining capital expenditure (71.8) (127.1)

Other property, plant & equipment (16.9) (19.5)

Disposals  49.8  35.2 

Free cash flow post sustaining capital expenditure  134.9  114 .1 

Growth capital expenditure (90.2) (170.4)

Free cash flow post growth capital expenditure  44.7 (56 .3)

Dividends (37.1) (34.7)

Share buy-back (16 .9)  – 

Free cash flow post shareholder returns (9.3) (91 .0)

TABLE 6: NET DEBT & GEARING SUMMARY

 A$ MILLIONS 2013 2012
INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES (CURRENT & NON-CURRENT)   

Senior debt facilities  252.7  302.0 

USPP notes  149.6  141.8 

Working capital facility  5.3  – 

Lease liabilities  12.4  15.7 

Other  0.5  – 

Cash  5.8  73.1 

NET DEBT  414.7  386.4 

Gearing ratio  2.15  1.48 

Loan to value ratio 48.1% 41.7%

Interest cover ratio  7.72  11.38 

Note: Gearing ratio - Net Debt : Operating EBITDA < 3.0x, Loan to value ratio - Net Debt : Net Realisable Value < 80%. Interest cover ratio - Operating EBITDA : Interest Expense > 4.0x
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investment provides Emeco with 
flexibility to expand or contract its 
balance sheet and gearing in light 
of prevailing market conditions. This 
flexibility is a key asset of the business 
and is expected to help Emeco maintain 
positive cash flows into FY14. 

GEARING IMPACTED BY 
DEPRECIATION OF AUSTRALIAN 
DOLLAR
The Group’s net debt increased $28.3 
million to $414.7 million at 30 June 
2013. The increase was a combination 
of a $19.0 million increase from the 
translation impact of the recent AUD 
devaluation on net debt (AUD:USD 
reduced from $1.017 at 30 June 2012 
to $0.927 at 30 June 2013, source: 
Westpac) and a $9.3 million increase 
in underlying debt on a cash basis. 
Following a period of investment in 
FY12 and early FY13, net debt peaked at 
$455.1 million in December 2012 before 
reducing significantly over 2H13 due to 
a reduction in capital expenditure and 
working capital release. 

In response to exchange rate 
movements, the Group rebalanced 
its currency mix of debt by reducing 
Canadian and US dollar debt and 
increasing Australian dollar debt, 
thereby reducing Emeco’s exposure 
to foreign currency translation risk of 
the Group debt. As at 30 June 2013 
Emeco’s foreign currency denominated 
debt balance comprised C$83 million 
and US$155 million (FY12: C$216 million, 
US$155 million).

Emeco refinanced its senior secured 
syndicated loan facility on 28 September 

2012. Retaining a $450 million limit, the 
debt facility comprises a three year 
$200 million, a four year $125 million and 
a five year $125 million revolving multi-
currency facility of AUD, USD and CAD.

Emeco’s senior debt facility and  
USPP notes comprises three  
financial covenants:

•	 Gearing ratio – Total Debt:  
EBITDA < 3.0x

•	 Interest cover ratio – EBITDA:  
Net Interest > 4.0x

•	 Loan-to-Value ratio – Total Debt: 
Tangible Assets < 80%. 

The Company’s key credit ratios have 
reduced headroom due to FY13 lower 
earnings, notwithstanding successful 
reduction in debt through positive 
cash flow. The ratios remain well within 
their limits. Refer to note 24 in the 
accompanying financial statements for 
additional information.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT DELIVERING 
SHAREHOLDER RETURNS
The Board declared and paid a 2.5c 
interim dividend, fully franked and 
declared a nil final dividend for FY13. 
Total FY13 dividends of 2.5c represent  
a payout ratio of 42% (2012: 53%), 
which is in line with Emeco’s policy to 
distribute between 40 – 60% of annual 
Operating NPAT, franked to the fullest 
extent possible. 

As part of its overall capital 
management strategy, the Company 
completed a 5% share buyback during 
1H13 at average price of 53.4c per share.

The Board’s decision not to pay a 
final dividend for FY13 was driven by 

a combination of the current external 
market conditions, the Group’s focus on 
maintaining a strong financial position 
and the level of shareholder returns 
made during FY13.

TARGETED STRATEGIES TO BUILD 
FOR FUTURE GROWTH
As outlined in the Managing Director’s 
Report, Emeco’s strategic focus over 
the next twelve months will be to work 
closely with customers in our existing 
markets to deliver innovative and 
competitive equipment solutions while 
seeking to establish a presence in new 
international markets, which will provide 
an opportunity to redeploy idle fleet and 
provide growth over the medium term. 
At the same time, the Company will 
focus on maintaining financial discipline 
in managing the cash flow and balance 
sheet of the business. Further detail 
on Emeco’s strategy is included in the 
Regional Business Overview starting on 
the following page.

TABLE 7: SHAREHOLDER RETURNS

 2013 2012
DIVIDENDS DECLARED DURING THE PERIOD   

Interim dividend (cents)  2.5  2.5 

Final dividend (cents)  –  3.5 

Total dividend (cents)  2.5  6.0 

Dividend payout ratio 42.5% 53.2%

Value of share buy-back ($ million)  16.5  – 

Average price of share buy-back (cents)  53.4  N/A 

PER SHARE STATISTICS   

Earnings per share (cents)  5.9  11.3 

NTA per share ($)  0.76  0.74 

Closing share price ($)  0.28  0.87 

Note: Dividend payout ratio is measured as dividends paid as a percentage of Operating NPAT. 

EMECO’S STRATEGIC FOCUS  
OVER THE NEXT TWELVE  
MONTHS WILL BE TO WORK 
CLOSELY WITH CUSTOMERS  
IN OUR EXISTING MARKETS  
TO DELIVER INNOVATIVE  
AND COMPETITIVE EQUIPMENT 
SOLUTIONS WHILE SEEKING  
TO ESTABLISH A PRESENCE  
IN NEW INTERNATIONAL 
MARKETS
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CHART 5: RENTAL REVENUE  
BY REGION

CHART 6: EBITDA CONTRIBUTION  
BY REGION

CHART 7: FLEET BY REGION
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CHART 8: AVERAGE FLEET UTILISATION
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Australia
TABLE 8: PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

OPERATING RESULTS
 A$ MILLIONS FY13 FY12 VAR %
Revenue 250.6 383.3  (34.6%)
EBITDA 121.6 215.7  (43.6%)
EBIT 53.4 115.6  (53.8%)
Funds Employed 467.5 508.1  
ROFE % 11.4% 22.7%  
No. workforce 286 580  
LTIFR 6.5 3.1  

Note  
1.	 For a reconciliation of statutory to operating results refer to Table 2 on page 15 and accompanying notes.
2.	 Utilisation defined as % of fleet rented to customers (measured by written down value).
3.	 Australia results in Table 2 represent the Australian Rental segment and do not include the Australian Sales and Parts results.

MAIN MARKETS
Operating across Western Australia, 
Queensland, New South Wales and 
South Australia, the Australian rental 
business is well diversified across bulk 
commodities and metals. The business 
services high quality customers, primarily 
blue-chip miners and large contractors, 
leveraged to the production phase of the 
mining cycle. Rental revenue commodity 

mix is weighted toward thermal coal 
(34%), iron ore (11%), metallurgical coal 
(19%) and metals (30%). 

FY13 PERFORMANCE
FY13 revenue was down 34.3% on the 
prior year due to a combination of falling 
utilisation and price reductions across 
the fleet. Falling commodity prices and a 
focus on operating costs has given rise 

to reviews of future operating plans by 
mining companies, which impacted short 
term earthmoving volumes at existing 
projects and limited new enquiries for 
equipment rental.

The changing market dynamics lead 
global miners to shift focus toward 
controlling costs and improving capital 
efficiency. As a result, Emeco has 
experienced downward pressure on 

Regional business  
overview
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2013 2012
Average 60% 92% 

Year-end 41% 88%
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pricing for equipment, which together 
with the impact of fixed costs over 
lower revenue has reduced FY13 EBITDA 
margins to 48.3% (FY12: 56.2%). EBIT 
margins were also down to 20.7% (FY12: 
30.1%) due to continued depreciation on  
idle fleet. 

FY14 FOCUS AFFECTING FUTURE 
PERFORMANCE
In FY14 Emeco Australia is focussed on 
maintaining market share through 
innovative and competitive solutions that 
meet its customers’ objectives. As part 
of the objective to deliver cost effective 
solutions for its customers, the business 
will focus on cost and productivity 
improvements within the business.

MAIN MARKETS
The Canadian business is strategically 
located in the Alberta region to service 
oil sands and coal projects in Western 
Canada. The business primarily supplies 
rental equipment and external 
maintenance services to oil majors, 
indigenous and non-indigenous 
contractors, and coal miners. Rental 
revenue composition in FY13 was heavily 
weighted toward oil sands (83%) with 
the remainder derived from thermal coal. 

Given current utilisation levels, sustaining 
capital expenditure will be limited to 
major component replacements whereas 
replacement of assets which reach end 
of life will be curtailed until the outlook 
improves. The business will also work 
with other Emeco businesses to identify 
fleet redeployment opportunities or 
where appropriate, dispose of assets 
opportunistically. 

MEDIUM TERM OUTLOOK
Future demand for equipment in the 
Australian mining market will be primarily 
driven by growth in earthmoving volumes. 
The outlook for volume growth remains 
unclear as a result of volatility in 
commodity prices and exchange rates. 

FY13 PERFORMANCE
Revenue increased 40.2% in FY13 with 
strong utilisation across the first three 
quarters of the year driven by an increase 
in direct supply to oil majors, diversification 
into coal and the full year benefit from 
fleet investment in FY12. FY13 revenue  
was also positively impacted by growth  
in external maintenance revenue to  
$3.3 million (FY12: $1.0 million). 

EBITDA margin fell to 49.3% in FY13 
(FY12: 53.4%) due to the larger 

The current oversupply of equipment in 
the Australian market could result in 
continued pressure on rental rates  
until such time as the demand/supply 
dynamic for heavy equipment rebalances. 

contribution from lower margin external 
maintenance services, and increased 
cross-hire of non-core equipment to 
customers which returns a low margin 
but is essential to delivering a complete 
solution. Despite an adverse impact on 
EBITDA margins, these additional 
revenue streams do not incur 
depreciation, resulting in a higher EBIT 
margin in FY13 of 24.8% (FY12: 24.1%).

IN FY14 EMECO AUSTRALIA IS 
FOCUSSED ON MAINTAINING 
MARKET SHARE THROUGH 
INNOVATIVE AND COMPETITIVE 
SOLUTIONS THAT MEET ITS 
CUSTOMERS’ OBJECTIVES

Canada
TABLE 9: PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

OPERATING RESULTS
 A$ MILLIONS FY13 FY12 VAR %
Revenue 94.2 67.2 40.2%
EBITDA 46.5 35.9 29.5%
EBIT 23.4 16.2 44.6%
Funds Employed 214.0 161.5  
ROFE % 10.9% 10.0%  
No. Employees 102 93  
LTIFR 4.1 5.6  

Note 
1.	 For a reconciliation of statutory to operating results refer to Table 2 on page 15 and accompanying notes
2.	 Utilisation defined as % of fleet rented to customers (measured by written down value)

CHART 9: AVERAGE FLEET UTILISATION
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FY14 FOCUS AFFECTING FUTURE 
PERFORMANCE
The business will continue to build on its 
direct supply relationships with the oil 
majors with the primary objective to be 
the preferred rental equipment supplier. 
Recent award of external maintenance 
services contracts with oil sands 
producers will provide a platform to 
further grow this revenue stream in  

MAIN MARKETS
The Indonesian business is positioned 
in an optimal location to service miners 
and contractors in the Kalimantan 
region and in particular, Indonesia’s 
thermal coal and gold mines. 

FY13 PERFORMANCE
The business achieved strong utilisation 
during 1H13 however 2H13 utilisation was 
heavily impacted by the broad based 
downturn in activity in the Indonesian 
thermal coal industry and the loss of two 
major rental contracts. Delays in approvals 
for key projects and lower commodity 
prices impacted activity particularly in 
thermal coal where overburden activity 
was significantly curtailed. 

Midway through FY13 activity halted at 
two significant customers’ operations, 

FY14 and provide further equipment 
rental opportunities. We continue to 
assess opportunities for work outside 
the oil sands to reduce revenue 
seasonality in this business.

The Canadian fleet is currently holding 
higher than optimal unit numbers in 
certain classes. Over FY14 Emeco will 
assess opportunities to divest or 
transfer these assets to other regions.

MEDIUM TERM OUTLOOK
Embodied in the Canada oil sands 
industry is the seasonal nature of  
earth works over a year. While this  
limits visibility on future activity, the 
installed production capacity in long  
life oil sands projects underpins 
significant base load volumes over  
the medium term.

one due to non-payment of invoices 
and the other due to an early contract 
termination, which Emeco is currently 
disputing. These two contract losses 
adversely impacted utilisation by 
approximately 40%. Negotiations are 
continuing with both parties to resolve 
the respective matters. 

Notwithstanding lower utilisation during 
the second half, a larger asset base and 
higher average utilisation across the 12 
months delivered a 43.6% improvement 
in EBIT on FY12, however ROFE was 
slightly lower at 11.6% (2012: 12.8%).

FY14 FOCUS AFFECTING FUTURE 
PERFORMANCE
The business continues to receive 
customer enquiries on rental for new 
and developing mining projects across 

various commodities. However the 
recent loss of its major customer, 
PT Indo Muro Kencana, has placed 
significant financial pressure on the 
business. As a result the business  
will immediately focus on reducing 
its cost base while it reassesses the 
business development opportunities  
in this market.

MEDIUM TERM OUTLOOK
In light of the recent developments in 
the Indonesian business, the Company 
is reviewing the various options for the 
ongoing management and operation of 
this business.

Indonesia
TABLE 10: PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

OPERATING RESULTS
 A$ MILLIONS FY13 FY12 VAR %
Revenue 60.3 49.9 20.8%
EBITDA 28.0 25.2 11.2%
EBIT 14.3 10.0 43.6%
Funds Employed 123.4 77.5  
ROFE % 11.6% 12.8%  
No. Employees 236 356  
LTIFR 0.0 –  

Note 
1.	 For a reconciliation of statutory to operating results refer to Table 2 on page 15 and accompanying notes
2.	 Utilisation defined as % of fleet rented to customers (measured by written down value)

CHART 10: AVERAGE FLEET UTILISATION
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

MAIN MARKETS
Leveraged to the growing copper mining 
region of Antofagasta, Emeco services 
large international and domestic blue-chip 
miners and contractors in Chile.

FY13 PERFORMANCE
Emeco’s expansion into Chile has been a 
success with approximately $100 million 
now invested in this business and 
achieving average utilisation of 86% 
over FY13. Approximately $40 million of 
Chile’s fleet was redeployed from other 
Emeco businesses, demonstrating the 
value of market diversification. Chile 
contributed $6.4 million of EBIT in FY13 
at a 36.8% margin (EBITDA: 63.8%).

FY14 FOCUS AFFECTING FUTURE 
PERFORMANCE
The strategy for FY14 is to continue 
building alliances with contractors and 
increase direct supply to the major 
miners. As part of growing the customer 
base the Chilean team will be looking to 
source equipment internally from other 
Emeco businesses to optimise Group 
utilisation. Having deliberately entered 
the market with low overhead cost to 
reduce risk, with a solid revenue base 
the business will now focus on 
establishing a strong maintenance 
capability to support its customers.

MEDIUM TERM OUTLOOK
The Chilean mining industry maintains 
 a strong cost curve position which is 
expected to underpin activity over the 
medium term. The recent announcement 
of expansions in the copper sector in 
Chile should deliver ongoing growth in 
earthmoving volumes over the medium 
term, however this is subject to broader 
global economic conditions. On the basis 
that volumes continue to grow in this 
market, Emeco is well positioned to 
maintain and grow earnings in this 
business in the medium term.

Chile
TABLE 11: PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

OPERATING RESULTS
 A$ MILLIONS FY13 FY12
Revenue 17.4 N/A
EBITDA 11.1 N/A
EBIT 6.4 N/A
Funds Employed 78.5 N/A
ROFE % 8.2% N/A
No. Employees 8 N/A
LTIFR 0.0 N/A

Note
1.	 For a reconciliation of statutory to operating results refer to Table 2 on page 15 and accompanying notes
2.	 Utilisation defined as % of fleet rented to customers (measured by written down value)

CHART 11: AVERAGE FLEET UTILISATION
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  2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
REVENUE       
Revenue from rental income $’000 370,025 440,299 386,530 302,355 304,380
Revenue from sale of machines and parts $’000 27,533 66,689 62,795 64,328 97,212
Revenue from maintenance services $’000 42,132 58,182 53,170 38,276 42,131
Total $’000 439,690 565,170 502,495 404,959 443,723

PROFIT       
EBITDA $’000 175,441 260,507 215,379 167,685 193,594
EBIT $’000 44,858 124,820 93,206 48,510 99,988
PBIT $’000 16,084 100,406 70,247 25,785 77,380
NPAT from continuing operations $’000 6,004 69,972 49,974 12,300 55,025
Profit/Loss from discontinued operations $’000 - (227) (365) (61,613) (41,756)
Profit for the year $’000 6,004 69,745 49,609 (49,313) 13,269
One-off significant items $’000 (29,243) (1,375) (6,395) (90,456) (44,472)
Operating profit $’000 35,247 71,120 56,004 41,143 57,741
Basic EPS cents 5.9 11.3 8.2 2.0 2.1

BALANCE SHEET       
Total Assets $’000 1,126,022 1,216,116 981,152 1,014,754 1,119,953
Total Liabilities $’000 514,846 575,729 378,918 392,011 437,087
Shareholders Equity $’000 611,176 640,387 602,234 622,743 682,866
Total Debt $’000 415,426 459,484 297,005 305,472 341,669

CASH FLOWS       
Net cash flows from operating activities $’000 181,303 230,467 214,931 147,462 175,435
Net cash flows from investing activities $’000 (129,124) (281,817) (146,088) (107,527) (94,199)
Net cash flows from financing activities $’000 (119,281) 118,958 (68,947) (45,377) (88,204)
Free Cash Flow after repayment/(drawdown) 
of net debt $’000 (67,102) 67,608 (104) (5,442) (6,968)
Free Cash Flow before repayment/(drawdown) 
of net debt $’000 (9,273) (90,958) (17,800) 24,900 45,500 

DIVIDENDS       

Number of ordinary shares at year end ‘000 599,675 631,238 631,238 631,238 631,238
Total Dividends paid in respect to Financial Year $’000 15,109 37,874 63,124 12,625 25,250
Ordinary dividends per share declared cents 2.5 6.0 5.0 2.0 4.0
Special dividends per share declared cents 0.0 0.0 5.0 0.0 0.0

KEY RATIOS       

Average fleet utilisation % 67.0 86.0 85.0 72.0 74.0
EBIT ROC % 7.1 13.2 11.3 8.3 9.4
EBIT ROFE (pre goodwill) % 8.5 15.7 14.0 10.5 11.6
Net Debt to EBITDA x 2.15 1.47 1.38 1.82 1.76
Total Debt to equity % 68.0 71.8 49.3 49.1 50.0

Five Year Financial  
Summary

Financial information as reported in the corresponding financial year and includes operations now discontinued.
1 Includes capex funded via finance lease facilities (excluded from statutory cash flow).

TABLE 12
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Better equipped for 
continuous improvement
TRIFR IMPROVED BY 39%  
IN FY13

DIVERSITY ACTION PLAN 
INITIATIVES IMPLEMENTED 

NATIONAL COMMUNITY 
PARTNERSHIPS ESTABLISHED 
WITH CLONTARF AND 
LIFELINE AUSTRALIA

IMPROVED SUSTAINABILITY
This is the third Sustainability Report 
produced by Emeco and the third 
data capture and reporting process 
we have been through to measure the 
sustainability of our global operations. 

In FY13, there has been a notable shift 
at the local and regional level in relation 
to our performance in the areas of 
safety, people, community  
and environment. We still have work 
to do in each of these areas and, in 
keeping with our value of Continuous 
Improvement, we continue to look for 
ways to improve the sustainability of 
our business. This Sustainability Report 
demonstrates that as our business 
evolves, so too do our behaviours and 
performance in relation to operating 
as a responsible business for our 
stakeholders.

CONSISTENT AND  
REGULAR REPORTING
Our 2013 Sustainability Report has  
once again been developed using 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 
G3 Framework and the principles 
of materiality and completeness to 
determine the information that should 
be included in this Report. 

This Report is self-declared as a C 
level report in accordance with the GRI 
G3 Guidelines and details information 
relating to our performance in the 
areas of safety, people, community and 
environment for the FY13 period. 

We have also set our performance 
targets for the year ahead (see 
table 13) and will continue to provide 
our stakeholders with relevant and 
meaningful information regarding the 
performance of our global operations 
from a sustainability perspective. 

To this end, a major highlight for the 
year has been the development of a 
new monthly sustainability reporting tool 
for the Emeco Board. We have improved 
upon the monthly Health, Safety and 
Environment (HSE) report template of 
the past to capture our safety, people, 
community and environmental data in a 
more structured format which is closely 
aligned to our Annual Sustainability 
Report. We believe that this proactive 
management of our sustainability 
issues and greater sharing of regional 
information will help us achieve our 
objective of ongoing continuous 
improvement. The new tool will also 
streamline our annual reporting by 
collecting relevant data on a regular  
basis throughout the year.



PERFORMANCE AREAS
FY13 PERFORMANCE 
HIGHLIGHTS

FY14 PERFORMANCE  
TARGETS

PEOPLE Safety
FURTHER READING  
PAGE 26 TO 28

•	 TRIFR improved by 39%
•	 Established the Global  

HSE Forum
•	 Increased adoption of  

behaviour-based safety 
approaches

•	 Audit of contractor  
compliance and contractor 
safety management 
improvements conducted

•	 Further reduce injury  
frequency rates

Employee  
Development

FURTHER READING  
PAGE 30

•	 Employee satisfaction  
improved (32% improvement 
since 2010)

•	 Implemented new  
training management  
system to enhance  
recording, analysis and 
management of employee 
training in Australia 

•	 Delivered leadership  
development program  
in Australia and Canada

•	 Establish a Global  
HR Forum

•	 Undertake fourth  
employee culture  
survey

•	 Implement consistent  
on-boarding process for  
new employees across  
the Australian business

Diversity
FURTHER READING  
PAGE 30

•	 Implemented global  
gender diversity  
measurement framework  
in Australia

•	 Implemented initiatives  
from the Diversity Action  
Plan

•	 Analysed gender-based  
results from the 2012  
employee culture survey

•	 Implement gender  
diversity measurement 
framework globally

•	 Implement FY14  
diversity initiatives

COMMUNITY Community Participation
FURTHER READING  
PAGE 31 TO 33

•	 Established two national 
partnerships in Australia

•	 Appointed community 
engagement representatives  
in Australia, Indonesia  
and Canada

•	 Pleasing levels of  
employee involvement  
in community engagement 
activities

•	 Improve regional alignment  
with global community 
engagement strategy 

•	 Increase profile of community 
engagement representatives 

•	 Review existing national 
partnerships agreements  
in Australia

ENVIRONMENT Environmental  
Management

FURTHER READING  
PAGE 34

•	 No reportable  
environmental incidents 

•	 Implemented a number  
of localised environmental 
improvements

•	 Implement consistent  
approach to collecting waste  
and water-related data

•	 Review and improve waste  
water management practices

TABLE 13: SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE AND TARGETS

25BET TER EQU IPPED
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

In FY13, we have identified our key 
stakeholder groups (see table 14) the 
ways in which we engage with each 
and the key topics and concerns of our 
different stakeholders in relation to their 
dealings with Emeco. 
In future years, this will assist us in 
better identifying the matters that are 

People
HEALTH AND SAFETY
Emeco’s Occupational Health & Safety 
Policy is publicly disclosed on our 
website at www.emecogroup.com.  
The Policy is supported by the 
Emeco Safety Health Environmental 
Management System (ESHEMS) and 
monthly reporting to the Executive 
Leadership Team and the Board. 

In FY13 we established a global HSE 
Forum which is dedicated to the sharing 
of HSE information across Emeco’s 
four operating regions and ensuring 
consistency and continuous improvement 
in relation to HSE performance. 

material to Emeco from a sustainability 
perspective as well as the relevant 
GRI indicators for a particular period. 
In some cases this will also help us to 
proactively identify our sustainability 
risks and opportunities. 

Members of the HSE Forum report on 
regional HSE performance regularly to 
the Board through the new monthly 
sustainability report tool+ and participate 
in a quarterly teleconference which 
allows general managers and senior HSE 
advisors from each region to compare 
their experiences and share learnings.

FURTHER READING PAGE 24

In FY13 we enhanced our approach 
to behavioural-based HSE programs 
through the global implementation of 
a Safe Act Observation (SAO) program 
which involved training our Emeco 
leaders (from the Executive Leadership 

Team to frontline supervisors) and is 
supported by Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs). The focus on safe behaviours 
commences each day for our operational 
teams through behaviour-based safety 
programs such as the Positive Attitude 
Safety System (PASS) and pre-shift 
meetings. This is tied to our SAO program 
with positive feedback and opportunities 
for improvement being communicated 
across our global workforce.

STAKEHOLDER GROUP HOW WE ENGAGE TOPICS & CONCERNS (FY13)

EMPLOYEES Face to face, intranet, MD newsletter, 
employee culture survey, inductions, 
performance management process,  
in-house training, community engagement 
activities, pre-start safety and toolbox 
meetings.

•	 Job security
•	 Safety 
•	 Communication
•	 Training and development
•	 Work prioritisation
•	 Workplace satisfaction and  

desired values 
•	 Company performance

CUSTOMERS Face to face through business 
development managers, site managers  
and tender responses.

•	 Safety
•	 Hire terms and conditions
•	 Equipment supply
•	 Equipment performance
•	 Workforce supply

SHAREHOLDERS Investor relations team, annual financial 
performance reporting, annual general 
meeting, annual meetings with proxy 
advisory firms.

•	 Company performance
•	 Value creation
•	 Financial and non-financial  

risk mitigation
•	 Capital management
•	 Corporate governance 

SUPPLIERS Supply related enquiries and  
tender/quote responses.

•	 Supply chain opportunities  
and/or issues

COMMUNITY MEMBERS Community focussed sponsorship  
and partnership activities.

•	 Social impact of operations
•	 Community investment and support

TABLE 14: STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Our stakeholders
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AUSTRALIA
During FY13, we implemented the 
following safety improvements 
across Emeco’s largest operation,  
the Australian business: 

•	 A review of Emeco’s HSE risk 
management approach delivered  
the following: 

-	 Alignment of our HSE Risk Matrix 
with our Enterprise Risk Matrix to 
better integrate HSE risks into the 
group Enterprise Risk Register.

-	 All risk assessments and HSE 
Management Plans (HSEMPs) 
for each state and site within the 
Australian business were reviewed 
and updated.

-	 To complement the HSEMPs, the 
development of several hundred 
Safe Work Method Statements 
was prioritised, providing a 
step-by-step procedure for each 
regular task and outlining the 
hazards and controls associated 
with each task.

•	 An audit of contractor compliance 
was carried out, including a review 
of the type of contractor services 
provided. Strategies and processes 
were developed to improve risk 
management in the areas of HSE, 
human resources, legal, commercial 
and procurement. Further 
improvements are planned for FY14. 

•	 All employees and contractors 
now receive hazard/risk booklets 
containing HSE information 
and reporting forms at their 
induction, improving our hazard 
reporting process and in-field 
risk management tools.

•	 A number of high risk activities 
were identified including tagging 
and isolations, working at heights, 
tyre/rim handling and management. 
Fifteen Core Risk Control Protocols 
are currently being developed to 
better manage safety in relation to 
the identified risk activities. 

•	 Following the incorporation of 
safety training into Emeco’s broader 
training framework, a new training 
management and reporting database 
is being implemented which will 
improve the management of HSE 
and training information.+ The new 
database will track all training 
requirements (safety or otherwise) of 
each individual Australian employee 
and critical HSE/Licence to Operate 
training of contractor personnel.

FURTHER READING PAGE 30

•	 Child and baby first aid training 
was provided free of charge for 
employees and their family members 
at our Osborne Park, Guildford, 
Mackay and Rutherford sites. 

In FY14, we will focus on enhancing PASS 
leadership by providing coaching and 
support to all levels of management within 
the Australian business. We also aim to 
better utilise PASS meetings to address  
a number of other HSE improvements 
including HSE lead indicators, SAOs, risk 
assessments and training. 

CANADA
In May 2013, the Canadian team also 
implemented a behaviour-based safety 
program consisting of the following:

•	 Job safety observation and 
management observations to 
recognise strong safety performance, 
establish two-way communication 
and to provide safety improvement 
opportunities for all employees.

•	 Take 5’s which engage all 
administrative staff, management 
and supervisors to stop and think 
though various tasks before 
commencing the activity, helping to 
proactively identify potential hazards. 

•	 Hazard assessments:
-	 Stop & Think allows the worker 

to verify that all required actions 
have been thoroughly considered 
and addressed with before they 
begin a task.

-	 Last Minute Risk Assessment 
used during a task to assist in 
identifying any new conditions 
such as scope of work, 
unexpected events, weather 
conditions and additional people. 
With every change in condition, 
hazards must be identified and 
controls put in place.

•	 New Worker Mentorship Program 
ensures that new employees 
are provided with the necessary 
knowledge, familiarity and skills to 
perform their job in a safe manner 
and in accordance with Emeco’s 
standards. This program also aims 
to ensure that new employees have 
a full support system to assist them 
in adjusting to their new position 
and role with the Company.

In addition, formal job hazard 
assessments are being created for all 
positions within the Canadian business. 
This began with the high safety sensitive 
positions (such as welders) and has been 
rolled out to the maintenance team.

In FY14, the Canadian business will 
review and continue to monitor the 
implementation and adoption of this 
new behaviour-based safety approach 
across the region.

CHILE
Since the delivery of our first fleet in 
July 2012, the Chilean business has 
focussed on providing a safe work 
environment for our employees and 
sub-contractors and is proud to have 
completed its first year of operation 
injury free. During the year the team 
focussed on:

•	 Translating and implementing 
Emeco’s global safety policy and 
procedures.

•	 Subcontractor pre-qualification  
and the use of safety management 
systems including JHA, Take 5 and 
daily meetings.

•	 Delivering pre-qualification and 
ongoing reporting requirements  
to governing bodies. 

•	 Complying with mine owner 
regulations and procedures for  
both tender processes and 
throughout rental contracts.

INDONESIA
The knowledge and awareness of safe 
work practices was increased during 
the period through the provision of 
HSE training for new and existing 
employees. As in all other regions, pre-
work meetings are now being held at 
the commencement of each work shift 
in Indonesia and monthly inspection 
programs are also being conducted at 
each site which is an improvement since 
prior reporting periods.

STRATEGIES AND PROCESSES 
WERE DEVELOPED TO IMPROVE 
RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE 
AREAS OF HSE, HUMAN 
RESOURCES, LEGAL, COMMERCIAL 
AND PROCUREMENT. FURTHER 
IMPROVEMENTS ARE PLANNED 
FOR FY14

Improving safety behaviours
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TABLE 15: FY13 SAFETY PERFORMANCE MEASURES BY REGION

REGION TRIFRA LTIFRB DIFRC MTIFRD 

Australia 20.5 6.5 10.8 3.2

Canada 8.3 4.1 0 4.1

Chile 0 0 0 0

Indonesia 0 0 0 0

Emeco Group 10.6 3.5 5.0 2.0

TABLE 16: 5 YEAR LTIFR PERFORMANCE

LTIFR FY13 FY12 FY11 FY10 FY09

Emeco Group 3.5 1.7E 2.4 3.4 12.8

TABLE 17: 3 YEAR TRIFR PERFORMANCE

TRIFR FY13 FY12 FY11*

Emeco Group 10.6 17.4 12.4

Safety performance

During the period, Emeco’s global 
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 
(LTIFR) increased to 3.5 due to a 
number of lost time injuries sustained 
within our Australian and Canadian 
businesses. However, other safety 
indicators including Total Reportable 
Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) and 
Medical Treatment Injury Frequency 
Rate (MTIFR) reflected an overall 
improvement in safety performance 
throughout FY13 (see table 15).

Our Chilean and Indonesian operations 
recorded zero incident rates across all 
of our safety indicators. 

No fatalities were recorded and there 
were no lost days due to work-related 
illness.

Looking back on our safety performance 
over the past five years, there has 
been a definite improvement across 
the business. We expect ongoing 
improvement as the new HSE Forum 

picks up momentum and as the 
ESHEMS and associated initiatives for 
safe systems, safe equipment and safe 
people are implemented.

A Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate
B Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
C Disabling Injury Frequency Rate
D Medical Treatment Injury Frequency Rate
E �In the 2012 Annual Report we reported that our LTIFR for FY12 was 2.2. This was incorrect and the error was identified through the injury reclassification and HSE data audit carried out 
in early FY13.

Sudden Cardiac Arrest (SCA) is the 
leading cause of death in Australia 
with deaths from SCA being estimated 
in excess of 20,000 each year. SCA 
occurs when the electrical system of 
the heart malfunctions and causes 
irregular heart rhythm and or cardiac 
arrest. Victims can face irreversible 
damage in just four to six minutes 
after experiencing cardiac arrest.

Automated External Defibrillators (AEDs) 
are the only known device that can help 
restore the heart to its natural rhythm. 

AEDs are portable and virtually anyone 
can use an AED to save a life. Emeco 
provided training in advanced first aid 
and resuscitation during FY13  
and installed AEDs at all Australian 
branch locations. 

Emeco also joined the St John 
Ambulance ‘Community First Responder’ 
Program in Western Australia which 
provides a direct link between Emeco 
AED locations, St John Ambulance  
and the triple zero (000) call centre. 

Our AEDs and our trained first aiders 
are available to assist in the community 
and can be called to provide assistance 
to any SCA that occurs within proximity 
of an Emeco branch or office. 

OUR COMMUNITIES

AED AND ST JOHN COMMUNITY FIRST  
RESPONDER PROGRAM

* Emeco commenced reporting TRIFR in FY11.
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The greatest difference in the FY13 
reporting period compared to prior 
reporting periods relates to the 
establishment of our operations  
in Chile. This has added further 
geographical and cultural diversification 
to our business. We remain focused 
on building supportive and culturally 
sensitive workplaces which empower 
Emeco people to achieve and which 
reflect the broader diversity of the 
communities in which we operate.

A CLEAR PEOPLE STRATEGY
Empowering Emeco people to achieve 
and succeed in their roles remains  
the ultimate goal of our Empower 
people strategy. 

Over the period, employee development 
and diversity were the two main 
Empower workstreams focussed  
on at a global level. 

LISTENING TO OUR PEOPLE
In August 2012, we conducted our 
third annual employee culture survey 
which relates to employee satisfaction 
over FY12, with the highest number of 
responses from Emeco people achieved 

As at 30 June 2013, our global workforce 
comprised of 633 permanent and fixed 
term employees spread across Australia, 
Canada, Indonesia and Chile. 

At all of our workplaces we stress the 
importance of equality and treating each 
other with respect.

to date. This survey was conducted prior 
to the implementation of a significant 
redundancy program in the Australian 
business in late 2012 and early 2013 
and so while employee satisfaction 
improved again in 2012 (a 32 per 
cent improvement since 2010) we 
expect the results of our 2013 survey, 
which is currently underway, will differ 
significantly from the 2012 results. 

The 2012 survey results highlighted 
that our Emeco values are reflected 
in our culture through Teamwork, 
Continuous Improvement, Accountability 
and Customer Satisfaction. However, 
employee feedback also told us that 

in some workplaces communication 
between managers and employees  
could improve, particularly in regards  
to work prioritisation. 

The Emeco Foundations of Leadership 
program developed in FY13 for front-
line managers and supervisors is one 
way in which we will be addressing this 
issue.+ An internal toolkit is also being 
developed and trialled during FY14 to 
help Emeco managers in Australia be 
more active and visible leaders.  
If successful this toolkit will be rolled  
out across all regions.

FURTHER READING PAGE 30

Empowered people

TABLE 18: EMPLOYEES BY REGION AND CONTRACT

TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES (2013)

REGION
FULL TIME 

(PERM)
PART TIMEF 

(PERM)
FULL TIME 

(FIXED TERM)
PART TIME 

(FIXED TERM) CASUAL TOTAL

Australia 278 6 - - 2 286G 

Canada 101 1 - - - 102

Indonesia 213 - 23 - - 236

Chile 7 - 1 - - 8

US 1 - - - - 1

TOTAL 600 7 24 - 2 633

TABLE 19: FY13 TURNOVER BY REGION

TURNOVER NUMBER TURNOVER RATEH 

REGION MALE FEMALE MALE FEMALE

Australia 140 37 39.25% 10.37%

Canada 12 3 11.8% 2.9%

Indonesia 68 7 23.5% 1.9%

Chile 1 0 12.5% 0

THE 2012 SURVEY RESULTS 
HIGHLIGHTED THAT OUR EMECO 
VALUES ARE REFLECTED IN OUR 
CULTURE THROUGH TEAMWORK, 
CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT, 
ACCOUNTABILITY AND 
CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

F Part-time is assessed as anything less than 38 hours week.
G Non-executive directors are not included in Australian employee numbers.
H 12 month rolling average including voluntary and involuntary turnover.
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
Following the implementation of 
a new Performance Management 
Process (PMP) in the Australian and 
Canadian businesses in FY12, Personal 
Performance Plans (PPP) including 
objectives, behavioural assessments 
and training plans) were developed 
for 95 per cent of employees. The 
number of PPPs conducted across the 
Australian and Canadian businesses fell 
in FY13. We are currently reviewing the 
reasons for this decline. The PMP was 
implemented in Indonesia and Chile for 
positions at supervisor level or higher 
in FY13. Overall, we are on track for an 
improvement in the number of PPP 
conversations carried out in FY14. 

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
REPORTING
As a result of the downturn in resources 
markets during the period, particularly 
in Australia, opportunities to reduce 
operational costs were explored. This 
included a review and prioritisation of 
training activity. As a result, the decision 
was made to limit external training 
to focus on job critical HSE, licence 
to operate and essential technical/
professional training. This also delayed 
the implementation of a consistent 
on-boarding process for new employees 
across the Australian business, however, 
this has been set as a target for delivery 
in FY14. 

To assist with our FY13 target of 
establishing an “integrated process to 
record employee training and to report 
on training key performance indicators”, 
a new training management and 
reporting database, enabling both HSE 
and broader training data management, 
was implemented. The new database 
harmonises and tracks the training 
Emeco delivers to all functions and 
avoids the duplication and technical 

deficiencies associated with the two 
databases previously used. 

The development of training matrices 
for key maintenance and operational 
roles has also been incorporated into 
the database. Implementation of our 
enhanced training management system 
continues in FY14 and we plan to define 
core role-based training requirements 
for all Emeco job families of the 
Australian business. 

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT
The most significant investment in 
training and development for the 
period was the implementation of the 
Foundations of Leadership program.

The rollout of this program commenced 
in Australia and Canada during the 
period and is designed to complement 
theory-based external courses by 
providing Emeco’s frontline supervisors 
and team leaders with a practical 
experience around what successful 
leadership means at Emeco. 

Module 1 (Leading the Emeco Business) 
was rolled out in FY12. In FY13, four 
of six modules in the program were 
delivered to Australian and Canadian 
front line supervisors and team leaders. 
Modules 5 and 6 are under development 
and planned for delivery in early 2014. 
The aim is that the Foundations of 
Leadership program will be run at least 
once every two years for eligible team 
leaders, supervisors and leading hands.

DIVERSITY
In keeping with the diversity 
commitments made in the 2012 
Sustainability Report, Emeco achieved 
the following during the period:

•	 Developed a gender diversity 
measurement framework for the 
Australian business. In FY14, we will 

start capturing the same information 
across all operating regions.

•	 Analysed gender based results of 
our employee culture survey to more 
specifically understand the views, 
experience and needs of the women 
in our workforce.

•	 Implemented initiatives from the 
Diversity Action Plan.

In addition, we submitted our 
second report to the Australian 
Workplace Gender Equality Agency 
(formerly the Equal Opportunity 
in the Workplace Agency). 

DIVERSITY ACTIONS
Emeco’s Diversity Action Plan (available 
at www.emecogroup.com) was approved 
by the Board in June 2012. The following 
three initiatives from the Plan were 
implemented in FY13:

•	 The Australian Recruitment and 
Selection Policy was reviewed to 
ensure it contained an explicit 
commitment to promote diversity in 
our workforce. Following the review a 
new Recruitment and Selection Policy 
and Procedure was implemented. 

•	 A Flexible Workplace Arrangements 
Policy and Procedure was also 
developed in Australia to assist 
employees and managers in applying 
for, assessing the business viability 
of, and responding to requests for 
flexible work arrangements. 

•	 Diversity training commenced at the 
executive leadership level in FY13. 
We have committed to develop and 
roll out relevant diversity awareness 
training to the broader workforces of 
each operating region in FY14.

Employee development

TABLE 20: GROUP WORKFORCE BY JOB CLASSIFICATION, GENDER AND AGE

JOB CLASSIFICATION TOTAL
GENDER AGE

FEMALE MALE < 30 YRS 31-40 41-50 51+ YRS

Non-Executive Director 6 1 5 0 0 1 5

Senior Executive 6 0 6 0 2 3 1

Senior Manager 27 6 21 6 7 10 4

Managers/Supervisors 53 10 43 4 23 15 11

Business Development & Sales 17 0 17 1 6 6 4

Business Support 41 14 27 11 13 8 9

Admin Support 87 57 30 31 26 21 9

Trade & Non Trade 397 5 392 176 134 62 25

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT



 

GENDER DIVERSITY
Women represent 14.7 per cent of our 
global workforce and hold 18.6 per cent 
of senior management positions. The 
majority of women working at Emeco 
are employed in administrative and 
business support roles. We feel this is 
a fair representation considering the 
overall composition of the industry. 

Our goal for FY14 is to increase the 
profile and career prospects of women 
in our workplaces by implementing the 
following diversity initiatives: 

•	 Implement a structured and 
coordinated annual mentoring 
program for women leaders in the 
business.

•	 Identify and invest in targeted 
leadership development training for 
current and potential women leaders.

•	 Improve the way we profile and raise 
awareness of all high achievers in 
the business through our internal 
communication channels with a 
target set for 50 per cent of all 
people profiled to be women.

From a community perspective, in 
FY13 the focus was on establishing the 
foundation of our global Community 
Engagement Strategy, recruiting internal 
community engagement representatives 
and establishing supporting processes.

The major achievements delivered 
during the period were:

•	 The appointment of locally-
based community engagement 
representatives for each state 
in which we operate in Australia, 
Indonesia and Canada. 

•	 Establishing working relationships 
and running activities with our 
national partners in Australia, the 
Clontarf Foundation and Lifeline 
Australia. 

•	 Receiving positive feedback from a 
number of local community groups 
who received support from Emeco. 

Importantly, the real value of our 
community-focussed activities in 
FY13 came from the pleasing level of 
employee engagement and involvement. 
This suggests that the structure we 
have implemented with an overarching 
global strategy and approval process, 
with application and activities being 
coordinated at a local level by Emeco’s 
own internal community engagement 
representatives, really works.

We see this as an achievement because 
our Community Engagement Strategy 
recognises that Emeco employees and 
broader stakeholders, live and work in 
the communities where we operate 
and as such, employee engagement 
is a large part of our community 
engagement approach.

Throughout the year, we remained 
focussed on partnership and 
sponsorship activities which meet the 
following criteria: 

•	 Improve standards of health, 
wellbeing and/or education. 

•	 Support environmental remediation 
and/or sustainability practices. 

•	 Support sustainable Indigenous 
business operations. 

These remain our focus areas for 
support in FY14.

Community

Through our working relationship 
with Imperial Oil in Canada, Emeco 
partnered with Women Building 
Futures (WBF) to empower and help 
provide training to women who seek 
careers in Canada’s heavy industrial 
sector.

Like Emeco, WBF is focussed on 
empowerment. WBF works to  
empower women to succeed in  
non-traditional careers, inspire  
positive economic change for  
women and forever transform the  
face of industry in Canada. 

In February 2012, 16 women were 
selected to participate in the new WBF 

Imperial Oil Limited Heavy Equipment 
Operator Program, for which Emeco 
provided and maintained the heavy 
equipment that was used throughout 
the 12-week training program. 

The students graduated on 10 May, 
equipped with five safety certificates 
and over 60 hours of seat time 
having spent three months training on 
articulated haul trucks, loaders, dozers 
and graders.

OUR COMMUNITIES

BUILDING FUTURES FOR WOMEN

OUR GOAL FOR FY14 IS  
TO INCREASE THE PROFILE 
AND CAREER PROSPECTS OF 
WOMEN IN OUR WORKPLACES 
BY IMPLEMENTING DIVERSITY 
INITIATIVES
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In FY13 we continued to provide both 
financial and in-kind assistance to local 
community causes across our operating 
location (see table 21). We also encouraged 
the active involvement of our employees 
in their local communities.

In FY14 we will be working to establish 
greater consistency across our 
operating regions in terms of the types 
of causes we support and to improve 

alignment with our global Community 
Engagement Strategy. We will also be 
seeking more formal feedback from  
the organisations and community 
groups that we support in FY14 to  
assist with reviewing and developing  
our Community Engagement Strategy 
going forward.

Local community support

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

REGION PARTNERSHIP OR SPONSORSHIP 

AUSTRALIA Bupa Walk to Work Day
Camp Quality
Clontarf Foundation (National Partnership)
Cowell Hospital
Fremantle Hospital
Lifeline Australia (National Partnership)
Mackay Animal Rescue
Mine Rovers Football Club
National Breast Cancer Foundation
Pioneer Valley Car Show – Dad’s Day in the Park
Princess Margaret Hospital Foundation – Big Walk
PWR Mine Emergency Response Competition (MERC)
Roar Cricket Club
Rock Eisteddford
Ronald McDonald House
Rotary
Shave for a Cure
Stress Down Day

INDONESIA Indonesia Young National Committee
Radio Between Indonesia People
Manggar People Empower Council
P. Antasari Technical High School

CANADA Mining Suppliers Association of Canada
Stony Plain Minor Hockey
United Way
Breast Cancer Support
Teenage Survival Handbook
U16/18 Girls Soccer Club
South Side Athletic Club APEX Geoscience Hockey team
Women Building Futures     FURTHER READING OUR COMMUNITIES CASE STUDY PAGE 31

CHILE Community engagement activities not yet commenced. 

TABLE 21: FY13 COMMUNITY ACTIVITY BY REGION



 

MENTAL HEALTH & WELLBEING
In Australia during FY13, Emeco 
established national partnerships  
with the Clontarf Foundation and  
Lifeline Australia. 

Emeco’s support of Lifeline delivers  
the following: 

•	 Financial support which enables 
Lifeline to sustainably operate its  
13 11 14 crisis support line.

•	 Improved access to Lifeline’s 
essential crisis services for the 
Australian public.

•	 Improved awareness and open 
communication lines with Emeco 
stakeholders about mental health 
and suicide.

•	 Structured, optional training for 
Emeco employees in Australia. 

80 per cent of the funding provided 
to Lifeline by Emeco goes towards 
employing and training permanent 
Lifeline employees to work the crisis 
lines between the hours of 10pm and 
6am. This is the most difficult time for 
volunteers to work, yet also the time of 
night when Australians in need become 
lonely and at high risk of suicide. 

The remaining 20 per cent of funding 
goes towards training of Emeco 
employees to better understand the 
issue of mental health and suicide. 

These optional sessions have been a 
huge success with between 60 and 
80 per cent of employees at each 
location where the training has been 
held, choosing to attend. Following 
the training, employees who choose 
to attend are equipped with the 
confidence, skills and tools they may 
one day need to help themselves, a 
colleague or loved one, who may be 
struggling with a mental health issue  
or contemplating suicide.

INDIGENOUS ENGAGEMENT
Our Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Engagement Strategy outlines 
our commitment to developing 
and providing culturally aware and 
welcoming Australian workplaces. 

During FY13 in Australia, we were 
focused on developing our relationship 
with the Clontarf Foundation (Clontarf) 
following the establishment of a 
community partnership in July 2012 
(see case study below). Clontarf exists 
to improve the education, discipline, 
self-esteem, life skills and employment 
prospects of young Aboriginal men.

Through the partnership Emeco is 
working with Clontarf to develop 
career pathways for Indigenous youth 
and hopes to provide employment 
opportunities for Clontarf graduates 

within Emeco in the coming years. In 
FY13, Emeco assisted Clontarf with: 

•	 Facilitating an excursion for Clontarf 
students to Emeco’s Guildford site, 
providing the boys with an insight 
into the mining services industry  
and heavy equipment (see case  
study below).

•	 Exploring opportunities for career 
pathways though work experience  
at Emeco, for boys attending  
Clontarf Academies in proximity  
to Emeco’s major sites.

In Canada, Emeco has been working 
in a commercial relationship with the 
Fort McKay Group of Companies for a 
number of years, a company which is 
100 per cent owned and controlled by 
the Fort McKay First Nation indigenous 
people. At the end of FY13, our Canadian 
business had commenced further 
discussions with the Fort McKay Group 
to explore the co-development of a 
fleet maintenance program which would 
assist the Group in providing equipment 
to various oil sands producers.

Partnering for change

In early 2012, students from the 
Sevenoaks Clontarf Academy visited 
Emeco’s Guildford operation in  
Western Australia. 

After a site induction which explained 
the importance of safety and the safety 
practices which were to be followed 
at site, the Emeco team spoke with 
the boys about the various roles and 
functions required to run a business like 
Emeco and how the boys could one day 
have similar roles in a company.

The boys were taken on a tour of 
Emeco’s workshop which gave them a 
chance to see large mining equipment 
up close, as well as a variety of tools 

and engines which are used by Emeco 
to deliver its equipment rental services 
to customers.

The visit concluded with a morning tea. 
This was a great opportunity for the 
boys from Clontarf to interact with 
Emeco employees from Guildford and to 
ask questions about some of the jobs 
and activities they heard about on their 
tour of the site.

OUR COMMUNITIES

CLONTARF STUDENTS SEE EMECO  
FIRST HAND

THESE OPTIONAL SESSIONS HAVE 
BEEN A HUGE SUCCESS WITH 
BETWEEN 60 & 80 PER CENT OF 
EMPLOYEES AT EACH LOCATION 
WHERE THE TRAINING HAS BEEN 
HELD, CHOOSING TO ATTEND
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RESPONSIBLE ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT
Globally, we continue to work towards 
improving the consistency and efficiency 
of our environmental data collection 
and reporting processes. The new 
monthly sustainability reporting tool 
will not only assist from a consistency 
and efficiency perspective, we hope 
that it will also promote the sharing 
and adoption of environmental 
initiatives and improvements across 
Emeco’s operating regions. 

In FY13, all major sites in the Australian 
business improved waste management 
practices. Following are some examples 
of the steps taken: 

•	 Using double-skin containers for 
lube storage at Carosue Dam (a 
maintained project site in Western 
Australia) to prevent uncontrolled 
release of hydrocarbons.

•	 Switching to a single-supplier of oil 
and waste oil removal in Western 
Australia resulting in more efficient 
management of oil usage and 
disposal.

•	 Introducing a biodegradable cleaner 
and a non-hydrocarbon degreaser at 
our Rutherford branch in New South 
Wales, reducing the use of hazardous 
chemicals.

•	 Redesigning the wash pad workshop 
grid at our Mackay branch in 

Queensland to ensure waste flows 
correctly into the waste oil area, 
avoiding uncontrolled releases.

•	 Introducing a dust suppressant at 
our Rutherford branch to reduce the 
dust flowing from our workshop to 
the surrounding area.

Across our Australian business water is 
captured, cleaned and reused in all wash 
bay facilities. Our water carts (following 
repair/refurbishment) now use recycled 
water from wash bays, rather than 
potable fresh water. Canada captures 
and uses rainwater in wash bays. 

Indonesia has begun more regular 
monitoring of the waste water that is 
released back into the environment. 
Waste water management practices 
have also been reviewed and a number 
of improvements are currently being 
initiated in the region.

As yet, we do not however have the 
systems in place to reliably capture 
waste, water usage data or quantify 
water savings globally. We have set a 
target to improve our waste and water 
reporting approaches in FY14. 

Across the business we continue to look 
for ways to reduce the impacts of our 
vehicles while in use at customer sites. 
In Australia, as reported in FY12, we 
implemented Global Positioning System 
(GPS) units on our Caterpillar fleet and 
are still investigating the viability of 

similar units for other OEMI models. 
Testing to date has uncovered some 
technical issues, however, we remain 
committed to providing fuel usage 
reports to those customers who require 
such information. 

In Canada, Emeco manages excessive 
idling of equipment, particularly during 
the busy winter period, by utilising 
technology which helps keep equipment 
ready to start. Rental customers who 
are able to minimise the occurrence of 
idling equipment are positively rewarded 
with a discounted rental rate. 

FY13 was the first year of operation for 
our Chilean business and as such, they 
have only recently begun tracking and 
reporting environmental data which we 
will report on in future reporting cycles.

No significant spills were reported by 
any of our operations in FY13.

Environment

IOEM means original equipment manufacturer
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ENERGY AND GREENHOUSE GAS 
EMISSIONS (GHG)
Emeco provides dry hire equipment 
to mining companies and contractors 
operating in the mining industry. As 
such, emissions associated with the 
use of our equipment falls under 
the reporting responsibility of our 
customers. We are not required to 
report greenhouse emissions or 
energy usage under the Australian 
Government’s National Greenhouse and 
Energy Reporting legislation or Energy 
Efficiency Opportunities legislation as 
our activities fall below the current 
reporting thresholds. Nonetheless, we 
track and report energy usage and GHG 
emissions information each year, for the 
prior financial year, through submission 
to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP). 
www.cdproject.net

Our most recent CDP submission shows 
that our 2012 GHG emissions (scopes 1 
and 2) were 7,543 tCO2e (see table 23) 

which represents an increase of 17 per 
cent on FY11 emissions. The increase 
in emissions was primarily due to the 
growing fleet of the time and associated 
energy usage in Canada and Indonesia.

In an effort to improve the accuracy 
of our emissions data and respond 
more effectively to increasing trends, 
commencing in FY14 each region now 
reports environmental data on a regular 
basis, as opposed to annually, through our 
new monthly sustainability reporting tool. 

We continue to look for opportunities 
to improve our environmental 
performance and to reduce the carbon 
and energy impacts of our operations 
where possible. Importantly, we 
remain committed to working with our 
customers to mitigate environmental 
impacts, increase energy efficiency and 
reduce emissions associated with the 
operation of our equipment. 

TABLE 22: FY12 ENERGY CONSUMPTION BY SOURCE

ENERGY CONSUMPTION 
DIRECT ENERGY (GJ) 

(SCOPE 1 & 2)
tCO2-e 

(SCOPE 1 & 2)

Electricity 14,040 3,332

Natural Gas 8,762 450

Fleet Fuel 54,358 3,761

TOTAL ENERGY CONSUMED 77,289 7,543

TABLE 23: 2010-12 GROUP EMISSIONS (SCOPE 1 & 2) 

YEAR tCO2-eJ 

2010 7,397

2011 6,447

2012 7,543

TABLE 24: 2012 GROUP ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND GHG EMISSIONS BY REGION

REGION
DIRECT ENERGY (GJ) 

(SCOPE 1 & 2)
tCO2-e 

(SCOPE 1&2)

Australia 36,835 4,672

Canada 32,616 2,166

Indonesia 7,709 705

Chile Available in 2014.

TOTAL 77,160 7,543

J Carbon footprint is calculated using the international best practice Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

National Greenhouse Accounts (NGA) Factors July 2010 – Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency

National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting (Measurement) Determination 2008

WE REMAIN COMMITTED TO 
WORKING WITH OUR CUSTOMERS 
TO MITIGATE ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPACTS, INCREASE ENERGY 
EFFICIENCY AND REDUCE 
EMISSIONS ASSOCIATED  
WITH THE OPERATION OF 
OUR EQUIPMENT



  

Better equipped  
everyday

OUR BUSINESS AT WORK
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EMECO HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Directors’ Report  
for the year ended 30 June 2013

DIRECTORS
The Directors of Emeco Holdings Limited (Emeco or Company) present their report together with the financial reports of the consolidated entity, 
being Emeco and its controlled entities (Group) for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 (FY13).

The Directors of the Company during FY13 were:

ALEC BRENNAN
AM, BSc Hons, MBA, FAICD, Age 66
Appointment: Independent Non-Executive Director since August 2005. Chairman since November 2006. 

Board committee membership: 
•	 Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
•	 Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Skills and experience: Alec was Chief Executive Officer of CSR from April 2003 until March 2007, prior to which he held a range of positions 
with CSR and related companies, including time as Director of Finance & Investments and Chief Executive Officer of the Readymix Group. Alec 
has been a public company director for more than 20 years. Alec was made a Member of the Order of Australia in the 2013 Queen’s Birthday 
Honours for significant service to business and commerce, tertiary education administration and to the community. Alec is also a former 
member of the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Advisory Panel.

Current appointments:
•	 Director of the New South Wales Environmental Protection Authority (since 2012).
•	 Fellow of the Senate of Sydney University. Chair of the University’s Finance and Human Resources committees (since 2006).

KEITH GORDON
BSc (Agric) Hons, MBA, MAICD, Age 49
Appointment: Managing Director since December 2009.

Skills and experience: Keith brings senior leadership skills and experience to Emeco, gained through an extensive career in the industrials 
sector. Keith joined Emeco after a decade with Wesfarmers Limited, where he held a number of senior roles and was heavily involved in major 
corporate transactions. Keith has a strong record of achieving value-creating growth through innovation and disciplined strategies.

Current appointments:
•	 Director of EDGE Employment Solutions (since 2009).

ROBERT BISHOP
BSc, MSc Eng, FAICD, MIEAust, MIET(UK), Age 68
Appointment: Independent Non-Executive Director since June 2009. 

Board committee membership: 
•	 Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Skills and experience: Robert has extensive international business experience having worked in the United Kingdom, South Africa and 
Europe with particular focus on mergers and acquisitions, new business start-ups and international business development in the manufacturing 
and mining sectors. Robert held the position of Chief Executive Officer of the global mining and tunnelling division of DYWIDAG Systems 
International GmbH from 2003 to 2008 and was a member of the Group’s Supervisory Board. He is a former Managing Director of Dorsogna 
Limited (1994 to 1997) and Joyce Corporation Limited (1989 to 1994).

Current appointments:
•	 Director of Newcastle Regional Art Gallery and a member of its Investment Committee (since 2011).

JOHN CAHILL
BBus, Grad Dip Bus, FCPA, GAICD, Age 57
Appointment: Independent Non-Executive Director since September 2008. 

Board committee membership: 
•	 Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
•	 Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Skills and experience: John has over 25 years’ experience working in senior treasury, finance, accounting and risk management positions, 
predominantly in the energy utility sector. John is a past Chief Executive Officer of Alinta Infrastructure Holdings and past Chief Financial Officer 
of Alinta Limited.

Current appointments:
•	 Non-Executive Director (since 2009) and Deputy Chairman (since 2010) of Electricity Networks Corporation, Western Australia (trading as 
Western Power). Chair of its Finance and Risk Committee and a member of its People and Performance Committee.

•	 Non-Executive Director (since 2007) and President and Chairman (since 2011) of CPA Australia Limited.
•	 Councillor of Edith Cowan University and Chair of the University’s Resources Committee (since 2011).
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PETER JOHNSTON
BA, FAusIMM, FAICD, Age 62
Appointment: Independent Non-Executive Director since September 2006.  Retired on 30 June 2013.

Board committee membership: 
•	 Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Skills and experience: Peter brought to Emeco more than 30 years’ experience in the Australian resources industry. Peter was appointed 
Head of Nickel Assets for Glencore in May 2013.  Prior to his current role he was Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Minara 
Resources Pty Limited.  Peter held senior executive positions with WMC Resources Limited and Alcoa of Australia Limited.  Peter is a former 
Chairman of the Minerals Council of Australia (2010 to 2013) and a former Vice President of the Australian Mines and Metals Association (2010 
to 2013).

Current appointments:
•	 Non-Executive Director Silver Lake Resources Limited (since 2007).
•	 Non-Executive Director of Tronox Limited (since 2012).
•	 Director of the Nickel Institute (since 1995).

PETER RICHARDS
BCom, Age 54
Appointment: Independent Non-Executive Director since June 2010. 

Board committee membership: 
•	 Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Skills and experience: Peter has over 30 years of international business experience with global companies including British Petroleum 
(including its mining arm Seltrust Holdings), Wesfarmers Limited and Dyno Nobel Limited. During his time at Dyno Nobel, he held a number 
of senior positions with the North American and Asia Pacific business, before being appointed as Chief Executive Officer in Australia (2005 
to 2008). Peter was previously Chairman of Kangaroo Resources Limited (2010 to 2013), Chairman of Minbos Resources Limited (2010 to 
August 2013) and former Non-Executive Director (2010 to 2013) and Managing Director (February 2013 to July 2013) of Norfolk Group Limited.

Current appointments:
•	 Non-Executive Director of Sedgman Limited (since 2010).
•	 Non-Executive Director of Bradken Limited (since 2009).
•	 Non-Executive Director of NSL Consolidated Limited (since 2009).

ERICA SMYTH
MSc, FAICD, FTSE, Age 61
Appointment: Independent Non-Executive Director since December 2011.

Board committee membership: 
•	 Member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Skills and experience: With over 30 years’ experience in the mineral and petroleum industries, Erica’s career highlights include her positions 
as Principal Geologist for BHP Minerals, Project Manager of BHP-Utah Minerals International’s Beenup Project, Manager - Gas Market 
Development WA for BHP Petroleum and General Manager - Corporate Affairs with Woodside Petroleum Limited. In 2012 Erica was elected as 
a Fellow of the Academy of Technological Science and Engineering and in 2010, the Chamber of Mines & Energy Western Australia awarded 
Erica a Lifetime Achievement Award for her contribution to the industry as part of the Women in Resources Awards 2010. In 2008, Erica was 
awarded a Honourary Doctor of Letters from the University of Western Australia.

Current appointments:
•	 Chair of Diabetes Research Foundation of Western Australia (since 2007).
•	 Chair of Scitech, Western Australia’s interactive science centre (since 2008).
•	 Chair of the UWA Centenary Trust for Women (since 2008).
•	 Chair of Toro Energy Limited (since 2009).
•	 Director of the Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (since 2009).
•	 Director Royal Flying Doctor Service Western Operations (since 2010).

COMPANY SECRETARY

MICHAEL KIRKPATRICK
BA, BEc, LLB (Hons)
Michael was appointed as Company Secretary to the Emeco Board in April 2005. Prior to joining Emeco, Michael was a corporate lawyer 
with several Australian law firms and the Legal Counsel and Company Secretary of a large industry superannuation fund. Michael is admitted 
to practice as a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Western Australia. In his capacity as General Manager Corporate Services for 
Emeco, Michael is responsible for the Company’s in-house legal counsel, global human resources and corporate affairs functions. Michael has 
been a member of the Law Society of Western Australia since 2002.
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of Board and Committee meetings held and attended by each Director in FY13 is outlined in the following table below:

TABLE 25: BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS HELD AND DIRECTOR ATTENDANCE

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE
AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE 

MEETING ATTENDANCE

REMUNERATION & NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE MEETING  

ATTENDANCE

DIRECTOR (14 MEETINGS HELD) (5 MEETINGS HELD) (2 MEETINGS HELD)

Robert Bishop 13 4 1 *

Alec Brennan 14 5 2

John Cahill 14 5 2

Keith Gordon 14 5 * 2 *

Peter Johnston 11 4 * 1

Peter Richards 13 5 2 *

Erica Smyth 14 5 * 2 [A]

*	 Not a member of this Committee 
[A]	 Dr Erica Smyth was appointed to the Remuneration & Nomination Committee on 20 February 2013. Dr Smyth attended these meetings prior to her appointment as 

Committee member.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
Under ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3, the Company is required to include in its annual report a statement disclosing the extent to which it has 
followed the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations with 2010 Amendments set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council 
(ASX Principles and Recommendations). 

Emeco is pleased to report that it has followed each of the ASX Principles and Recommendations as set out in this Corporate Governance 
Statement. 

PRINCIPLE 1	 LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT 

Roles and responsibilities of the Board and management

Board Charter
The Company’s Board Charter, which has been adopted by the Board, sets out the functions and responsibilities of the Board, each Director 
and the Chairman.

Under the Charter, the Board is accountable to shareholders for the overall performance of the Company and management of its affairs. Key 
responsibilities of the Board include: 

•	 developing, providing input into and final approval of, corporate strategy;
•	 evaluating, approving and monitoring the strategic and financial plans and performance objectives of the Company;
•	 determining dividend policy and the amount and timing of all dividends;
•	 evaluating, approving and monitoring major capital expenditure, capital management and all major acquisitions, divestitures and other 
corporate transactions, including the issue of securities; 

•	 reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes of conduct and legal 
compliance;

•	 evaluating and monitoring annual budgets and business plans;
•	 ensuring appropriate resources are available to senior executives;
•	 approving all accounting policies, financial reports and external communications by the Group;
•	 appointing, re-appointing or removing the Company’s external auditors (on recommendation from the Audit and Risk Committee); and
•	 appointing, monitoring and managing the performance and remuneration of Executive Directors. 

The Charter sets a minimum number of Board meetings and provides for the establishment of the Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Charter also sets minimum standards of ethical conduct of the Directors, which are further 
elaborated on in the Company’s Code of Conduct, and specifies the terms on which Directors are able to obtain independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense. 

A copy of the Board Charter and the Company’s Code of Conduct is available on the Emeco website. 
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Delegated Financial Authority
Under the terms of the Board Charter, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible to the Board for the day-to-day management of the Group. 
The Board has formally adopted a structured Delegated Financial Authority (DFA) which outlines the specific financial authority limits delegated 
to the Chief Executive Officer. The Board approves and monitors this delegation of financial authority.

The DFA ensures that contract commitments and expenditure is limited to:

•	 contractual commitments in the ordinary course of business;
•	 operational expenditure incurred in the day-to-day running of the business; and
•	 capital expenditure, being the purchase of assets for the purpose of deriving income.

The DFA also sets levels of permitted contractual and expenditure commitment delegated by the Chief Executive Officer to employees across 
the Group. Authority limits have been set as a risk management tool to ensure adequate controls are in place when committing the Group to a 
contract or incurring costs. 

Evaluating the performance of senior executives
The performance of the Chief Executive Officer is regularly monitored by the Non-Executive Directors. 

Formal reviews of the performance of each senior executive within the Emeco Group are conducted by the Chief Executive Officer in July/
August each year. These performance reviews provide the Chief Executive Officer and each senior executive with the opportunity not only to 
review the senior executive’s performance against a range of financial and operational benchmarks but also to review and assess the senior 
executive’s personal and professional development objectives. A review of the performance of each senior executive was undertaken during 
FY13. 

The Group has formal induction procedures in place to introduce new senior executives to the Group and gain an understanding of the Group’s 
financial position, strategies, operations, risks and other policies and responsibilities.

PRINCIPLE 2	 STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

Skills, experience and expertise of the Directors 
With the retirement of Mr Johnston effective from 30 June 2013, the Board is currently comprised of six Directors – five Non-Executive 
Directors, including the Chairman, and one Executive Director. The Directors consider that collectively they have the relevant skills, experience 
and expertise to fulfil their obligations to the Company, its shareholders and other stakeholders. 

All Directors are expected to maintain the skills required to discharge their duties to the Company. Directors are provided, on an “as needed” 
basis, with papers, presentations and briefings on Group businesses and on matters which may affect the operations of the Group. 

The Directors and a brief description of their skills, experience and expertise are set out at pages 38 to 39 of this report. 

Status of the Directors
The table below sets out details of the status of each of the current Directors:

TABLE 26: STATUS OF CURRENT DIRECTORS

DIRECTOR DATE OF APPOINTMENT INDEPENDENT? NON-EXECUTIVE?
SEEKING RE-ELECTION AT 

2013 AGM?

Robert Bishop 22/06/2009 Yes Yes No

Alec Brennan 16/08/2005 Yes Yes No

John Cahill 15/09/2008 Yes Yes No

Keith Gordon 1/12/2009 No No No

Peter Richards 14/06/2010 Yes Yes Yes

Erica Smyth 15/12/2011 Yes Yes No

Five of the six Directors are Independent Directors. Independent Directors are expected to bring independent views and judgement to the 
Board’s deliberations. All of the Company’s Independent Directors satisfy the criteria for independence set out in the ASX Principles and 
Recommendations. In considering whether a Director is independent, the Board has had regard to the relationships affecting his or her 
independent status and other facts, information and circumstances that the Board considers to be relevant. 

The Board assesses the independence of new Directors upon appointment and reviews the independence of the Directors annually and as 
appropriate. The test of whether a relationship is material is based on the nature of the relationship and the circumstances of the Director. 
Materiality is considered from the perspective of the Company, the Director, and the person or entity with which the Director has a relationship.

The one Director who is not considered to be independent, due to his involvement in the management and operations of the Group, is Mr 
Gordon, the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director. 

The Chairman of the Board is Mr Brennan, an Independent Director. 
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Directors’ retirement and re-election 
Under the terms of the Company’s constitution, a Director other than the Managing Director must retire from office or seek re-election by no 
later than the third annual general meeting after his or her election or three years, whichever is the later. Further, at least one Director must retire 
from office at each annual general meeting, unless determined otherwise by a resolution of the Company’s shareholders. Mr Richards will seek 
re-election at the 2013 annual general meeting under these provisions. 

Under the Company’s constitution the Directors have the power to appoint Directors to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any 
Director, except a Managing Director, appointed in this way must retire from office, and is eligible for re-election, at the next annual general 
meeting following his or her appointment. 

The Board has established the following criteria for the appointment of Non-Executive Directors of the Company:

•	 No actual or potential conflicts of interest at the time of appointment.
•	 No prior adverse history, including bankruptcy, conviction for an offence of dishonesty or any other serious criminal conviction, ASIC or 

APRA disqualification.
•	 Deserved reputation for honesty, integrity and competence.
•	 Extensive experience at a senior executive level in a field relevant to the Group’s operations and preferably with a listed company.
•	 High level strategic, financial and commercial capability.
•	 Available and willing to devote the time required to meetings and Company business and a real commitment to the Group and its success.
•	 Able to work harmoniously with fellow Directors and management.
•	 Skills, experience and knowledge which complement the skills, experience and knowledge of incumbent Directors. 

In addition to the above criteria, the Board aims to achieve a mix of skills and diversity in its members. Candidates recommended for 
appointment as new Non-Executive Directors are considered by the Board as a whole. If it is necessary to appoint a new Director to fill a 
vacancy on the Board or to complement the existing Board, a wide potential base of possible candidates is considered. 

Procedures for seeking information and taking independent and professional advice 
Under the Board Charter, a Director is entitled to seek professional advice at the Company’s expense on any matter connected with the 
discharge of his or her duties in accordance with the procedure set out in the Charter, a copy of which is available on the Emeco website. 

In addition, all Directors have unrestricted access to employees of the Group and, subject to law, access to all records of the Company and 
information held by Group employees and external advisors. The Board receives regular detailed financial and operational reports from senior 
executives to enable it to carry out its duties. 

The General Counsel is Mr Kirkpatrick. Each of the Directors has access to the General Counsel as and when required. 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee, whose responsibilities include the following:

•	 Critically reviewing the performance and effectiveness of the Board and its individual members.
•	 Periodically assessing the skills required to discharge the Board’s duties, having regard to the strategic direction of the Company.
•	 Reviewing the membership and performance of other Board Committees and making recommendations to the Board.

The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee in FY13 were Mr Brennan (Chair), Mr Cahill, and Mr Johnston. Dr Smyth was 
also appointed to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee effective from 20 February 2013, however, there were no Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee meetings held in FY13 after her appointment. Each member’s attendance at the two meetings held by the Committee 
in FY13 is set out at page 40. The Charter of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is available on the Emeco website. 

Process for evaluating the Board, its Committees and Directors
Generally a review of the performance of the Board is completed annually by the Chairman with the assistance of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee. The review is undertaken in accordance with the Charter of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee using a 
questionnaire, the scope of which covers the performance of the Board, its Committees, the Chairman and individual Directors. Directors’ 
questionnaire responses are collated and analysed by the Chairman and then presented to, and discussed with, the Board. This internal review 
was not undertaken in FY13 because it was superseded by an external review of Emeco’s governance structures, processes and systems 
conducted by Baker & Baptist Pty Ltd. 

Baker & Baptist Pty Ltd completed its review of the performance of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors in November 2012. As 
part of the review, Directors completed comprehensive questionnaires regarding the performance of the Board and each member of the Board. 
Interviews were conducted with each of the Directors, the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary/General Manager Corporate 
Services. Each Non-Executive Director received an individual feedback report.

Baker & Baptist Pty Ltd also reviewed various charters, policies, codes, registers, Board and Committee papers including minutes, 
management job descriptions and reports, annual reports and other documents available on the Emeco website. A report on the Board and 
Committee performance, together with recommendations, prepared by Baker & Baptist Pty Ltd was presented to, and discussed with, the 
Board. All recommendations accepted by the Board have been implemented.
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PRINCIPLE 3	 PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION-MAKING 
The Company considers that confidence in its integrity can only be achieved if its employees and officers conduct themselves ethically in all 
of their commercial dealings on the Company’s behalf. The Company has therefore recognised that it should actively promote ethical conduct 
amongst its employees, officers and contractors. 

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct, a Share Trading Policy and a Diversity Policy. The Code of Conduct, Share Trading Policy and 
Diversity Policy apply to all Directors, officers, employees, consultants and contractors of the Group. 

The Code of Conduct
The objectives of the Code of Conduct are to ensure that:

•	 high standards of corporate and individual behaviour are observed by all employees in the context of their employment with the Group;
•	 employees are aware of their responsibilities under their contract of employment and always act in an ethical and professional manner; and
•	 all persons dealing with the Group, whether it be employees, shareholders, suppliers, clients or competitors, can be guided by the stated 

values and practices of Emeco.

Under the Code of Conduct, employees of the Group must, amongst other things:

•	 act honestly and in good faith at all times and in a manner which is in the best interests of the Company as a whole;
•	 conduct their personal activities in a manner that is lawful and avoids conflicts of interest between the employee’s personal interests and 
those of the Company;

•	 always act in a manner that is in compliance with the laws and regulations of the country in which they work; 
•	 report any actual or potential breaches of the law, the Code of Conduct or the Company’s other policies to the Company Secretary; and
•	 not permit or condone the making of payments, gifts, favours, bribes, facilitation payments or kick-backs in the expectation of preferred 

treatment for themselves or the Company.

The Company actively promotes and encourages ethical behaviour and protection for those who report violations of the Code of Conduct 
or other unlawful or unethical conduct in good faith. The Company ensures that employees are not disadvantaged in any way for reporting 
violations of the Code of Conduct or other unlawful or unethical conduct and that matters are dealt with promptly and fairly.

Directors are required to avoid conflicts of interest and immediately inform their fellow Directors should a conflict of interest arise. Directors are 
also required to advise the Company of any relevant interests that may result in a conflict.

The Board has adopted the use of formal standing notices in which Directors disclose any material personal interests and the relationship of 
these interests to the affairs of the Company. A Director is required to notify the Company of any new material personal interests or if there is 
any change in the nature or extent of a previously disclosed interest.

Where a matter in which a Director has a material personal interest is being considered by the Board, that Director must not be present when 
the matter is being considered or vote on the matter, unless all of the other Directors have passed a resolution to enable that Director to do so 
or the matter comes within a category of exception under the Corporations Act 2001.

The Company will only use an employee’s personal information for the purposes for which it has been disclosed (unless it is necessary to 
protect health and safety, or as required by law).

The Company’s approach to community investments (for example sponsorships and donations) is approved and managed at a corporate level 
with input from the business. The Company seeks to conduct its operations in a sustainable manner, and with due consideration of its social, 
environmental and economic impacts. Further, the Company is committed to establishing and maintaining mutually beneficial and sustainable 
relationships with the indigenous communities in regions where the Company operates.

A copy of the Code of Conduct is available on the Emeco website.

The Share Trading Policy
The principal objective of the Share Trading Policy is to raise awareness, and minimise any potential for breach, of the prohibitions on insider 
trading contained in the Corporations Act 2001. The policy is also intended to minimise any possible misunderstandings or suspicions arising 
from employees and officers trading in the Company’s shares, by limiting trading to fixed periods commencing after the release of half and full 
year results and after the annual general meeting.

The Company has appropriate compliance standards and procedures in place to ensure the policy is properly adhered to. Employees are 
advised of the opening and closing dates of each trading period after the release of half and full year results, and after the annual general 
meeting. Employees are reminded of the relevant dates for these trading periods, and a copy of the Share Trading Policy accompanies these 
reminder notifications. 

A copy of the Share Trading Policy is available on the Emeco website.
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Diversity Policy
The principal objective of the Diversity Policy is to support a corporate culture of workplace diversity, and to work towards establishing a 
framework for diversity awareness and reporting. A copy of the Diversity Policy is available on the Emeco website.

The Diversity Policy requires the Board to establish measureable objectives for achieving gender diversity. The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee is responsible for assessing and reporting to the Board on the Company’s progress towards achieving its measurable diversity 
objectives on an annual basis. 

Further details regarding:

•	 the Company’s annual measureable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the Board in accordance with the Diversity Policy and 
progress towards achieving them; and 

•	 the proportion of women employees in the Group, in senior executive positions and on the Board, 

are included in the Sustainability Report at pages 24 to 35. 

PRINCIPLE 4	 SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY OF FINANCIAL REPORTING 
The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee to support and advise the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to shareholders, 
employees and other stakeholders of the Company by:

•	 assisting the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the financial reporting process, the system of internal control relating to all 
matters affecting the Company’s financial performance, the audit process, and the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with laws 
and regulations and the Code of Conduct; and

•	 implementing and supervising the Company’s risk management framework.

During FY13, the Committee comprised of four Independent Non-Executive Directors, all of whom have financial expertise. Members of 
the Audit and Risk Committee are Mr Cahill (Chairman), Mr Bishop, Mr Brennan and Mr Richards. The qualifications of the Audit and Risk 
Committee members are set out at pages 38 to 39 of this report. 

The Audit and Risk Committee Charter sets out the role and responsibilities of the Committee and is available on the Emeco website. 

In FY13, the Audit and Risk Committee held five meetings. Each Committee member’s attendance at these meetings is set out at page 40. The 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and any other persons considered appropriate may 
attend the meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee by invitation. The Committee also meets from time to time with the external auditor in the 
absence of management.

Independence of the external auditor
The Company’s external auditor is KPMG. The effectiveness, performance and independence of the external auditor are reviewed by the Audit 
and Risk Committee. If it becomes necessary to replace the external auditor for performance or independence reasons, the Audit and Risk 
Committee will formalise a procedure and policy for the selection and appointment of a new auditor.

Independence declaration
Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires the external auditor to make an annual independence declaration addressed to the Board 
declaring that the auditor has maintained its independence in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the rules of the professional 
accounting bodies. KPMG has provided an independence declaration to the Board for FY13. This independence declaration forms part of the 
Directors’ report and is provided on page 61 of this annual report.

Non-Audit Services
During the year, KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to the audit and review of the financial 
statements.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied that the provision of those non-
audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been reviewed by the Audit 
and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing the risks and rewards.

Details of the amounts paid to the Company’s auditor, KPMG, and its network firms, for audit and non-audit services are found in Note 9 of the 
Notes to the Financial Statements.

Rotation of lead external audit partner
Mr Rob Gambitta is the lead audit partner for KPMG in relation to the audit of the Company. Mr Gambitta was first appointed as the Lead 
Partner responsible for Emeco for the 30 June 2009 year end audit. After FY13, Mr Gambitta’s five year rotation will expire and he will be 
replaced as the lead audit partner. 
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Attendance of external auditors at the annual general meeting
The lead audit partner of KPMG attends and is available to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation 
and content of the Independent Auditor’s Report at the Company’s annual general meeting. 

PRINCIPLE 5	 MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE 
The Company is committed to complying with its continuous disclosure obligations under the ASX Listing Rules and disclosing to investors and 
other stakeholders all material information about the Company in a timely and responsive manner. 

The Company has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy which is available on the Emeco website. 

The Continuous Disclosure Policy specifies the processes by which the Company ensures compliance with its continuous disclosure 
obligations. The policy sets out the internal notification and decision making procedures in relation to these obligations, and the roles 
and responsibilities of the Company’s officers and employees in the context of these obligations. It emphasises a proactive approach to 
continuous disclosure and requires the Company to comply with the spirit as well as the letter of the ASX continuous disclosure requirements. 
The Company Secretary is responsible for overseeing and coordinating the disclosure of information by the Company to the ASX and for 
administering the policy. 

The policy specifies the Company representatives who are authorised to speak publicly on behalf of the Company and procedures for dealing 
with analysts. It also sets out how the Company deals with market rumour and speculation. Compliance with the policy is reviewed and 
monitored by the Audit and Risk Committee, and also by the Board.

PRINCIPLE 6	 RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS 
The Company has adopted a formal Communications Policy which describes the processes and systems implemented by the Company to 
facilitate communication between the Company, its shareholders and investors. The Communications Policy is available on the Emeco website. 

The Company acknowledges the importance of effective communication with its shareholders. 

All public announcements are also posted on the Company’s website after they have been released to the ASX. The Company also places the 
full text of notices of meetings and explanatory material on its website, as well as copies of its annual report and the Chairman’s address at the 
annual general meeting.

The Company offers to shareholders a number of options to receive electronic communications. Shareholders can elect to receive notification 
by email when payment advices, annual reports, notices of meetings and proxy forms are available online. They can also elect to receive email 
notification of important announcements. 

The Company also encourages effective shareholder participation at general meetings, which is the major forum for shareholders to ask 
questions of the Directors about the performance of the Group. The Company provides its auditor with notice of general meetings of the 
Company, as required by section 249K of the Corporations Act 2001, and requests that its auditor to attend its annual general meetings to 
answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the Independent Auditor’s Report. 

PRINCIPLE 7	 RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 
The Board believes that risk management is fundamental to sound management and that oversight of such matters is an important 
responsibility of the Board. The Board, with assistance from the Audit and Risk Committee, is responsible for ensuring there are adequate 
processes and policies in place to identify, assess and mitigate risk. 

Emeco has adopted a Risk Management Policy which is available on the Emeco website. 

Emeco has also implemented a formal Enterprise Risk Management programme to ensure that risk management concepts and awareness are 
embedded into the culture of the Group. This programme includes the involvement of senior executives and senior operational management. 
The key elements of Emeco’s Enterprise Risk Management programme are as follows:

•	 Classification of risk into strategic, operational, financial and compliance risks.
•	 Quantification and ranking of risk consequences and likelihood.
•	 Identification of strategic risk issues.
•	 Identification of operational risk issues through formalised regional-based risk workshops.
•	 Development of a Company database for communicating and updating activity and progress on risk matters and maintaining risk registers.
•	 Identification, enhancement and development of key internal controls to address risk issues, including risk treatment plans and assigning 

accountabilities for identified risks to senior Emeco employees.
•	 Comprehensive insurance programme.

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the overall risk management framework. It is also required to 
review the Risk Management Policy on an annual basis. 
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Internal assurance and the establishment of an internal audit function 
In May 2010, the Board approved the appointment of Ernst & Young as a supplier of internal audit services. The Company considered there 
was a clear link between the internal audit function and delivering business improvement outcomes (noting that the focus of assurance also 
remains central to this function). Management formally reviews the performance of the internal auditor on an annual basis and reports its 
findings to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

The overall internal assurance process is overseen by the Chief Financial Officer who manages the process, and reports to the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the Emeco Group’s risk management, governance and control frameworks. 

In respect of FY13, the Board has received an assurance from the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. Management has also reported 
to the Board that the Group’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and effectively in all material 
respects.

PRINCIPLE 8	 REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY
The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The Committee is currently comprised of four Independent  
Non-Executive Directors. Details regarding membership of the Committee are set out under Principle 2.  
Each member’s attendance at the two meetings held by the Committee in FY13 is set out at page 40.

The Emeco Group remuneration policy is substantially reflected in the objectives of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  
The Committee’s remuneration objectives are to endeavour to ensure that:

•	 the Directors and senior executives of the Group are remunerated fairly and appropriately;
•	 the remuneration policies and outcomes strike an appropriate balance between the interests of the Company’s shareholders, and rewarding 
and motivating the Group’s executives and employees in order to secure the long term benefits of their energy and loyalty; and

•	 the human resources policies and practices are consistent with and complementary to the strategic direction and human resources 
objectives of the Company as determined by the Board. 

Under its Charter, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is required to review and make recommendations to the Board about: 

•	 the general remuneration strategy for the Group so that it motivates the Group’s executives and employees to pursue the long term growth 
and success of the Group and establishes a fair and transparent relationship between individual performance and remuneration;

•	 the terms of remuneration for the Executive Directors and other senior executives of the Group from time to time including the criteria for 
assessing performance; 

•	 diversity policy compliance and reporting;
•	 remuneration reviews for Executive and Non-Executive Directors;
•	 the outcomes of remuneration reviews for executives collectively, individual Executive Directors and other senior executives of the Group;
•	 changes in remuneration policy and practices, including superannuation and other benefits;
•	 employee equity plans and allocations under those plans; and
•	 the disclosure of remuneration requirements in the Company’s public materials including ASX filings and the annual report.

The Charter of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is available on the Emeco website. 

Emeco clearly distinguishes the structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration from that of Executive Directors and senior executives. 
Non-Executive Directors are remunerated by way of fees in the form of cash benefits and superannuation contributions. They do not receive 
options or bonus payments, or retirement benefits other than superannuation.

A remuneration report detailing the information required by section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to FY13 is included in the 
Directors’ Report on pages 47 to 59.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity during FY13 of the Group was the provision of heavy earthmoving equipment rental solutions to mining companies  
and contractors. 

As set out in this report, the nature of the Group’s operations and principal activities, have been consistent throughout the financial year.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
A review of Group operations, and the results of those operations for FY13, is set out on pages 14 to 23 and in the accompanying  
financial statements.
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DIVIDENDS PAID
In relation to FY12, the Directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 3.5 cents per share which was paid on 28 September 2012.

During FY13, the Directors declared a fully franked interim dividend of 2.5 cents per share which was paid on 27 March 2013. No further 
dividends have been declared or paid since the end of FY13.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
During the financial year under review there were no significant changes in the Group’s state of affairs other than those disclosed in the 
operating and financial review section or in the financial statements and the notes thereto.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE
On 30 July 2013 Mr Keith Gordon announced his intention to step down from his role as Managing Director. Mr Gordon will remain in his 
current position until a new Managing Director is appointed.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS
Likely developments in, and expected results of, the operations of the Emeco Group are referred to at pages 14 to 23. This report omits 
information on likely developments in the Emeco Group in future financial years and the expected results of those operations the disclosure of 
which, in the opinion of the Directors, would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Emeco Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY
The relevant interests of each Director in the shares, debentures, and rights or options over such shares or debentures issued by the 
companies within the Group and other related bodies corporate, as notified by the Directors to the ASX in accordance with section 205G(1) of 
the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report are as follows: 

TABLE 27: DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

DIRECTOR ORDINARY SHARES OPTIONS OR RIGHTS

Robert Bishop 566,600  - 

Alec Brennan 1,581,700  - 

John Cahill 120,000  - 

Keith Gordon 1,125,000  3,590,149* 

Peter Johnston 100,000  - 

Peter Richards 40,000  - 

Erica Smyth 71,049  - 

* Unvested performance shares issued under the Company’s LTI plan as approved by shareholders.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

REMUNERATION REPORT CONTENTS
This report covers the following matters:

1.	 Introduction
2.	 Remuneration Governance
3.	 Executive Remuneration
4.	 Non-Executive Director Remuneration
5.	 Details of Remuneration
6.	 Details of Share-Based Payments
7.	 Service Contracts

1.	 INTRODUCTION
This report details the Emeco Group’s remuneration objectives, practices and outcomes for key management personnel (KMP), which includes 
directors and senior executives, for the year to 30 June 2013. Any reference to “Executives” in this report refers to KMP who are not non-
executive directors.
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1.1	Emeco’s KMP
The following persons were directors of the Company during FY13:

TABLE 28: EMECO DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Robert Bishop

Alec Brennan

John Cahill

Peter Johnston (ceased directorship on 30 June 2013)

Peter Richards 

Erica Smyth 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Keith Gordon, Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

The following persons were also employed as Executives of the Company during FY13:

TABLE 29: EMECO EXECUTIVES

OTHER EXECUTIVES

Stephen Gobby, Chief Financial Officer

Anthony Halls, General Manager Australian Rental

Michael Kirkpatrick, General Manager Corporate Services

Christopher Mossman, President Director Indonesia (ceased employment with Emeco on 31 May 2013)

Grant Stubbs, General Manager Global Asset Management (commenced role on 1 May 2013)

Ian Testrow, President Emeco Americas (ceased role on 25 April 2013) / President New & Developing Business (commenced role on 26 April 2013)

Michael Turner, General Manager Global Asset Management (ceased role on 31 December 2012)

1.2	Summary of changes to the remuneration structure
The following changes were made to the Company’s remuneration structure:

•	 Mr Ian Testrow’s maximum short term incentive (STI) cash entitlement and long term incentive (LTI) entitlement increased from 40% to 50% 
of his total fixed remuneration (TFR). TFR comprises base salary, employer superannuation contributions and other allowances and non-
cash benefits.

•	 All Executives (except for Mr Keith Gordon) became entitled to an additional STI deferred equity component, resulting in maximum total STI 
entitlements increasing to 60% of respective TFR. 

•	 For the FY11, FY12 and FY13 LTI grants, the total shareholder return (TSR) at the end of the three year vesting period (Vesting Period) 
will be measured by reference to the volume weighted average share price (VWAP) during the 20 trading days after the announcement of 
Emeco’s annual results. Respective vesting dates of each grant will be deferred to the expiry of the 20 day VWAP period. 

•	 In respect of Mr Christopher Mossman and all other Indonesian resident LTI plan participants, vested performance rights will automatically 
convert into shares on the vesting date. The terms of the FY11 and FY12 LTI plans provide that vested performance rights can be converted 
to shares at any time within five years of the grant date at the participant’s election.

See sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 for more information. 

With the exception of Mr Ian Testrow, there was no increase in any KMP fixed remuneration in FY13. Mr Testrow’s fixed remuneration increased 
as a result of the expansion of Mr Testrow’s role as President Emeco Americas to include overall responsibility for, in addition to Emeco’s 
Canadian business, the Chilean business. 

2.	 REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE

2.1	The Role of the Board and the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The Board is committed to implementing KMP remuneration structures which achieve a balance between:

•	 rewarding Executives for the achievement of the Company’s short and long term financial, strategic and safety goals; and
•	 aligning the interests and expectations of Executives, shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Board engages with shareholders, management and other stakeholders as required to continuously refine and improve KMP  
remuneration policies and practices. 
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The Remuneration & Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and suggesting recommendations to the Board in relation to:

•	 the general remuneration strategy of the Company; 
•	 the terms of KMP remuneration and the outcomes of remuneration reviews;
•	 employee equity plans and the allocations under those plans;
•	 recruitment, retention, performance measurement and termination policies and procedures for all KMP;
•	 disclosure of remuneration in the Company’s public materials including ASX filings and the Annual Report; and
•	 retirement payments.

The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee in FY13 were Mr Alec Brennan (Chair), Mr John Cahill and Mr Peter Johnston. 
Dr Erica Smyth was also appointed to the Remuneration and Nomination Committee effective from 20 February 2013, however, there were no 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee meetings held in FY13 after her appointment.

2.2	Services from Remuneration Consultants 
The Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee engaged Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd as a remuneration consultant to the 
Board to review the maximum STI entitlements for Executives. Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd was paid $12,403.88 for its services and provided 
no other services during FY13.

The engagement of Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd was based on a documented set of protocols to be followed by Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd, 
members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and KMP for the way in which remuneration recommendations would be developed 
by Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd and delivered to the Board. 

These arrangements were implemented to ensure Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd would be able to carry out its work, including information 
capture and the formation of recommendations, free from undue influence by KMP. 

The Board undertook its own enquiries and review of the processes and procedures followed by Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd during the course 
of the engagement and is satisfied that the remuneration recommendations were made free from undue influence. These inquiries included 
arrangements under which Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd was required to provide the Board with a summary of the way in which it carried out its 
work, details of its interaction with KMP in relation to the engagement and other services.

3.	 EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

3.1	Remuneration policy
The Group remuneration policy is substantially reflected in the objectives of the Company’s Remuneration and Nomination Committee. The 
Committee’s objectives are summarised in the following table: 

TABLE 30: SUMMARY OF GROUP REMUNERATION OBJECTIVES

OBJECTIVE PRACTICES ALIGNED WITH OBJECTIVE

Remunerate fairly and appropriately Maintain balance between the interests of shareholders and the reward of Executives in order to secure the long term benefits of 
Executive energy and loyalty. 

Benchmark remuneration structures to ensure alignment with industry trends.

Align Executive interests with those of 
shareholders

Provide a significant proportion of “at risk” remuneration to ensure that Executive reward is directly linked to the creation of 
shareholder value.

Ensure human resources policies and practices are consistent and complementary to the strategic direction of the Company.

Prohibit the hedging of unvested equity to ensure alignment with shareholder outcomes.

Attract, retain and develop proven 
performers

Provide total remuneration which is sufficient to attract and retain proven and experienced Executives who are capable of:

•	 fulfilling their respective roles with the Group;
•	 achieving the Group’s strategic objectives; and
•	 maximising Group earnings and returns to shareholders. 

The remuneration structure for the Company’s Executives consists of fixed and variable components. The variable component ensures that a 
proportion of pay varies with Company and personal performance. 

3.2	Fixed remuneration
Fixed remuneration comprises base salary, employer superannuation contributions and other allowances and non-cash benefits.

Each Executive’s fixed remuneration is reviewed and benchmarked annually in September. In FY13, this process did not result in any change in 
any Executive’s fixed remuneration. 

However, Mr Ian Testrow’s fixed remuneration increased in FY13 as a result of the expansion of Mr Testrow’s role as President Emeco Americas 
to include overall responsibility for, in addition to Emeco’s Canadian business, the Chilean business. 

The level of remuneration is set to enable the Company to attract and retain proven performers once they are working within the business. 
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Fixed remuneration for Executives is set by reference to the fixed remuneration of comparable positions in comparable sized companies in the 
mining and mining services sectors. These sectors are considered to be appropriate as they are the key source of talent for the Company. The 
Company’s policy is to set the fixed remuneration for Executive positions at or near the 75th percentile of the fixed remuneration for the relevant 
comparable position in these sectors. 

An Executive’s responsibilities, experience, qualifications, performance and geographic location are also taken into account. 

3.3	Variable remuneration
Variable remuneration is performance linked remuneration which consists of STIs and LTIs. 

STI entitlements are for performance assessed over one year. See section 3.3.1 for more information. 

LTI entitlements are for performance over a three year period. See section 3.3.2 for more information. 

If maximum performance is achieved, the maximum remuneration attributable to each incentive component (as a percentage of TFR) for each 
Executive is shown in the following table:

TABLE 31: COMPONENTS OF VARIABLE REMUNERATION

 

MAXIMUM 
STI CASH 

COMPONENT 

MAXIMUM 
STI EQUITY 

COMPONENT MAXIMUM STI MAXIMUM LTI 

MAXIMUM 
TOTAL VARIABLE 
REMUNERATION 

EXECUTIVE [A] (% OF TFR) (% OF TFR) (% OF TFR) (% OF TFR) (% OF TFR)

Keith Gordon, 
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

100 - 100 75 175

Stephen Gobby, 
Chief Financial Officer

50 10 60 50 110

Anthony Halls, 
General Manager Australian Rental

40 20 60 40 100

Michael Kirkpatrick, 
General Manager Corporate Services

40 20 60 40 100

Christopher Mossman, 
President Director Indonesia

40 20 60 40 100

Ian Testrow, 
President Emeco Americas / President New  
& Developing Business

50 10 60 50 110

Michael Turner,  
General Manager Global Asset Management [B]

40 20 60 40 100

[A]	 Mr Grant Stubbs was appointed as an Executive on 1 May 2013. Mr Stubbs had no FY13 STI or LTI entitlement as an Executive. 
[B]	 Mr Michael Turner ceased his role as an Executive on 31 December 2012. Mr Turner’s maximum STI entitlement was adjusted on a pro-rata basis.

3.3.1	  STI remuneration
Cash and Equity

STIs are used to reward the performance of Executives over a full financial year. The actual amount of STI granted is determined at the end 
of the financial year in light of the Executive’s performance against agreed key performance indicators (KPIs). An Executive’s maximum STI 
entitlement is set as a percentage of TFR (refer to table 31 above for details). 

In respect of FY13, STI entitlements are made in cash up to the maximum STI cash component (refer to table 31 above) after the financial year 
audit is completed and following review and approval by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee and the Board. 

Any STI entitlements above the maximum STI cash component are made to Executives in equity. The number of shares issued to each 
Executive is based on the Company’s June 2013 VWAP. However, the grant of the shares are deferred to, and is subject to the Executive 
remaining employed by the Group, the day after the announcement of Emeco’s annual results in 2014.

Key performance indicators

The STI KPIs are chosen to ensure that important non-financial metrics which are aligned with the long term sustainability and strategic 
success of the Company are included, along with financial performance indicators.

The financial KPIs for the FY13 STI plan are:

•	 Budgeted Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) – This profit figure quantifies the Company’s financial performance.
•	 Budgeted Return on Capital (ROC) – This ratio indicates the efficiency and profitability of the Company’s capital investments and is a good 

measure of the quality of the Company’s financial performance.
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The non-financial KPIs for the FY13 STI plan are:

•	 Safety – The Board reviews the Company’s safety performance in detail at each Board meeting and is striving to achieve a “zero-harm” 
workplace at Emeco. Progress towards this aspiration is included in the STI plan KPIs for Executives. The primary metrics include total 
recordable injury frequency rates (TRFIR) and the successful implementation of a range of positive safety initiatives, including the completion 
of safety audits, the enhancement of contractor management systems and the establishment of, and participation in, behavioural based 
safety programs.

•	 Business Improvement Initiatives – The Board wants to ensure that effective risk management frameworks and internal controls are in place 
to protect the Company’s assets and shareholder value and to improve efficiency and profitability by streamlining operational and business 
processes. Implementation of business improvement initiatives is included in the STI plan to reflect its importance to Emeco’s performance. 

•	 Personal Goals – The Board recognises each Executive contributes to the Company’s business strategy differently. Progress of each 
Executive’s personal set goals is monitored by the Board and is included in the STI plan to ensure that an appropriate balance is maintained 
between the Company’s short term and long term objectives.

In the Board’s view, the above KPIs align the reward of Executives with the interests of shareholders.

The following table sets out the KPIs for the FY13 STI plan and the weightings attributable to each of them: 

TABLE 32: FY13 STI PLAN KPI WEIGHTINGS AND ENTITLEMENTS

KPI WEIGHTING ENTITLEMENT

Group Net Profit After Tax  
(NPAT)

[A] 27.5% 0% if NPAT is less than 85% of budgeted outcomes. 
25% if NPAT is equal to 85% of budgeted outcomes. 
50% if NPAT is equal to 90% of budgeted outcomes. 
75% if NPAT is equal to 100% of budgeted outcomes. 
100% if NPAT is greater than or equal to 110% of budgeted outcomes. 
Pro-rata payments between these levels.

Group Return on Capital  
(ROC)

[A] 32.5% 0% if ROC is less than 85% of budgeted outcomes. 
25% if ROC is equal to 85% of budgeted outcomes. 
50% if ROC is equal to 90% of budgeted outcomes. 
75% if ROC is equal to 100% of budgeted outcomes. 
100% if ROC is greater than or equal to 110% of budgeted outcomes. 
Pro-rata payments between these levels.

Safety TRIFR [B] 7.5% 0% if FY13 TRIFR in the relevant region is less than 10% lower than FY12 TRIFR. 
100% if FY13 TRIFR in the relevant region is more than 20% lower than FY12 TRIFR. 
Pro-rata payments between these levels. 
Notwithstanding the above, no entitlement if there is a serious, permanently disabling injury or 
a fatality.

Positive Initiatives 7.5% Managing Director’s entitlement is assessed by the Board. 
Executives’ entitlement is assessed by the Managing Director and approved by the Board.

Business Improvement   15.0% Managing Director’s entitlement is assessed by the Board. 
Executives’ entitlement is assessed by the Managing Director and approved by the Board.

Personal Goals   10.0% Managing Director’s entitlement is assessed by the Board. 
Executives’ entitlement is assessed by the Managing Director and approved by the Board.

[A]	 The Board has discretion to adjust NPAT and ROC for abnormal items. Any such adjustment may have a positive or negative impact on the NPAT and ROC 
outcomes used by the Board to assess STI entitlements. In FY13 there was no award in respect of the NPAT and ROC components of the STI.

[B]	 TRIFR = Number of recordable injuries x 1,000,000 hours 
 		            Total hours worked in 12 months

Changes from Prior Period

The FY13 STI grant to Executives includes the following changes: 

•	 Following the expansion of Mr Ian Testrow’s role as President Emeco Americas to include overall responsibility for, in addition to Emeco’s 
Canadian business, the Chilean business, Mr Testrow’s maximum STI entitlement increased from 40% to 50% of TFR.

•	 Following a review of the Company’s STI plan and advice from Guerdon Associates Pty Ltd, the Company introduced the additional STI 
deferred equity component. Notwithstanding this change to the STI plan, the actual STI outcomes for Executives in FY13 are significantly 
less than the outcomes for FY12. See section 5.2 for more information. 
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3.3.2 	 LTI remuneration
Performance Shares and Performance Rights

Emeco has established an equity-based LTI plan that provides for a reward that varies with Company performance over a three year Vesting 
Period. The LTI plan applies to the Company’s senior managers (which includes Executives).

LTI remuneration aligns the interests of Emeco’s senior managers with the long term interests of its shareholders by providing Emeco’s senior 
managers with an ongoing incentive to deliver the long term objectives of the Emeco Group. 

LTI remuneration is in the form of performance shares or performance rights (LTI Securities). 

A performance share is a fully paid ordinary Emeco share, the vesting of which is subject to the performance condition described below being 
met. A performance right is a right to receive a fully paid ordinary Emeco share, the vesting of which is subject to the performance condition 
being met.

Australian-based executives

In FY13, performance shares were granted to Australian-based Executives, with the number of shares granted being determined by reference 
to the Executive’s maximum LTI entitlement and the fair value of the share as at the commencement of the Vesting Period. Performance shares 
were granted at no cost to the Executive. 

Executives based outside Australia

In FY13, Emeco Executives who were resident outside Australia were issued performance rights instead of performance shares due to the 
complexity and cost of the compliance issues associated with the issue of shares in the relevant foreign jurisdictions. These grants were on 
substantially identical terms to that of the performance shares issued to Australian-based Executives. 

Performance condition 

The performance condition for the vesting of LTI Securities under the FY13 LTI plan (and the FY12 and FY11 LTI plans) is based on the relative 
TSR of the Company measured against a peer group (Peer Group) over the Vesting Period.

TSR is a performance measure that calculates the return to a shareholder taking into account share price growth, dividend payments and 
capital returns.

At the time of the FY13 LTI grant, the Peer Group comprised a total of 94 companies from the S&P/ASX Small Industrials (excluding banks, 
insurance companies, property trusts/companies and investment property trusts/companies and other stapled securities), including 18 
companies that were considered direct peers to Emeco.

At the end of the Vesting Period, the TSR for each company in the Peer Group, including Emeco, will be measured and ranked. Emeco will be 
allocated a percentile rank accordingly, which represents the percentage of companies in the Peer Group that has a lower TSR than Emeco 
(Percentile Rank). 

LTI Securities will only vest if a certain Percentile Rank is achieved by Emeco. There is a maximum and minimum vesting range and vesting 
occurs in this range on a sliding scale as set out in the following table: 

TABLE 33: TSR VESTING SCHEDULE

PERCENTILE RANK PERCENTAGE OF LTI SECURITIES THAT VEST

50% or lower Nil

Between 50% and 75% 50% plus 2% for each Percentile Rank over 50% 

75% or higher 100%

LTI Securities that do not vest at the end of the Vesting Period will lapse. The shares associated with these LTI Securities will be transferred to a 
nominee of the Company and held on trust for subsequent re-allocation. 

Performance shares which vest will automatically be transferred into the name of the participant. Performance rights which vest will 
automatically be converted into shares on the vesting date and transferred into the name of the participant.

Vesting on involuntary termination

If an Executive’s employment is terminated due to death, total and permanent disability, retrenchment or retirement then the TSR of the 
Executive’s unvested LTI Securities will be tested at the date of termination. If the performance condition has been met then the LTI Securities 
will vest based on the vesting schedule. The actual amount of LTI Securities that vest will be pro-rated based on the period that the Executive 
has been employed with Emeco during the Vesting Period.

All unvested LTI Securities lapse if an Executive resigns or is terminated for cause. 

Prohibition of hedging LTI securities 

Emeco’s share trading policy prohibits Executives, directors and other officers of the Company from entering into transactions intended to 
hedge their exposure to Emeco securities which have been issued as part of remuneration.
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Changes from Prior Period

The FY13 LTI grant to Executives includes the following changes: 

•	 Dividends and shadow dividends in respect of Performance Shares and Performance Rights respectively will accumulate during the LTI 
Vesting Period and will be paid at the end of the Vesting Period if and only if there is a vesting and only in respect of vested LTI Securities. 
This was outlined in the Company’s 2012 Annual Report.

•	 If there is an absolute change in control of the Company, unvested LTI Securities will automatically vest only if the performance condition has 
been met at the date of the change of control, provided that the Board will retain discretion to vest a greater amount. This was outlined in 
the Company’s 2012 Annual Report.

•	 Following the expansion of Mr Ian Testrow’s role as President Emeco Americas to include overall responsibility for, in addition to Emeco’s 
Canadian business, the Chilean business, Mr Testrow’s maximum LTI entitlement increased from 40% to 50% of TFR.

•	 In respect of Mr Christopher Mossman (and all other Indonesian resident LTI plan participants), vested performance rights will automatically 
convert into shares on the vesting date. The terms of the FY11 and FY12 LTI plans provide that vested performance rights can be converted 
to shares at any time within five years of the grant date at the participant’s election. The reason for the change relates to the operation of 
Indonesian taxation laws. 

•	 The total shareholder return at the end of the Vesting Period will now be measured by reference to the VWAP during the 20 trading days 
(increased from ten trading days) after the announcement of Emeco’s annual results. This change has been made to the FY11, FY12 and 
FY13 LTI plans in light of the high volatility of Emeco’s share price as the longer VWAP period reduces the likelihood of anomalous TSR 
outcomes. The extension of the VWAP period results in the deferral of the vesting date for each grant by two weeks. 

3.4	Relationship between Remuneration and Company Performance
Emeco’s remuneration objectives effectively align the interests of Emeco’s Executives with the interests of the Company and its shareholders. 

This has been achieved by ensuring that a significant proportion of Executives’ remuneration is “at risk” in the form of STI and LTI 
components. STI entitlements are linked to the achievement of financial measures of the Company’s profitability and return on capital, and 
to the achievement of non-financial measures of operational and strategic outcomes. LTI entitlements are linked to performance relative to a 
comparator group of similar companies. 

The KPIs used to determine STI entitlements have been devised to ensure that Executives are rewarded for robust earnings performance and 
the achievement of key strategic objectives. 

Details of the KPIs for the FY13 STI and LTI plans are set out in the following table:

TABLE 34: FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL LTI AND STI MEASURES

LTI STI

Financial Total shareholder return Budgeted NPAT 
Budgeted ROC

Non-financial Not Applicable Safety  
Business improvement 
Personal goals

Further details regarding Emeco’s Executive remuneration structure are set out in sections 3.2 and 3.3. 

The extent to which Emeco has set financial KPIs which are genuinely challenging - and which entail that STI entitlements are genuinely at 
risk - is highlighted by the fact that only two Executives received a STI payment in FY09 and no Executive received a STI payment in FY10. In 
FY11 all Executives received a STI payment in line with the improved performance of the Group and the successful execution of its strategy. 
STI payments to Executives in FY12 decreased from the amounts paid in FY11, with a further decrease in FY13, principally because FY12 and 
FY13 financial KPIs were not met to the same extent as they were in FY11. Details of these KPIs are set out above in section 3.1.1.

Details of the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth are set out in the following table:

TABLE 35: CONSEQUENCES OF PERFORMANCE ON SHAREHOLDER WEALTH

  FY13 FY12 FY11 FY10 FY09

Profit/Loss from Continuing Operations ($m) 6.0 70.0 50.0 12.3 55.0

Profit/Loss from Discontinued Operations ($m) - (0.2) (0.4) (61.6) (41.8)

Statutory Profit ($m) 6.0 69.7 49.6 (49.3) 13.3

Total Dividends Declared ($m) 15.0 37.9 63.1 12.6 25.3

Statutory Return on Capital Employed 4.2% 13.0% 10.3% (1.1%) 6.0%

Closing Share Price as at 30 June $0.28 $0.87 $1.13 $0.58 $0.41

The primary focus of the Company is to increase its return on capital to levels acceptable to shareholders. After two consecutive years of 
significant improvement in FY 11 and FY12, statutory return on capital employed decreased from 13.0% to 4.2% in FY13. Similarly, statutory 
profit decreased from the five year record high in FY12 by 91.4% in FY13 to $6.0 million.
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As noted above, the STI entitlements of Emeco’s Executives significantly increased in FY11 and FY12 compared with FY09 and FY10 in 
line with the improved performance of the Company. However, the recent decline in the Company’s financial performance has resulted in a 
significant reduction in STI entitlements in FY13.

The Company’s share price declined significantly in FY09 and FY10 before increasing nearly 100% from 58 cents at close of trading on 30 June 
2010 to $1.13 at close of trading on 30 June 2011. During FY12 the Company’s share price peaked at $1.18 and ended the financial year 
at 87 cents. A factor which was a primary cause of the volatility in the Company’s share price during FY12 was the uncertainty in the global 
macroeconomic environment. In FY13, continued macroeconomic uncertainty, a downturn in the resources sector globally, difficult trading 
conditions in Emeco’s markets and a resultant decline in the Company’s earnings saw the Company’s share price close at 28 cents on 30 June 
2013. 

The Company’s dividend policy (which was amended in FY12) is to pay shareholders between 40% and 60% of the Company’s profit, franked 
to the fullest extent possible. The Board has decided not to declare a dividend for the half year ended 30 June 2013. The total dividend in 
respect of FY13 is, therefore, 2.5 cents per share. 

The primary means available to the Company to grow shareholder wealth, whether by way of dividend distributions or increases in the 
Company’s share price, is to strive to increase earnings and return on capital. In this regard, the Company will maintain remuneration policies 
and practices which reward strong financial performance and align the interests of management with the interests of shareholders.

4.	 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION
There has been no change to the basis of setting non-executive director fees since the prior reporting period.

Fees for non-executive directors are fixed and are not linked to the financial performance of the Company. The Board believes this is necessary 
for non-executive directors to maintain their independence.

Non-executive director fees are reviewed and benchmarked annually in September. In FY13, this process did not result in any change in non-
executive director fees. 

An annual cap of $1,200,000 is currently prescribed in the Company’s constitution as the total aggregate remuneration available to non-
executive directors. 

The allocation of fees to non-executive directors within this cap has been determined after consideration of a number of factors including the 
time commitment of directors, the size and scale of the Company’s operations, the skillsets of Board members, the quantum of fees paid to 
non-executive directors of comparable companies and participation in Board Committee work.

The Chairman is entitled to an annual fee of $197,798. All other non-executive directors receive an annual base fee of $113,027. An additional 
annual fee of $8,477 is paid to a director who is a member of a Board Committee. This fee is increased to $11,303 for a director who chairs a 
Committee. All amounts specified in this section are inclusive of superannuation contributions.

5.	 DETAILS OF REMUNERATION

5.1	Remuneration received in relation to FY13 
Details of the elements comprising the remuneration of the Group’s KMP in FY13 are set out in Table 36 below. The table does not include the 
following components of remuneration because they were not provided to KMP during FY13: 

•	 Short term cash profit-sharing bonuses.
•	 Payments made to KMP or in respect of a period before or after the person held the KMP position.
•	 Long term incentives distributed in cash.
•	 Post-employment benefits other than superannuation
•	 Share based payments other than shares and units and share based payments in the form of options. 
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TABLE 36: FY13 KMP REMUNERATION (COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED) 

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
SHARE BASED 

PAYMENTS

SALARY 
AND FEES

STI CASH 
BONUSES 

[1]
NON- 

MONETARY

SUPER- 
ANNUATION 

BENEFITS

OTHER 
LONG  
TERM 

BENEFITS

TERMINA- 
TION 

BENEFITS LTIP MISP TOTAL

% OF 
REMUN- 
ERATION  
PERFOR- 

MANCE  
RELATED

VALUE OF 
OPTIONS 

AS A %  
OF TOTAL 

REMUN- 
ERATION

  $ $ $   $ $ $   $ $ $ % %

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS                          

Alec Brennan 199,612 - -   17,965 - -   - - 217,577 - -

Robert Bishop 119,189 - -   2,315 - -   - - 121,504 - -

John Cahill 121,841 - -   10,966 - -   - - 132,807 - -

Peter Johnston 111,472 - -   10,032 - -   - - 121,504 - -

Peter Richards 111,472 - -   10,032 - -   - - 121,504 - -

Erica Smyth 106,327 - -   9,569 - -   - - 115,896 - -

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR                          

Keith Gordon 894,360 228,691 -   25,000 - -   509,113 - 1,657,164 44.5 -

TOTAL ALL DIRECTORS 1,664,273 228,691 -   85,879 - -   509,113 - 2,487,956 29.7 -

EXECUTIVES                          

Stephen Gobby 464,276 74,229 -   25,000 - -   180,058 - 743,563 34.2 -

Anthony Halls 363,960 59,511 -   25,000 - -   113,714 - 562,185 30.8 -

Michael Kirkpatrick 342,212 55,561 -   21,788 - -   106,977 - 526,538 30.9 -

Christopher Mossman [A] 312,162 49,344 117,729   - - -   (62,128) - 417,107 (3.1) -

Grant Stubbs [B] 58,493 - -   - - -   5,330 - 63,823 - -

Ian Testrow [C] 464,398 82,617 80,807   - - -   112,667 - 740,489 26.4 -

Michael Turner [D] 209,633 26,735 -   18,867 - -   74,635 - 329,870 30.7 -

TOTAL ALL EXECUTIVES 2,215,134 347,997 198,536   90,655 - -   531,253 - 3,383,575 26.0 -
                           
TOTAL 3,879,407 576,688 198,536   176,534 - -   1,040,366 - 5,871,531 27.5 -

[1] 	 The amount awarded to each Executive under the FY13 STI plan was finally determined on 21 August 2013 after completion of performance reviews (Refer to Table 
38).

[A]	 Mr Christopher Mossman’s remuneration has been converted to Australian dollars on the basis of an AUD/USD exchange rate of 1.0334. Mr Mossman ceased 
employment with Emeco on 31 May 2013. 

[B]	 Mr Grant Stubbs commenced his role as KMP on 1 May 2013.
[C]	 Mr Ian Testrow’s remuneration has been converted to Australian dollars on the basis of an AUD/CAD exchange rate of 1.0306.
[D]	 Mr Michael Turner ceased his role as KMP on 31 December 2012.
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Comparative information relating to remuneration of the Group’s KMP for the prior financial year is set out below:

TABLE 37: FY12 KMP REMUNERATION (COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED)

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
SHARE BASED 

PAYMENTS

SALARY 
AND FEES

STI CASH 
BONUSES 

[A]
NON- 

MONETARY

SUPER- 
ANNUATION 

BENEFITS

OTHER 
LONG  
TERM 

BENEFITS

TERMINA- 
TION 

BENEFITS LTIP MISP TOTAL

% OF 
REMUN- 
ERATION  
PERFOR- 

MANCE  
RELATED

VALUE OF 
OPTIONS 

AS A %  
OF TOTAL 

REMUN- 
ERATION

  $ $ $   $ $ $   $ $ $ % %

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

Alec Brennan 197,545 - - 17,779 - - - - 215,324 - -

Robert Bishop 111,089 - - 9,157 - - - - 120,246 - -

John Cahill 120,580 - - 10,430 - - - - 131,010 - -

Peter Johnston 110,318 - - 9,928 - - - - 120,246 - -

Peter Richards 110,318 - - 9,928 - - - - 120,246 - -

Erica Smyth [B] 54,639 - - 4,917 - - - - 59,556 - -

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Keith Gordon 884,673 531,140 - 25,000 - - 563,540 - 2,004,353 54.6 -

TOTAL ALL DIRECTORS 1,589,162 531,140 -   87,139 - -   563,540 - 2,770,981 39.5 -

EXECUTIVES

Stephen Gobby 458,739 143,641 - 25,000 - - 217,934 - 845,314 42.8 -

Michael Kirkpatrick 330,487 85,573 - 29,744 - - 130,896 - 576,700 37.5 -

Anthony Halls 360,560 89,885 - 24,372 - - 124,556 - 599,373 35.8 -

Michael Turner 428,129 107,437 - 24,294 - - 167,719 - 727,579 37.8 -

Christopher Mossman [C] 349,377 76,084 119,204 - - - 72,187 - 616,852 24.0 -

Ian Testrow [D] 332,278 97,386 120,852 - - - 147,901 - 698,417 35.1 -

David Tilbrook [E] 131,538 - - 11,838 - - 75,285 - 218,661 34.4 -

Hamish Christie-Johnston [F] 139,771 - - 12,579 - 26,182 66,322 (31,669) 213,185 16.3 (14.9)

TOTAL ALL EXECUTIVES 2,530,879 600,006 240,056   127,827 - 26,182   1,002,800 (31,669) 4,496,081 34.9 (0.7)

TOTAL 4,120,041 1,131,146 240,056   214,966 - 26,182   1,566,340 (31,669) 7,267,062 36.7 (0.4)

[A] 	The amount awarded to each Executive under the FY12 STI plan was finally determined on 20 August 2012 after completion of performance reviews.
[B]	 Dr Erica Smyth was appointed as a non-executive director on 15 December 2011.
[C]	 Mr Christopher Mossman’s remuneration has been converted to Australian dollars on the basis of an AUD/USD exchange rate of 1.0319.
[D]	 Mr Ian Testrow’s remuneration has been converted to Australian dollars on the basis of an AUD/CAD exchange rate of 1.0342.
[E]	 Mr David Tilbrook ceased employment with Emeco on 7 October 2011.
[F]	 Mr Hamish Christie-Johnston ceased employment with Emeco on 26 November 2011.

5.2	FY13 STI grants
The terms of the FY13 STI Plan are discussed at pages 50 to 51.
Details of the vesting profile of the STI grants awarded to Executives in respect of FY13 are set out below:

TABLE 38: FY13 EXECUTIVE STI VESTING INFORMATION 

 
MAXIMUM STI 

VALUE [1] 
STI CASH 

AWARDED [2]
STI EQUITY 
AWARDED

% OF STI 
AWARDED

% OF STI 
FORFEITED [3]

EXECUTIVE [A] $ $ $ % %

Keith Gordon 919,360 228,691 - 24.88 75.13

Stephen Gobby 293,280 74,229 - 25.31 74.69

Anthony Halls 233,376 59,511 - 25.50 74.50

Michael Kirkpatrick 218,400 55,561 - 25.44 74.56

Christopher Mossman [B] 224,289 49,344 - 22.00 78.00

Ian Testrow [C] 246,618 82,617 - 33.50 66.50

Michael Turner [D] 137,100 26,735  - 19.50 80.50

[1]	 The minimum STI value for each KMP is zero.
[2]	 These payments were made in cash in respect of FY13 and approved on 21 August 2013 based on the achievement of KPIs. 
[3]	 Amounts forfeited were due to KPIs not being met.
[A]	 Mr Grant Stubbs was appointed as an Executive on 1 May 2013. Mr Stubbs was not entitled to an FY13 STI grant in his capacity as an Executive.
[B]	 Mr Christopher Mossman’s remuneration has been converted to Australian dollars on the basis of an AUD/USD exchange rate of 1.0334.
[C]	 Mr Ian Testrow’s remuneration has been converted to Australian dollars on the basis of an AUD/CAD exchange rate of 1.0306. 
[D]	 Mr Michael Turner ceased his role as an Executive on 31 December 2012. Mr Turner’s maximum STI value and STI awards were adjusted on a pro-rata basis.
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6.	 DETAILS OF SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

6.1	Equity instruments 

6.1.1	 LTI grants
The terms of the LTI plan are discussed at pages 52 to 53.

Grants of LTI Securities made to Executives under the Company’s LTI Plan in FY10, FY11, FY12 and FY13 are set out in the following table:

TABLE 39: LTI SECURITY GRANTS TO EXECUTIVES

EXECUTIVE
GRANT  
DATE

EQUITY 
INSTRUMENT

NUMBER 
GRANTED

MAXIMUM 
VALUE [1]

% 
 VESTED  

IN FY13

% 
FORFEITED 

IN FY13
VESTING  
DATE [2]

FAIR 
VALUE PER 

SHARE/
RIGHT AT 

GRANT 
DATE [3]

Keith Gordon 19/04/2010 Rights 925,926 $456,131 51.3% 48.7% 30/09/2012 $0.49

  19/11/2010 Shares 1,183,929 $663,000 - - Sep-13 $0.56

  18/11/2011 Shares 907,263 $689,520 - - Sep-14 $0.76

[A] 20/11/2012 Shares 1,498,957 $410,714 - - Sep-15 $0.27

Stephen Gobby 19/04/2010 Rights 300,926 $148,243 51.3% 48.7% 30/09/2012 $0.49

  19/11/2010 Shares 419,643 $235,000 - - Sep-13 $0.56

  18/11/2011 Shares 321,579 $244,400 - - Sep-14 $0.76

  19/10/2012 Shares 531,304 $244,400 - - Sep-15 $0.46

Anthony Halls 19/04/2010 Rights 166,667 $82,104 51.3% 48.7% 30/09/2012 $0.49

  19/11/2010 Shares 267,143 $149,600 - - Sep-13 $0.56

  18/11/2011 Shares 204,716 $155,584 - - Sep-14 $0.76

  19/10/2012 Shares 338,226 $155,584 - - Sep-15 $0.46

Michael Kirkpatrick 19/04/2010 Rights 185,185 $91,226 51.3% 48.7% 30/09/2012 $0.49

  19/11/2010 Shares 250,000 $140,000 - - Sep-13 $0.56

  18/11/2011 Shares 191,579 $145,600 - - Sep-14 $0.76

  19/10/2012 Shares 316,522 $145,600 - - Sep-15 $0.46

Christopher Mossman [B] 19/04/2010 Rights 70,574 $34,766 51.3% 48.7% 30/09/2012 $0.49

  19/11/2010 Rights 107,012 $59,927 0% 100.0% Sep-13 $0.56

  23/12/2011 Rights 192,093 $145,991 0% 100.0% Sep-14 $0.76

  19/10/2012 Rights 323,875 $148,983 0% 100.0% Sep-15 $0.46

Grant Stubbs 19/11/2010 Shares 69,643 $39,000 - - Sep-13 $0.56

  23/12/2011 Shares 68,684 $52,200 - - Sep-14 $0.76

[C] 19/10/2012 Shares 93,214 $52,200 - - Sep-15 $0.56

Ian Testrow 19/04/2010 Rights 239,077 $117,775 51.3% 48.7% 30/09/2012 $0.49

  19/11/2010 Rights 269,393 $150,860 - - Sep-13 $0.56

  18/11/2011 Rights 189,000 $143,640 - - Sep-14 $0.76

  19/10/2012 Rights 451,371 $207,631 - - Sep-15 $0.46

Michael Turner 19/04/2010 Rights 240,741 $118,594 51.3% 48.7% 30/09/2012 $0.49

  19/11/2010 Shares 314,286 $176,000 - - Sep-13 $0.56

  18/11/2011 Shares 240,526 $182,800 - - Sep-14 $0.76

  19/10/2012 Shares 397,391 $182,800 - - Sep-15 $0.46

[1]	 The minimum value of each grant is zero.
[2]	 For LTI Securities granted in FY11, FY12 and FY13 the earliest vesting date is the twentieth trading day after the announcement of the Company’s annual results in 

2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively. 
[3]	 The fair value of the LTI Securities was determined using a Monte Carlo share price simulation model, and is allocated to each reporting period evenly over the 

period from Grant Date to vesting date. The value disclosed in the KMP remuneration table (table 36) is the portion of the fair value of the LTI Securities recognised 
in FY13.

[A]	 The number of performance shares granted to Mr Keith Gordon (and all Executives except for Mr Grant Stubbs) in respect of the FY13 LTI grant was determined by 
reference to the fair value of $0.46 per share as at 18 September 2012, being the commencement of the Vesting Period.

[B]	 Mr Christopher Mossman ceased employment with Emeco on 31 May 2013. Accordingly, all unvested LTI Securities granted to Mr Mossman were forfeited in 
accordance with the terms of the respective grants.

[C]	 Mr Grant Stubbs commenced his role as KMP on 1 May 2013, after the FY13 grant date. The number of performance shares granted to Mr Stubbs in respect of the 
FY13 LTI grant was $0.56 per share, which was the value of the performance shares issued to non-KMP.
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6.1.2	 Management Incentive Share Plan 
Emeco established a Management Incentive Share Plan (MISP) in 2005. The MISP was closed in 2008 at which time the last allocation of 
shares was made to KMP. 

MISP Terms and Conditions

The Company provided each MISP participant with an interest-free, limited recourse loan (Loan) to enable them to subscribe for the MISP 
shares.

The shares vest over a five year period as set out in the following table:

TABLE 40: TSR VESTING SCHEDULE

VESTING DATE % OF SHARES WHICH VEST TOTAL % OF VESTED SHARES % OF UNVESTED SHARES

2 years after the issue date 6.25% 6.25% 93.75%

3 years after the issue date 18.75% 25.00% 75.00%

4 years after the issue date 31.25% 56.25% 43.75%

5 years after the issue date 43.75% 100.00% 0.00%

If a MISP participant ceases employment with the Group before all of the MISP shares vest on the fifth anniversary of the issue date, the 
Company is required to buy back, cancel or transfer to a nominee of the Board all of the shares for a purchase price which is subject to the 
Company setting off the Loan amount outstanding in respect of the shares. In relation to the unvested shares, the purchase price is the Loan 
amount outstanding in respect of these shares. In relation to the vested shares, the purchase price is the market value of these shares.

Subject to the approval of the Board, the Loan can be repaid at any time but must be repaid by the tenth anniversary of the commencement 
date of the MISP, being 1 July 2015.

Any dividends or capital distributions which may become payable in respect of the MISP shares may be applied by the Company in reducing 
the amount of the Loan.

The share issues under the MISP to each MISP participant, and the time based vesting conditions in respect of the shares, are not dependent 
on the satisfaction of a performance condition because the issue of shares and the inclusion of time based vesting conditions in the terms of 
issue were intended to provide participants with an incentive to remain with the Group. That is, the terms upon which the shares were issued to 
the participants were intended to operate as a retention incentive arrangement rather than a performance incentive arrangement.

2013 MISP entitlements

The last allocation of shares to KMP under the Company’s MISP was made to Mr Ian Testrow in June 2006. During FY13, the Company 
recognised share based payments to Mr Testrow under the MISP as set out below:

TABLE 41: MISP GRANT TO IAN TESTROW

MISP GRANT TO IAN TESTROW  

Number of shares issued 300,000

Issue price of shares $1.16

Grant date 12/06/2006

Amount of Loan outstanding as at 30 June 2013 $249,000

Highest amount of indebtedness during FY13 $267,000

Fair value recognised as remuneration during FY13 $0.00

6.1.3	 Emeco Employee Share Ownership Plan
Emeco’s Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) is an elective plan which is open to all Australian employees. During FY13 several Executives 
participated in the ESOP. 

Details of the shares purchased on their behalf and the matching shares allocated to them under the ESOP are set out below: 

TABLE 42: ESOP SHARES PURCHASED AND ACQUIRED BY EXECUTIVES

EXECUTIVE SHARES PURCHASED MATCHING SHARES GRANTED

Stephen Gobby 8,974 1,790

Anthony Halls 8,974 1,790

Michael Turner 8,974 1,790

Grant Stubbs 8,974 1,790
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ESOP Terms and Conditions

Australian-based employees may salary sacrifice a minimum of $500 and a maximum of $5,000 of pre-tax salary or wage to acquire Emeco 
ordinary shares in accordance with the terms of the ESOP. 

For every 5 shares acquired by the employee under the ESOP, Emeco provides one matching share at no cost to the employee. 

The matching shares are subject to a vesting condition. Under the ESOP, a participating employee must remain employed with Emeco for one 
year after the end of the calendar year in which the matching shares are acquired (Restriction Period). If an employee leaves the Company 
before the expiry of the Restriction Period, the matching shares are forfeited. 

All shares acquired under the ESOP are held in a trust on behalf of ESOP participants by the trustee, Pacific Custodians Pty Limited, which is 
an independent party separate from the Company. 

The ESOP shares are held by the trustee during the Restriction Period. The ESOP administrator, Link Market Services, releases the ESOP 
shares from the trust at the earlier of the expiry of the Restriction Period and the termination of the employee’s employment with Emeco. 

7.	 SERVICE CONTRACTS

7.1	Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer: Mr Keith Gordon
Mr Gordon’s employment is for an indefinite term. Mr Gordon’s employment may be terminated by 6 months’ notice from either party. However, 
Emeco may terminate Mr Gordon’s employment with a lesser period of notice on payment in lieu of notice not given.

Under Mr Gordon’s employment agreement the following terms apply if there is a change of control event in respect of Emeco Holdings Ltd:

•	 FY11 and FY12 LTI grants will automatically vest. The FY13 LTI grant and all future LTI grants will vest only if the performance condition is 
met at the date of the change of control, provided that the Board will retain discretion to vest a greater amount.

•	 For a period of two years following a change of control event in respect of Emeco Holdings Ltd, Mr Gordon will be entitled to 12 months’ 
notice of termination. At the expiry of the two year period, the notice period will be reduced to 6 months. 

•	 If, within two years of a change of control event in respect of Emeco Holdings Ltd, Emeco materially and substantially changes Mr Gordon’s 
duties beyond the duties ordinarily performed by a Chief Executive Officer (other than with Mr Gordon’s agreement), Mr Gordon may serve 
written notice on the Board advising that the change in duties constitutes a repudiation of the contract and that Mr Gordon elects to bring 
his employment to an end, in which case Mr Gordon will be entitled to receive a payment equivalent to 12 months’ base salary in lieu of 
notice. 

7.2	Chief Financial Officer: Mr Stephen Gobby
Mr Gobby’s contract is for an indefinite term and provides that it is terminable on either party giving 6 months’ notice or on the payment to him 
of up to 6 months’ salary in lieu of notice. If, however, a change of control of Emeco Holdings Ltd occurs or his duties are materially changed, 
then he is entitled to terminate the contract and to be paid a maximum amount of 6 months’ base salary and the full amount of his STI bonus 
on a pro-rata basis.

7.3	Other Executives
Except as outlined above in sections 7.1 and 7.2, each Executive is employed pursuant to contracts which provide for an indefinite term and 
which are terminable on either party giving 6 months’ notice or on the payment to the Executive of up to 6 months’ salary in lieu of notice. No 
termination payments other than salary in lieu of notice and accrued statutory leave entitlements are payable under these contracts.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
The Company has entered into a deed of access, indemnity and insurance with each of its current and former Directors, the Chief Financial 
Officer and the Company Secretary. Under the terms of the deed, the Company indemnifies the officer or former officer, to the extent permitted 
by law, for liabilities incurred as an officer of the Company. The deed provides that the Company must advance the officer reasonable costs 
incurred by the officer in defending certain proceedings or appearing before an inquiry or hearing of a government agency. 

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has paid premiums in respect of contracts insuring current and former officers of the 
Emeco Group, including Executives, against liabilities incurred by such an officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
contracts of insurance prohibit disclosure of the nature of the liability cover and the amount of the premium. 

The Group has not indemnified its auditor, KPMG.
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES
During the year, KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to the audit and review of the financial 
statements.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied that the provision of those non-
audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been reviewed by the Audit 
and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

•	 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing the risks and rewards.

Details of the amounts paid to the Company’s auditor, KPMG, and its network firms, for audit and non-audit services are found in Note 9 of the 
Notes to the Financial Statements.

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 61 and 
forms part of the Directors’ Report.

ROUNDING
The amounts contained in the Financial Report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (unless otherwise stated) under the option available 
to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998. The Company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Keith Gordon 
Managing Director

Dated at Perth, 21 day of August 2013.
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001
To: the directors of Emeco Holdings Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 there have been:

(i)	 no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
(ii)	 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

R Gambitta 
Partner

Perth

21 August 2013

	

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member
firm of the KPMG network of independent member
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation.
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    2013 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS  

Revenue from rental income  370,025  440,299 

Revenue from the sale of machines and parts  27,533  66,689 

Revenue from maintenance services  42,132  58,182 

 439,690  565,170 

Changes in machinery and parts inventory  (28,953)  (68,887)

Repairs and maintenance  (122,225)  (155,101)

Employee expenses  (48,139)  (47,937)

Hired in equipment and labour  (7,762)  (3,231)

Gross profit  232,611  290,014 

Other income 7  3,352  3,900 

Other expenses 8  (48,406)  (31,920)

Impairment of tangible assets 8  (12,116)  (1,487)

EBITDA (1)  175,441  260,507 

Impairment of goodwill 8  (17,844)  - 

Depreciation expense 8  (112,547)  (135,470)

Amortisation expense 8  (192)  (217)

EBIT (2)  44,858  124,820 

Finance income 8  1,449  361 

Finance costs 8  (30,223)  (24,775)

Profit before tax expense  16,084  100,406 

Tax expense 10  (10,080)  (30,434)

Profit from continuing operations  6,004  69,972 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  

Loss from discontinued operations (net of tax) before equity transfers 14  -  (71)

FCTR of discontinued operations disposed (3) 14  -  (156)

Loss on sale of discontinued operations (net of tax) 14  -  - 

Loss from discontinued operations  -  (227)

Profit for the year  6,004  69,745 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss:  

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations  16,731  3,252 

FCTR of discontinued operations disposed (3)  -  156 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges  1,697  (54)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  18,428  3,354 

Total comprehensive income for the period  24,432  73,099 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of 
the financial statements set out on pages 67 to 124.
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    2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO:  

Equity holders of the Company  6,004  69,745 

Profit for the year  6,004  69,745 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO:  

Equity holders of the Company  24,432  73,099 

Total comprehensive income for the year  24,432  73,099 

 

    2013 2012

  NOTE CENTS CENTS

EARNINGS PER SHARE:  

Basic earnings per share 35 1.03 11.4

Diluted earnings per share 35 1.02 11.2

Earnings per share-continuing operations

Basic earnings per share 35 1.03 11.5

Diluted earnings per share 35 1.02 11.2

(1)	 EBITDA - Earnings before interest expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
(2)	 EBIT - Earnings before interest expense and tax.
(3)	 FCTR - Transfer of Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (FCTR) from equity reserve to profit upon foreign operations of the Group being disposed.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of 
the financial statements set out on pages 67 to 124.
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    2013 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

CURRENT ASSETS  

Cash assets 17  5,754  73,091 

Trade and other receivables 18  97,073  99,009 

Derivatives 19  691  776 

Inventories 20  14,758  35,114 

Prepayments  2,975  3,180 

Current tax asset 11  13,940  563 

Assets held for sale 15  7,200  405 

Total current assets  142,391  212,138 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  

Trade and other receivables 18  856  1,057 

Derivatives 19  4,489  3,643 

Intangible assets and goodwill 21  158,076  173,948 

Property, plant and equipment 22  820,210  825,220 

Deferred tax assets 12  -  110 

Total non-current assets  983,631  1,003,978 

Total assets  1,126,022  1,216,116 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Trade and other payables 23  40,562  64,296 

Derivatives 19  1,281  2,239 

Interest bearing liabilities 24  9,308  3,339 

Current tax liabilities 11  -  14,100 

Provisions 26  3,388  3,966 

Total current liabilities  54,539  87,940 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Other payables 23  1,284  - 

Derivatives 19  1,502  3,369 

Interest bearing liabilities 24  406,118  452,270 

Deferred tax liabilities 12  50,159  31,106 

Provisions 26  1,244  1,044 

Total non-current liabilities   460,307  487,789 

Total liabilities   514,846  575,729 

Net assets   611,176  640,387 

EQUITY  

Share capital 13  593,616  610,424 

Reserves  (10,717)  (29,456)

Retained earnings  28,277  59,419 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company  611,176  640,387 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements set 
out on pages 67 to 124.
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SHARE 
CAPITAL

SHARE  
BASED 

PAYMENT 
RESERVE

HEDGING 
RESERVE

FOREIGN 
CURRENCY 

TRANSLATION 
RESERVE

RESERVE 
FOR OWN 

SHARES
RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL 
EQUITY

  $’000   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2011 610,304   6,462 (3,987) (24,222)  (10,715)  24,392  602,234 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
YEAR

Profit or (loss) - - - -  -  69,745  69,745 

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences - - - 3,252  -  -  3,252 

Exchange differences of disposed foreign operations - - -  156  -  -  156 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash

flow hedge, net of tax - - (54)  -  -  -  (54)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year -   - (54)  3,408  -  69,745  73,099 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS, RECORDED 
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY

Contributions by and distributions to owners

Own shares acquired by employee share plan trust - - - -  (3,041)  -  (3,041)

Dividends to equity holders 98 - - -  -  (34,718) (34,620)

Share-based payment transactions 22 (1) 2,693 - -  -  -  2,715 

Total contributions by and distributions to owners 120   2,693 - -  (3,041)  (34,718)  (34,946)

Balance at 30 June 2012 610,424   9,155 (4,041) (20,814)  (13,756)  59,419  640,387 

(1)	 Payments made in satisfaction of outstanding loans on vested shares under the Company’s Management Incentive Share Plan.

SHARE 
CAPITAL

SHARE  
BASED 

PAYMENT 
RESERVE

HEDGING 
RESERVE

FOREIGN 
CURRENCY 

TRANSLATION 
RESERVE

RESERVE 
FOR OWN 

SHARES
RETAINED 
EARNINGS

TOTAL 
EQUITY

  $’000   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2012  610,424    9,155  (4,041)  (20,814) (13,756) 59,419 640,387 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
YEAR                

Profit or (loss)  -   - - -  - 6,004 6,004 

Other comprehensive income                

Foreign currency translation differences  -   - -  16,731  -  - 16,731 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash                

flow hedge, net of tax  -   -  1,697  -  -  - 1,697 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  -   - 1,697 16,731  -  6,004 24,432 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS, RECORDED 
DIRECTLY IN EQUITY                

Contributions by and distributions to owners                

Own shares acquired by employee share plan trust  -   - - -  (2,678)  -  (2,678)

Share Buy-back  (16,919)   - - -  -  - (16,919)

Dividends to equity holders  96   - -  -  -  (37,146) (37,050)

Share-based payment transactions  15   2,989 -  -  -  - 3,004 

Total contributions by and distributions to owners  (16,808)   2,989 -  -  (2,678)  (37,146) (53,643)

Balance at 30 June 2013  593,616    12,144  (2,344)  (4,083) (16,434)  28,277 611,176 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements set 
out on pages 67 to 124.
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    30 JUNE 2013 30 JUNE 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Cash receipts from customers 449,976  544,227 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (221,779)  (277,481)

Cash generated from operations  228,197  266,746 

Interest received  1,449  361 

Interest paid  (27,408)  (22,857)

Taxes paid  (20,935)  (13,783)

Net cash from operating activities 30(ii)  181,303  230,467 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets  49,776  35,191 

Payment for property, plant and equipment  (178,900)  (317,008)

Net cash used in investing activities  (129,124)  (281,817)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from borrowings  553,453  181,302 

Repayment of borrowings  (607,943)  (162,195)

Proceeds from issue of notes (USPP US$140m) 24  -  144,022 

Purchase of own shares  (19,597)  (3,042)

Payment for debt establishment costs  (4,709)  (1,849)

Payment of finance lease liabilities  (3,339)  (4,562)

Dividends paid  (37,146)  (34,718)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities  (119,281)  118,958 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash  (67,102)  67,608 

Cash at 1 July  73,091  5,502 

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  (235)  (19)

Cash at 30 June 30(i)  5,754  73,091 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 67 to 124.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2013

1	 REPORTING ENTITY
Emeco Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office is Level 3,  
71 Walters Drive, Osborne Park WA 6017. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2013 
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The Group is a for profit entity and primarily involved in the 
provision of safe, reliable and maintained heavy earthmoving equipment solutions to customers in the mining industry (refer note 16).

2	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)	 Statement of compliance
The consolidated statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 August 2013.

(b)	 Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material items in the 
statement of financial position:

•	 derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;

•	 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 5.

(c) 	Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency and the functional 
currency of the majority of the Group.

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, all financial 
information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated. 

(d) 	Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with the IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment of assets

The recoverable amount of each non financial asset is determined as the higher of the value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell, 
in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy note 3(h)(ii). Determination of the recoverable amount of an asset based on a 
discounted cash flow model, requires the use of estimates and assumptions, including; the appropriate rate at which to discount the cash 
flows, the timing of the cash flow, market risk premium, interest rates, exchange rates, growth rates, future capital requirements and future 
operating performance. Changes in these estimates and assumptions impact the recoverable amount of the asset, and accordingly could 
result in an adjustment to the carrying amount of that asset. The carrying amount of such assets is set out in note 21.

In light of the recent developments in the Indonesian CGU, the Company is reviewing the various options for the ongoing management 
and operation of this CGU. The outcome of the review may not be known for some time. Impairment testing of the Indonesian CGU 
has been assessed on a value in use methodology on the basis the business continues to operate in its current form. Should the review 
conclude a different strategy for the CGU, the estimates and assumption that impact the recoverable amount of the assets may change, 
which could result in an adjustment to the carrying amount of that asset.

Recognition of tax losses

In accordance with the Company’s accounting policies for deferred taxes (refer note 3(o)), a deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax 
losses only if it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise these losses. This includes estimates and judgements about 
future profitability and tax rates. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could impact on the amount and probability of unused tax 
losses and accordingly the recoverability of deferred tax assets. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are set out in note 12.

Share based payments

The share based payments are recognised in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies (refer note 3(j)(v)) where the value of the 
share based payment is expensed from the grant date to vesting date. This valuation includes estimates and judgements about volatility, 
risk free rates, dividend yields, total shareholder return (TSR) and underlying share price. Changes in these estimates and assumptions 
could impact on the measurement of the share based payment as set out in note 27.
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2	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(e)	 Changes in accounting policies
From 1 July 2012 the Group applied amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements outlined in AASB 2011-9 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. The change in accounting policy 
only relates to disclosures and has had no impact on consolidated earnings per share or net income. The changes have been applied 
retrospectively and require the Group to separately present those items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit 
or loss in the future from those that will never be reclassified to profit or loss. These changes are included in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

(f)	 Going concern basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using the going concern assumption which contemplates the realisation of assets and the 
settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  As at 30 June 2013 the Group has a working capital position of A$76.6m, 
unused debt facilities of $214.1m and was in compliance with its borrowing facility covenants.

The Group has forecast the continued compliance with its financial covenants. That compliance is dependent on the Group achieving 
its revenue and EBITDA forecasts which the Directors consider reasonable. However, the present economic environment, where mining 
industry activity has slowed and the pace of recovery remains uncertain, increases the risk to the Group achieving its forecasts and in 
turn meeting its financial covenants.  The Directors believe the operational strategies being implemented will mitigate this risk and ensure 
continued compliance with covenants. 	

3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, 
and have been applied consistently by Group entities except for the changes in accounting policies as explained in note 2(e).

Certain comparative amounts in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income have been reclassified to 
conform with the current years presentation.

(a) 	Basis of consolidation

(i) 	 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

(ii)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the 
extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

(b) 	Foreign currency

(i) 	 Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost 
in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised 
cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year. 

(ii) 	Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to the 
functional currency at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian 
dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve 
(FCTR) in equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative 
amount in the FCTR related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

(c) 	Financial instruments

(i) 	 Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets are 
recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or 
liability. 
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) 	Financial instruments (continued)

(i) 	 Non-derivative financial assets (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the 
Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

The Group has non-derivative financial assets being: loans and receivables.

	 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables.

	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months or less from the acquisition 
date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term 
commitments.

(ii)	 Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured 
at amortised costs using the effective interest rate method unless the Group has applied fair value hedge accounting, in which case the 
non-derivative financial liability or a portion is recognised at fair value in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, debt securities issued, bank overdrafts, and trade and other payables.

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component 
of cash and cash equivalents for the statement of cash flows.

(iii) 	Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives are recognised 
initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described below. 

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedging 
instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged 
risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, 
both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly 
effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged items attributable to hedged risk and whether 
the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80-125 percent. For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction 
should be highly probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or 
loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and changes therein are accounted for as described below.

	 Fair value hedges
The risk being hedged in a fair value hedge is a change in the fair value of an asset or liability or unrecognised firm commitment that may 
affect the income statement. Changes in fair value might arise through changes in interest rates or foreign exchange rates. The Group’s 
fair value hedges principally consist of interest rate swaps that are used to protect against changes in the fair value of fixed-rate long-term 
financial instruments due to movements in market interest rates. The application of fair value hedge accounting results in the fair value 
adjustment on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk being recognised in the income statement at the same time the hedging 
instrument impacts the income statement. If a hedging relationship is terminated, the fair value adjustment to the hedged item continues 
to be recognised as part of the carrying amount of the item or group of items and is amortised to the income statement as a part of 
the effective yield over the period to maturity. Where the hedged item is derecognised from the Group’s balance sheet, the fair value 
adjustment is included in the income statement as a part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) 	Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) 	Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting (continued)
	 Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk 
associated with the recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion 
of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity. 
Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is retained in other comprehensive income and 
reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the non-financial item affects profit or loss. In other cases the 
amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss. If the hedging 
instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, 
then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in equity 
is reclassified in profit or loss.

	 Other non-trading derivatives
When a derivative financial instrument is not designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting, all changes in its fair 
value are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(iv) 	Share capital
	 Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a 
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

	 Purchase of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is purchased by the employee share plan trust, the amount of the consideration paid, which 
includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Purchased shares are classified 
as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own shares net of any tax effects. When treasury shares are sold or reissued 
subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is 
transferred to/from retained earnings.

	 Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

	 Repurchase and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, 
net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchasing shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented in 
the reserve for own shares. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in 
equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented in retained earnings.

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment

(i) 	 Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the 
following:

•	 the cost of materials and direct labour,
•	 any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use,
•	 when the Group has an obligation to remove the assets or restore the site, and estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the 

items and restoring the site on which they are located, and
•	 capitalised borrowing costs.

Cost includes transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and 
equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from 
disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(ii) 	Subsequent costs 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow 
to the Group. Expenditure on major overhauls and refurbishments of equipment is capitalised in property, plant and equipment as it is 
incurred, where that expenditure is expected to provide future economic benefits. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant 
and equipment and on-going repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

(iii)	Depreciation 
Items of property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, are depreciated over their estimated useful lives and are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income. Estimates of remaining useful lives, residual values and the depreciation method are made on a 
regular basis, with annual re-assessments for major items.

Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed 
and held ready for use. Where subsequent expenditure is capitalised into the asset, the estimated useful life of the total new asset is 
reassessed and depreciation charged accordingly.

Depreciation on buildings, leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and fittings, office equipment, motor vehicles and sundry plant is 
calculated on a straight-line basis. Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated and charged on machine hours worked over their 
estimated useful life. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold Improvements
Plant and Equipment
Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings
Office Equipment
Motor Vehicles
Sundry Plant

15 years
3 – 15 years
10 years
3 – 10 years
5 years
7 – 10 years

(e)	 Intangible assets and goodwill

(i) 	 Goodwill
Goodwill (negative goodwill) arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.

	 Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

(ii)	 Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

(iii)	Amortisation
Except for goodwill, intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis in profit or loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date 
they are available for use.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, 
from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

•	 Software	 	 0 – 3 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(f) 	 Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other 
costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost 
includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(f) 	 Inventories (continued)
Inventory is occasionally sold under a Rental Purchase Option (RPO). Under the RPO the purchaser is entitled to a rebate upon exercising 
the option. A charge is recognised against the carrying value of inventory on RPOs to reflect the consumption of economic benefits related 
to that inventory.

(g) 	Work in progress 
Progressive capital work to inventory and fixed assets are carried in work in progress accounts within their respective statement of financial 
position classifications with fixed assets being disclosed as a “capital work in progress”. Upon work completion the balance is capitalised.

(h) 	Impairment 

(i) 	 Non-derivative financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss, including an interest in an equity accounted investee, is assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss events had an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the 
Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy and economic 
conditions that correlate the defaults.

The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans and receivables) at both a specific 
asset and collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed for specific impairment. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of 
loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses 
are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount 
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in 
profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(ii) 	Non-financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, excluding inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount of an asset or cash generating unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing fair value, the 
Group has assessed the amount it could obtain on disposal, less realisation costs. Fair value is calculated with regard to the discounted 
post tax cash flows or comparable transactions for similar businesses. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be 
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. For the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has 
been allocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU. Corporate assets are 
allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the CGU to which the 
corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 
CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised.

Goodwill assets were tested for impairment at 30 June 2013 as part of the Group’s process of annually testing goodwill for impairment.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(i)	 Assets held for sale or distribution
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale or 
distribution rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale or distribution. Immediately before classification as held for 
sale or distribution, the assets, or components of a disposal group, are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. 
Thereafter generally the assets, or disposal group, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any 
impairment loss on a disposal group first is allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except 
that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets and investment property which 
continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale or 
distribution and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any 
cumulative impairment loss.

Once classified as held for sale or distribution, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated. 

(j) 	 Employee benefits

(i) 	 Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and has 
no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an 
employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

(ii) 	Other long-term employee benefits
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return 
for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related 
assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on Commonwealth Government bonds that have maturity dates 
approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to 
be paid.

(iii) 	Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is committed demonstrably, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, 
to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment before the normal retirement date. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are 
recognised as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the 
number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.

(iv) 	Short-term benefits
Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

(v)	 Share based payment transactions
(a)	 A management incentive share plan (MISP) allows certain consolidated entity employees to acquire shares of the Company. 

Employees have been granted a limited recourse 10 year interest free loan in which to acquire the shares. The loan has not been 
recognised as the Company only has recourse to the value of the shares. The arrangement is accounted for as an in-substance 
option over ordinary shares. The grant date fair value of the shares granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense with 
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares. The 
fair value of the MISP granted is measured using a Black Scholes pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 
which the in-substance options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of 
shares that vest except where forfeiture is only due to shares prices not achieving the threshold for vesting. 

(b)	 The share option programme allows certain employees to acquire shares of the Company. The grant date fair value of options 
granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period during which 
the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an option-
pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an 
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to market conditions 
not being met, i.e. share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting. The share option programme concluded on 4 August 2011.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(j) 	 Employee benefits (continued)

(v)	 Share based payment transactions (continued)
(c)	 A long term incentive plan (LTIP) allows certain management personnel to receive shares or rights of the Company upon satisfying 

performance conditions. Under the LTIP rights or shares granted to each LTIP participant vest to the employee after 3 years if the 
prescribed performance condition is met. The performance condition is a performance hurdle based on relative total shareholder 
return (TSR). The peer group that the Company’s TSR is measured against consists of 93 Companies (this number may change as a 
result of takeovers, mergers etc) and includes 18 Companies that are considered direct peers to Emeco, in addition to the S&P/ASX 
Small Industrials (excluding banks, insurance companies, property trust companies and investment property trust/companies and 
other stapled securities). The fair value of the performance rights or shares granted under the LTIP have been measured using Monte 
Carlo simulation analysis and are expensed evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. 

	 If the terms of the LTIP are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. An additional 
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share based payment arrangement, or is otherwise 
beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification. 

(d)	 In FY11 an employee share ownership plan (ESOP) was established to allow certain employees to acquire shares in the Company via 
salary sacrifice up to a limit of $5,000 each year. For every five shares purchased by the employee, recognised as treasury shares, 
the Company provides one matching share, recognised as a share based payment. Under the ESOP, the matching share will vest to 
the employee after one year after the end of calendar year in which the matching shares are acquired. These matching shares are fair 
valued and are expensed evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. ESOP employees are entitled to dividends on the 
matching share when the dividends are declared.

(e)	 Dividends received while satisfying the performance conditions of share issues under the MISP are allocated against the employee 
outstanding loan. For all previous LTIP and ESOP plans, all LTIP and ESOP recipients are entitled to any dividends that are declared 
during the vesting period. For the Group’s Executives, commencing with the FY13 grant and all subsequent grants, dividends 
or shadow dividends will not be paid on any unvested securities and dividends or shadow dividends will accrue on unvested LTI 
securities and will only be paid at the time of vesting on those LTI securities that vest, provided all vesting conditions are met.

(k)	 Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.

(l) 	 Revenue

(i)	 Rental revenue
Revenue from the rental of machines is recognised in profit and loss based on the number of hours the machines operate each month. 
Contracts generally have a minimum hour clause which is triggered should the machine operate under these hours during each month. 
Customers are billed monthly. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

(ii)	 Goods sold
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, 
net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return 
of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably. 

(iii)	Maintenance services
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date.

(m) Leases
	 Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. On initial 
recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position. 
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(m) Leases (continued)
	 Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives 
received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding 
liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. 

(n) 	Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises interest income, dividend income, fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 
gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the 
case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, losses 
on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade 
receivables). All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss. 

Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis in either finance income or finance 
expense depending on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

(o) 	Tax 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

	 (i)	 Current tax
	 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

	 (ii)	 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

	 •	 �temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss

	 •	 �temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future

	 •	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

	 The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, at the end 
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

	 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

	 A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

	 (iii)	 Tax exposures
	 The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from  

16 December 2004 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated  
group is Emeco Holdings Limited.
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3	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

(p) 	Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished 
from the rest of the Group and which:

•	 represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
•	 is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
•	 is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale or 
distribution, if earlier. 

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of comprehensive income is re-presented as if the 
operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

(q) 	Segment reporting
Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly cash, interest bearing liabilities and finance expense. 

4	 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 2012, 
and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Group are set out 
below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.

(i)	 AASB 9 Financial Instruments (2010), AASB 9 Financial instruments (2009)
AASB 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under AASB 9 (2009), financial 
assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash 
flows. AASB 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project that may result in limited 
amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 and add new requirements to address the impairment of 
financial assets and hedge accounting.

AASB 9 (2010 and 2009) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 with early adoption permitted. The adoption 
of AASB 9 (2010) is expected to have an impact on the Group’s financial assets, but no impact on the Group’s financial liabilities.

(ii)	 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (2011)
AASB 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured, and replaces the fair value measurement guidance that 
is currently dispersed throughout Australian Accounting Standards. Subject to limited exceptions, AASB 13 is applied when fair value 
measurements or disclosures are required or permitted by other AASBs. The Group is currently reviewing its methodologies in determining 
fair values (note 5). AASB 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted.

(iii)	AASB 119 Employee Benefits (2011)
AASB 119 (2011) changes the definition of short-term and other long-term employee benefits to clarify the distinction between the two. 
For defined benefit plans, removal of the accounting policy choice for recognition of actuarial gains and losses is not expected to have any 
impact on the Group. However, the Group may need to assess the impact of the change in measurement principles of expected return on 
plan assets. AASB 119 (2011) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted.

5	 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. 
When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset 
or liability.

(i) 	 Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is the estimated amount for which a 
property could be exchanged on the date of acquisition between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after 
proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably. The fair value of items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings 
is based on the market approach and cost approaches using quoted market prices for similar items when available and depreciated 
replacement cost when appropriate. Depreciated replacement cost estimates reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as well as 
functional and economic obsolescence.
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5	 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(ii) 	 Intangible assets
The fair value of contract intangibles acquired in a business combination is based on the discounted estimated net future cash flows that 
are expected to arise as a result of the contracts that are in place when the business combination was finalised.

(iii) 	 Inventory
The fair value of inventory acquired in a business combination is determined based on its estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and 
sell the inventories.

(iv)	 Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables, excluding construction work in progress, are estimated as the present value of future 
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the measurement date. Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are 
measured at the original invoice amount if the effect of discounting is immaterial. Fair value is determined at initial recognition and, for 
disclosure purposes, at each annual reporting date.

(v)	 Forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on the discounted value of the difference between the rate the contractual forward 
price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a credit adjusted risk free rate. 

The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on third party valuations provided by financiers. Those valuations are tested for 
reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest 
rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to 
take account of the credit risk of the Group entity and counterparty when appropriate.

(vi)	 Other non-derivative financial liabilities
Other non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at fair value, at initial recognition and for disclosure purposes, at each annual 
reporting date. Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market 
rate of interest at the measurement date. For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease 
agreements.

(vii)	 Share-based payment transactions
The fair value of employee share options, management incentive plan shares, and long term incentive plan shares are measured using 
an option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share price on issue, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility, weighted 
average expected life of the instruments, market performance conditions, expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate. Service 
and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value. The employee 
share ownership plan shares are measured at cost.

(viii)	 Equity and debt securities
The fair value of equity and debt securities is determined by reference to their quoted closing bid price at the reporting date, or if 
unquoted determined using a valuation technique. Valuation techniques employed include market multiples and discounted cash flow 
analysis using expected future cash flows and a market related discount rate. The fair value of held to maturity investments is determined 
for disclosure purposes only. 

6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

	 Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:

•	 credit risk 
•	 liquidity risk
•	 market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. 



EMECO HOLD INGS L IM ITED   ANNUAL REPORT 201378 BET TER EQU IPPED

EMECO HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2013

6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)	

	 Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The 
Board of Directors has established the Audit and Risk Committee (Committee), which is responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Group’s risk management policies. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training, management standards and procedures, aims to 
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures, and reviews 
the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Committee is assisted in its oversight 
role by the Internal Audit function. Internal Audit undertakes reviews of risk management controls and procedures at the direction of the 
Committee. The results of the reviews are reported to the Committee.

	 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. 

	 Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date was:

    CONSOLIDATED

    CARRYING AMOUNT

    2013 2012

  NOTE  $’000  $’000 

Trade receivables 18  86,357  91,695 

Other receivables 18  27,486  9,403 

Cash and cash equivalents 17  5,754  73,091 

Derivatives 19  5,180  4,419 

 124,777  178,608 

	 Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, management also 
considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers 
operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk. The Group sets individual counter party limits and where possible insures its 
rental income within Australia, Indonesia, Chile and Canada, and generally operates on a “cash for keys” policy for the sale of equipment 
and parts.

Both insured and uninsured debtors are subject to the Group’s credit policy. The Group’s credit policy requires each new customer to be 
analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Group’s 
review includes external ratings, when available, and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for each customer 
according to the external rating and are approved by the appropriate management level dependent on the size of the limit. In the instance 
that a customer fails to meet the Group’s creditworthiness and the Group is unable to secure credit insurance, future transactions with the 
customer will only be on a prepayment basis, or appropriate security such as a bank guarantee or letter of credit.

Where commercially available the Group aims to insure the majority of rental customers that are not considered either blue chip 
customers, subsidiaries of blue chip companies or Government. Blue chip customers are determined as those customers who have a 
market capitalisation of greater than $750 million (2012: $750 million). The Australian business held insurance for the entire financial year 
ended 30 June 2013. The Indonesian and Chilean businesses established insurance on its receivables in November 2011 and October 
2012 respectively. The Canadian business does not have credit risk insurance.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other 
receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures. 
The specific loss component is made up of the insurance excess for insured debts that have been classified as doubtful and uninsured 
customers that are classified as doubtful. 
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Credit risk (continued)
	 Trade and other receivables (continued)

As at 30 June 2013 the Group’s doubtful debts provision was $16.8 million (2012: $2.1 million). The change in provision for doubtful debts 
was $16.8 million during the financial year comprising the following:

•	 $13.5 million related to contract disputes with two customers in Indonesia where the Company continued invoicing in accordance 
with contract terms, after the equipment had been stood down. The Company is continuing negotiations with the respective parties 
on these matters. 

•	 $0.7 million related to the unrecovered portion of a legal settlement with an Indonesian customer relating to a prior period.
•	 $2.6 million represents provision for doubtful debts in the ordinary course in Australia and Canada totalling $1.7 million and 

$0.9 million respectively.

As at 30 June 2013 the Group recognised bad debt write-offs for a total amount of $2.1 million (2012: $11.1 million) of which $1.7 million 
related to two customers in the Indonesian business and $0.4 million related to one customer in the Australian business. $1.3 million was 
provided for as doubtful debts at 30 June 2012. 

The Group believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than 30 days are still collectible, based on historic payment 
behaviour and extensive analyses of the underlying customers’ credit ratings. 

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $5.8 million at 30 June 2013 (2012: $73.1 million), which represents its maximum credit 
exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financial institution counterparties which are rated 
greater than AA-.

The Group also held derivative assets in relation to interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps of $Nil (2012: $1.8 million) 
and $5.2 million (2012: $2.5 million) respectively at 30 June 2013, which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The 
interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps are held with bank and financial institution counter parties which are rated 
greater than A-.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

  CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED

  GROSS IMPAIRMENT GROSS IMPAIRMENT

  2013 2013 2012 2012

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Australia  34,359  (1,675)  55,281  (412)

Asia  29,536  (13,503)  18,814  (933)

North America  14,876  (1,592)  17,600  (744)

South America  7,586  -  -  - 

 86,357  (16,770)  91,695  (2,089)

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was:

  CONSOLIDATED

  CARRYING AMOUNT

  2013 2012

   $’000  $’000 

Insured  49,103  47,962 

Blue Chip (including subsidiaries)  22,628  36,552 

Other security  319  2 

Uninsured  14,307  7,179 

 86,357  91,695 
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Credit risk (continued)
	 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The aging of the Group’s trade receivables at the reporting date was:

  CONSOLIDATED CONSOLIDATED

  GROSS IMPAIRMENT GROSS IMPAIRMENT

  2013 2013 2012 2012

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Not past due  19,311  (1,667)  35,614  (22)

Past due 0-30 days  26,625  -  39,491  (155)

Past due 31-60 days  15,213  (415)  5,896  (101)

Past due 61 days  25,208  (14,688)  10,694  (1,811)

 86,357  (16,770)  91,695  (2,089)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

   $’000  $’000 

Balance at 1 July 2,089 12,165

Bad debt written off  (2,053)  (11,083)

Change in provision for doubtful debts  16,734  1,007 

Balance at 30 June  16,770  2,089 

	 Collateral
Collateral is held for customers that are assessed to be a higher risk. At 30 June 2013 the Group held $Nil of bank guarantees (2012: $2.8 
million) and $0.3 million of prepayments (2012: $0.1 million).

	 Guarantees 
Financial guarantees are generally only provided to wholly-owned subsidiaries or when entering into a premise rental agreement. Details of 
outstanding guarantees are provided in note 29. At 30 June 2013 $75,000 guarantees were outstanding (2012: $122,500).

	 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group monitors working capital limits and employs maintenance planning and life cycle costing models to price its rental contracts. 
These processes assist it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising cash return in its operations. Typically the Group ensures 
that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial 
obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

The Group’s syndicated senior debt facility (debt facility) comprises a three year $200.0 million tranche, which matures on 28 September 
2015, a four year $125.0 million tranche which matures on 28 September 2016 and a five year $125.0 million tranche which matures on 
28 September 2017. The debt facility also comprises of one year $22.1 million (2012: $22.1 million) working capital facility. The debt facility 
is a revolver. At year end the undrawn portion of the debt facilities was $214.1 million (2012: $169.9 million). In May 2012, the Group 
issued secured fixed interest notes in the United States Private Placement market (USPP) comprising US$140.0 million of which US$40.0 
million matures on 22 May 2019 and US$100.0 million which matures 22 May 2022. These notes will remain fully drawn until maturity 
(refer note 24). The Group has finance lease facilities totalling $12.4 million (2012: $15.7 million) which matures on 15 August 2015. The 
Group has also financed its insurance payments with $0.5 million remaining at year end which matures in August 2013.
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)	

	 Liquidity risk (continued)
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting 
agreements.

CONSOLIDATED
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

CONTRACT-
UAL CASH 

FLOWS
6 MTHS OR 

LESS 6-12 MTHS 1-2 YEARS 2-5 YEARS
MORE THAN 

5 YEARS

30 JUNE 2013  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES              

Secured bank loans (249,646) (283,689) (5,645) (5,645) (11,289) (261,110)  - 

Secured notes issue (147,702) (214,075) (3,832) (3,832) (7,665) (22,994) (175,752)

Finance lease liabilities (12,358) (13,696) (2,181) (2,181) (4,362) (4,973)  - 

Insurance financing (464) (464) (464)  -  -  -  - 

Working capital facility (5,256) (5,256) (5,256)  -  -  -  - 

Trade and other payables (41,846) (41,846) (40,562)  -  - (1,284)  - 

  (457,272) (559,026) (57,940) (11,658) (23,316) (290,361) (175,752)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES              

Interest rate swaps used for hedging asset/
(liability)

(1,700) (1,844) (1,578) (161) (148)  43  - 

Interest rate swaps used for hedging asset/
(liability)

(1,063) (1,434)  407  399  688  9 (2,937)

Cross-currency interest rate swaps used for 
hedging asset/(liability)

 5,180  5,722 (422) (262) (854) (5,306) 12,566

Forward exchange contracts  
used for hedging:

             

 Outflow (20) (9,477) (9,477)  -  -  -  - 

 Inflow  -  9,497  9,497  -  -  -  - 

   2,397  2,464 (1,573) (24) (314) (5,254) 9,629

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)	

	 Liquidity risk (continued)

CONSOLIDATED
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

CONTRACT-
UAL CASH 

FLOWS
6 MTHS OR 

LESS 6-12 MTHS 1-2 YEARS 2-5 YEARS
MORE THAN 

5 YEARS

30 JUNE 2012  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

Secured bank loans (299,920) (324,327) (6,372)  (6,372) (249,059) (62,524)  - 

Secured notes issue (139,992) (201,990)  (3,491)  (3,491)  (6,982)  (20,946)  (167,080)

Finance lease liabilities  (15,697)  (18,058)  (2,181)  (2,181)  (4,362)  (9,334)  - 

Trade and other payables  (64,296)  (64,296)  (64,296)  -  -  -  - 

 (519,905) (608,671)  (76,340)  (12,044) (260,403)  (92,804)  (167,080)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Interest rate swaps used for hedging asset/
(liability)

 (5,608)  (5,725)  (1,902)  (1,998)  (1,589)  (236)  - 

Interest rate swaps used for hedging asset/
(liability)

 1,801  1,803  303  327  612  1,340  (779)

Cross-currency interest rate swaps used for 
hedging asset/(liability)

 2,519  10,436  511  375  821  3,694  5,035 

Forward exchange contracts used for 
hedging:

 Outflow  106  (6,339)  (6,339)  -  -  -  - 

 Inflow  (7)  6,241  6,241  -  -  -  - 

 (1,189)  6,416  (1,186)  (1,296)  (156)  4,798  4,256 

The gross inflows/(outflows) disclosed in the previous table represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to derivative 
financial liabilities held for risk management purposes and which are usually not closed out prior to contractual maturity. The disclosure 
shows net cash flow amounts for derivatives that are net cash settled and gross cash inflow and outflow amounts for derivatives that have 
simultaneous gross cash settlement, e.g. forward exchange contracts.

	 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

The Group enters into derivatives, and also incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage market risks. All such transactions are carried out 
within the guidelines set by the Group’s hedging policy. Generally the Group seeks to apply hedge accounting in order to manage volatility 
in profit or loss.

	 Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on revenue, expenditure, assets and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than 
the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily the Australian dollar (AUD), but also the United States Dollars (USD) and 
Canadian Dollars (CAD). The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are AUD, USD, CAD, Euro dollars (EURO), 
Indonesian Rupiah (IDR), Chilean Peso (PSO) and Japanese Yen (YEN).

The Group hedges all trade receivables and trade payables that are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the 
respective subsidiary exposed to the transaction, and is an amount greater than $50,000. The Group uses forward exchange contracts to 
hedge this currency risk. Most of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than 6 months.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities held in currencies other than the AUD, the Group ensures that the net exposure is kept 
to an acceptable level by matching foreign denominated financial assets with matching financial liabilities and vice versa.

Interest on borrowings from the syndicated debt facility is denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the 
underlying operations of the Group, primarily AUD, but also USD and CAD. This provides an economic hedge without derivatives being 
entered into and therefore no application of hedge accounting.

The Group’s investments in its subsidiaries and their earnings for the year are not hedged as these currency positions are considered long 
term in nature.

The Group’s foreign currency exposure denominated on the senior debt facility is not hedged to manage the risk of breaching its 
syndicated debt facility limit of $450.0 million as the Group considers there to be appropriate headroom for any adverse movement in 
exchange rates (refer note 25).
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Market risk (continued)
	 Currency risk (continued)

In May 2012 the Group issued US$140.0 million of notes in the USPP market of which US$20.0 million and US$30.0 million of the 7 and 
10 year maturities, respectively, were swapped back to AUD through the use of cross currency interest rate swaps. As derivatives have 
been entered into, hedge accounting will apply to these instruments. The remainder of the USD foreign exchange exposure at 30 June 
2013 is expected to be offset by financial assets denominated in the same currency providing an economic hedge without derivatives 
being entered into. In addition, some of the Group’s subsidiaries operate in USD which further mitigates the USD foreign currency 
exposure.

	 Exposure to currency risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was as follows, based on notional amounts:

  30 JUNE 2013   30 JUNE 2012

  USD CAD   USD CAD

   $’000  $’000    $’000  $’000 

Cash  124  -  44,212  - 

Senior secured debt  (15,000)  -  -  - 

Secured notes issued  (43,802)  -    (94,336)  - 

Gross balance sheet exposure  (58,678)  -  (50,124)  - 

Cross currency interest rate swap to hedge the secured 
notes issued

 50,000  -  49,155  - 

Forecast purchases  -  -  (4,471)  (1,108)

Forward exchange contracts (1)  8,800  -  4,389  1,091 

 58,800  -  49,073  (17)
   

Net exposure  122  -  (1,051)  (17)

(1)	� Forecast purchases for which the forward exchange contracts were entered into are disclosed.  
Trade payables does not include future purchase commitments denominated in foreign currencies. The Group hedges these purchases in accordance with 
its hedging policy. The payable is not recognised until the asset is received. The fair value of outstanding derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet at 
period end.

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

  AVERAGE RATE   REPORTING DATE SPOT RATE

  2013 2012   2013 2012

CAD 1.0306 1.0342   0.9701 1.0423

USD 1.0266 1.0319   0.9266 1.0172

EURO 0.7947 0.7704   0.7100 0.8084

IDR 9,885 9,231   9,254 9,545

YEN 89.70 81.12   91.58 80.34

CLP 491.47  -   467.24  - 

GBP 0.6545  -   0.6075  - 
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Market risk (continued)
	 Sensitivity analysis

A strengthening of the Australian dollar, as indicated below, against the following currencies at 30 June 2013 would have affected the 
measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably 
possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012, as indicated below:

  CONSOLIDATED

  STRENGTHENING   WEAKENING

 
EQUITY

PROFIT  
OR LOSS   EQUITY

PROFIT 
OR LOSS

   $’000  $’000    $’000  $’000 

30 JUNE 2013          

USD (10 percent movement)  (703)  (78)    860  96 

CAD (10 percent movement)  35  -    (43)  - 

30 JUNE 2012          

USD (10 percent movement)  (2,398)  (90)    2,398  90 

CAD (10 percent movement)  -  180    -  (180)

	 Interest rate risk
In accordance with the Board’s policy the Group is required to maintain a range between a maximum of 70% and a minimum of 30% of its 
exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings on a fixed rate basis, taking into account assets with exposure to changes in interest 
rates for an average tenure of no less than 2 years into the future. This is achieved by entering into interest rate swaps and the issue of 
fixed interest notes.

	 Profile
At the end of the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the 
management of the Group was:

     CONSOLIDATED

    2013 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

VARIABLE RATE INSTRUMENTS:  

Cash at bank 17  5,754  73,091 

Working capital facility  (5,256)  - 

Interest bearing liabilities  (252,746)  (299,920)

Effective interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk  

Australian dollars (USPP US$50m)  5,180  2,519 

United States dollars (USPP US$40m)  (1,063)  1,801 

Australian dollars (A$80M)  (1,061)  (2,607)

Canadian dollars C$80M (2012: C$120M)  (557)  (2,827)

United States dollars USD$15M (2012: USD$15M)  (82)  (174)

 (249,831)  (228,117)

FIXED RATE INSTRUMENTS:  

Interest bearing liabilities (notes) 24  (149,557)  (141,807)

Interest bearing finance leases 24  (12,358)  (15,697)

Insurance financing  (464)  - 

 (162,379)  (157,504)

The Group classifies its debt related derivatives into three categories being floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps, fixed-to-floating interest 
rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps. 
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Market risk (continued)
	 Cash flow hedges and fair value hedges

The floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps (hedging instrument) are designated as cash flow hedges through equity. Therefore a change 
in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss to the extent they are effective hedges. The interest rate swaps are 
designated to hedge the exposure to variability in cash flows attributed to market interest rate risk.

The fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps (hedging instrument) are accounted for as fair value hedges. Therefore a change in interest rates 
at the reporting date affects profit or loss. The interest rate swaps are designated to hedge the exposure to liquidity risk through the 
benchmark interest rate.

The cross currency interest rate swaps (hedging instrument) are accounted for as both cash flow hedges and fair value hedges. The cross 
currency interest rate swaps are designated to hedge the exposure to variability in foreign exchange rates and exposure to liquidity risk 
through the benchmark interest rate.

	 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group accounts for certain fixed rate financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and the Group designates derivatives 
(interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge accounting model. Therefore a change in interest rates at the 
reporting date would affect profit or loss and not equity on these instruments.

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) profit or loss by the amounts shown 
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

  PROFIT OR LOSS   EQUITY

  100bp 100bp   100bp 100bp

  INCREASE DECREASE   INCREASE DECREASE

FAIR VALUE HEDGES $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000

30 JUNE 2013          

Fixed rate instruments (USPP)  8,241  (6,723)    -  - 

Interest rate swap  (8,241)  6,723    -  - 

Cash flow sensitivity (net)  -  -  -  - 

30 JUNE 2012

Fixed rate instruments (USPP)  7,996  (7,996)  -  - 

Interest rate swap  (7,996)  7,996  -  - 

Cash flow sensitivity (net)  -  -  -  - 
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Market risk (continued)
Detailed below is the profit and loss impact of fair value hedges during the year.

  PROFIT OR LOSS 

  2013 2012

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT $’000 $’000

FLOATING TO FIXED    

- Swap  -  - 

- Hedged Item (debt)  -  - 

FIXED TO FLOATING    

- Swap  (1,063)  1,801 

- Hedged item (debt)  1,085  (1,875)

CROSS CURRENCY INTEREST RATE SWAP    

- Swap  (472)  2,519 

- Hedged item (debt)  448  (2,299)

Net profit and loss impact before tax  (2)  146 

	 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2012.

  PROFIT OR LOSS   EQUITY

  100bp 100bp   100bp 100bp

  INCREASE DECREASE   INCREASE DECREASE

CASH FLOW HEDGES $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000

30 JUNE 2013          

Variable rate instruments  522  (543)    -  - 

Interest rate swap  -  -    (1,181)  458 

Cash flow sensitivity (net)  522  (543)  (1,181)  458 

30 JUNE 2012

Variable rate instruments  (708)  708  -  - 

Interest rate swap  -  -  (2,139)  2,139 

Cash flow sensitivity (net)  (708)  708  (2,139)  2,139 
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Market risk (continued)
	 Fair values
	 Interest rates used for determining fair value

The range of interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based on the Government yield curve at the 
reporting date plus an adequate credit spread excluding margins, and were as follows:

  2013   2012

Derivatives 0.3% - 4.2% 0.3% - 5.0%

Loans and borrowings 0.2% - 3.6% 0.2% - 5.0%

USPP 4.6% - 5.3% 4.6% - 5.3%

Leases 7.2% - 7.2% 7.2% - 7.2%

	
	 Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

    30 JUNE 2013   30 JUNE 2012

CARRYING
AMOUNT

FAIR
VALUE

 
 

CARRYING
AMOUNT

FAIR
VALUE

  NOTE $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000

ASSETS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE    

Interest rate swaps used for hedging 19  5,180  5,180  4,320  4,320 

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 19  -  -  99  99 

 5,180  5,180  4,419  4,419 

ASSETS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST    

Receivables 18  97,073  97,073  99,009  99,009 

Cash and cash equivalents 17  5,754  5,754  73,091  73,091 

 102,827  102,827  172,100  172,100 

LIABILITIES CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE    

Secured notes issue (USD $90m) 24  (94,403)  (95,596)  (91,485)  (92,652)

Interest rate swaps used for hedging 19  (2,763)  (2,763)  (5,608)  (5,608)

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 19  (20)  (20)  -  - 

 (97,186)  (98,379)  (97,093)  (98,260)

LIABILITIES CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST    

Secured bank loans 24  (249,646)  (252,746)  (299,920)  (301,980)

Secured notes issue (USD $50m) 24  (53,299)  (53,961)  (48,507)  (51,473)

Insurance financing  (464)  (464)  -  - 

Finance lease liabilities 24  (12,358)  (14,181)  (15,697)  (18,058)

Trade and other payables 23  (41,846)  (41,846)  (69,906)  (69,906)

 (357,613)  (363,198)  (434,030)  (441,417)

The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in note 5.
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6	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Market risk (continued)
	 Fair value hierarchy

All the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value would be categorised at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as their value is based on 
inputs other than the quoted prices that are observable for these assets/(liabilities), either directly or indirectly.

	 Capital management
Underpinning Emeco’s strategic framework is consistent value creation for shareholders.  Central to this is the continual evaluation of the 
Company’s capital structure to ensure it is optimised to deliver value to shareholders. The Board’s policy is to maintain diversified, long-
term sources of funding to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to support the future growth of the business. This policy 
is being achieved through optimising the mix of debt and equity to match the Company’s requirements and through a blended maturity 
profile of employing a mixture of 3 year, 4 year and 5 year tranches with a syndicate of investment grade financial institutions. The issue of 
US$140.0 million notes in the USPP market diversifies the Group’s source of debt funding and extends the Group’s debt maturity profile 
with the notes being tranches of 7 and 10 years. 

The Board of Directors also evaluates and monitors the level of distributions to ordinary shareholders in the form of dividends or other 
capital initiatives such as the payment of dividends in FY13 and the Board approved an on-market buyback of 5% (31,561,879) of the 
Company’s shares for consideration of $16.9 million. 

Historically, the Board maintained a balance between higher returns possible with higher levels of borrowings and the security afforded by 
a sound capital position. However, given current market condition, the Board seeks to reduce the levels of borrowings to maintain a strong 
capital position and protect the gearing ratio.  Throughout the year the Group monitors its gearing ratio determined as total debt excluding 
the effects of hedge accounting and fair value adjustments over the last twelve months divided by normalised EBITDA.  The gearing ratio is 
targeted to be at a level of less than 3.0 times as defined by the Company’s banking covenant.  During the year the gearing ratio remained 
within the range of 1.7 times to 2.5 times (2012: 1.4 – 1.8 times).

The Company’s primary return metric is return on capital (ROC), which the Group defines as earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) divided 
by Invested Capital defined as the average over the period of equity, plus interest bearing liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents. The 
Group’s ROC for the year was 4.2% (2012: (13.0%)). This includes non-recurring items of $29.2 million (2012: $1.1 million) (after tax). Had 
the non-recurring items not been included the Group EBIT return on capital for the year would have been 7.1% (2012: 13.2%).

The Group’s return on invested capital at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

EBIT (for continuing and discontinued operations)  44,858  124,566 

Average invested capital  1,066,423  955,595 

EBIT return on capital at 30 June 4.2% 13.0%

In order to satisfy potential future obligations under its employee share plans the Group purchases, via an employee share trust, its own 
shares on market.  The quantum of these purchases depends on the number of securities that have been issued under its employee share 
plans. The purchase of shares by the employee share trust is done on a periodic basis by Emeco’s share registry service provider acting 
as agent for the trustee of the employee share trust. 

There have been no changes to externally imposed capital restrictions or the Board’s approach to capital management during the year 
other than referred to above. 

7	 OTHER INCOME

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Net profit on sale of non current assets (1)  1,999  3,503 

Sundry income (2)  1,353  397 

 3,352  3,900 

(1)	 Included in net profit on the sale of non-current assets is the sale of rental equipment. The gross proceeds from the sale of this equipment in 2013 is  
$49.8 million (2012: $35.0 million).

(2)	 Included in sundry income are fees charged on overdue accounts, bad debts recovered and procurement fees on machines sourced for third parties. 
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8	 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS

    CONSOLIDATED

    2013 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE HAS BEEN ARRIVED AT AFTER 
CHARGING/(CREDITING) THE FOLLOWING ITEMS:  

Cost of sale of machines and parts  28,953  68,887 

Cost of sales inventory on rent 20  -  1,478 

Impairment of tangible assets:  

- inventory 20  8,664  1,277 

- property, plant and equipment 22  3,452  210 

 12,116  1,487 

EMPLOYEE EXPENSES:  

- superannuation  3,424  4,839 

OTHER EXPENSES:  

- bad debts (1)  2,053  11,083 

- doubtful debts/(reversal) (2)  13,108  (10,348)

- insurance  4,347  3,616 

- motor vehicles  4,370  4,125 

- rental expense  4,015  3,574 

- safety  1,664  1,612 

- travel and subsistence expense  3,239  3,021 

- telecommunications  1,911  1,718 

- workshop consumables, tooling and labour  3,557  4,732 

- other expenses  10,142  8,787 

 48,406  31,920 

DEPRECIATION OF:  

- buildings  957  1,732 

- plant and equipment - owned  103,953  126,143 

- plant and equipment - leased  3,167  3,810 

- furniture fittings and fixtures  187  140 

- office equipment  543  445 

- motor vehicles  1,649  1,040 

- leasehold improvements  548  680 

- sundry plant  1,543  1,480 

 112,547  135,470 

AMORTISATION OF:  

- other intangibles  192  217 

IMPAIRMENT OF:  

 - goodwill  17,844  - 

 18,036  217 

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment of goodwill  130,583  135,687 

(1)	 $1.7 million of the $2.1 million bad debt expense in FY13 related to two debtors in the Indonesian business of which $1 million was provided for as a doubtful 
debt in FY12 (refer note 6). $10.9 million of the $11.1 million bad debt expense in FY12 related to two debtors in the Indonesian business that was provided 
for as a doubtful debt in FY11.

(2)	 Included in the movement of the provision for Doubtful debts is $13.5 million related to contract disputes with two customers in Indonesia where the 
Company continued invoicing in accordance with contract terms, after the equipment had been stood down. The Company is continuing negotiations with 
the respective parties on these matters.
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8	 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE FOR CONTINUING OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

FINANCIAL EXPENSES:  

- interest expense  24,926  21,451 

- ineffective hedge expense/(reversal)  32  3 

- amortisation of debt establishment costs  1,141  1,180 

- write off previous facility costs  1,910  - 

- other facility costs  2,214  2,141 

 30,223  24,775 

FINANCIAL INCOME:  

- interest income  (1,449)  (361)

Net financial expenses  28,774  24,414 

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (235)  (416)

9	 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

AUDIT SERVICES  

 Auditors of the Company  

KPMG Australia:  

- audit and review of financial reports  458,300  441,200 

Overseas KPMG Firms:  

- audit and review of financial reports  195,536  181,123 

 653,836  622,323 

OTHER SERVICES  

Auditors of the Company  

KPMG Australia:  

- taxation services (1)  174,016  192,280 

Overseas KPMG Firms:  

- taxation services  134,896  64,841 

 308,912  257,121 

 962,748  879,444 

(1)	 The increase in taxation services during FY12 represents the taxation advice relating to the Group’s entry into the Chile market. It is also due to the taxation 
advice required for expatriate employees participating in the Group’s employee share scheme.
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10	 TAXES

(a)	 Recognition in the income statement

    CONSOLIDATED

    2013 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

CURRENT TAX EXPENSE:  

Current year  27,302  36,784 

Adjustments for prior years  (130)  82 

 27,172  36,866 

DEFERRED TAX EXPENSES:  

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (17,092)  (6,460)

12  (17,092)  (6,460)

Tax expense  10,080  30,406 

Tax expense from continuing operations  10,080  30,434 

Tax expense/(benefit) from discontinued operations 14  -  (28)

Total tax expense  10,080  30,406 

(b)	 Current and deferred tax expense recognised directly in equity

    CONSOLIDATED

    2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Share purchase costs  374  641 

 374  641 

	 Tax recognised in other comprehensive income

  CONSOLIDATED   CONSOLIDATED

    2013       2012  

BEFORE 
TAX

TAX 
(EXPENSE) 

BENEFIT 
NET OF  

TAX 
BEFORE 

TAX

TAX 
(EXPENSE) 

BENEFIT 
NET OF  

   TAX 

  $’000 $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000 $’000

Foreign currency translation differences for      

foreign operations  16,731  -  16,731  3,252  -  3,252 

FCTR of discontinued operations disposed (1)  -  -  -  156  -  156 

Cash flow hedges  3,394  (1,697)  1,697  (102)  48  (54)

 20,125  (1,697)  18,428  3,306  48  3,354 

(1)	 FCTR – transfer of Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (FCTR) from equity reserve to profit upon foreign operations of the Group being disposed.



EMECO HOLD INGS L IM ITED   ANNUAL REPORT 201392 BET TER EQU IPPED

EMECO HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2013

10	 TAXES (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre tax net profit/(loss)

    CONSOLIDATED

    2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Prima facie tax expense calculated at 30% on net profit  4,825  30,122 

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN INCOME TAX EXPENSE DUE TO:  

Effect on tax rate in foreign jurisdictions  (1,205)  (286)

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised  53  3 

Bad debt expense  -  294 

Superannuation adjustment  -  366 

Goodwill impairment  5,353  - 

Tangible asset impairment 938  - 

Sundry 246  (175)

Under/(over) provided in prior years  (130)  82 

Tax expense  10,080  30,406 

11	 CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The current tax asset for the Group of $13,940,000 (2012: $563,000) represents income taxes and withholding tax recoverable in respect 
of prior periods and that arise from payment of taxes in excess of the amount due to the relevant tax authority. The current tax liability for 
the Group of $Nil (2012: $14,100,000) represents the amount of income taxes payable in respect of current and prior financial periods. 
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12	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

	 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

  ASSETS   LIABILITIES   NET

  2013 2012   2013 2012   2013 2012

CONSOLIDATED $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment  (16)  (84)  59,060  40,881  59,044  40,797 

Intangible assets  (30)  (37)  -  -  (30)  (37)

Receivables  (8,481)  (4,124)  2,781  222  (5,700)  (3,902)

Accrued revenue  -  -  215  -  215  - 

Inventories  (3)  (4)  571  1,365  568  1,361 

Payables  (1,280)  (6,707)  -  -  (1,280)  (6,707)

Derivatives - hedge payable  (510)  (1,683)  -  -  (510)  (1,683)

Derivatives - hedge receivable  -  -  1,695  1,296  1,695  1,296 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  (2,081)  (1,391)  3,054  6,358  973  4,967 

Employee benefits  (1,475)  (1,710)  171  4  (1,304)  (1,706)

Equity - capital raising costs  (24)  (8)  -  -  (24)  (8)

Provisions  (15)  (110)  -  -  (15)  (110)

Tax losses carried forward  (3,473)  (3,272)    -  -    (3,473)  (3,272)

Tax (assets)/liabilities  (17,388)  (19,130)  67,547  50,126  50,159  30,996 

Set off of tax  17,388  19,020  (17,388)  (19,020)  -  - 

Net tax (assets)/liabilities  -  (110)    50,159  31,106    50,159  30,996 

	 Movement in deferred tax balances

  CONSOLIDATED

BALANCE  
1 JULY 12

RECOGNISED IN 
PROFIT OR LOSS

RECOGNISED 
DIRECTLY IN 

EQUITY

RECOGNISED 
IN OTHER  

COMPREHEN-
SIVE INCOME

BALANCE  
30 JUNE 13

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment  40,797  18,247  -  -  59,044 

Intangible assets  (37)  7  -  -  (30)

Receivables  (3,902)  (1,583)  -  -  (5,485)

Inventories  1,361  (793)  -  -  568 

Payables  (6,707)  5,427  -  -  (1,280)

Derivatives - hedge payable  (1,683)  -  -  1,173  (510)

Derivatives - hedge receivable  1,296  (125)  -  524  1,695 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  4,967  (3,994)  -  -  973 

Employee benefits  (1,706)  402  -  -  (1,304)

Equity - capital raising costs  (8)  (390)  374  -  (24)

Provisions  (110)  95  -  -  (15)

Tax losses carried forward  (3,272)  (201)  -  -  (3,473)

   30,996  17,092  374  1,697  50,159 
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12	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

	 Movement in deferred tax balances

   CONSOLIDATED 

BALANCE 
1 JULY 11 

RECOGNISED IN 
PROFIT OR LOSS 

RECOGNISED 
DIRECTLY IN 

EQUITY 

RECOGNISED 
 IN OTHER  

COMPREHEN-
SIVE INCOME 

BALANCE  
30 JUNE 12 

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Property, plant and equipment  33,642  7,155  -  -  40,797 

Intangible assets  (17)  (20)  -  -  (37)

Receivables  (2,962)  (940)  -  -  (3,902)

Inventories  1,141  220  -  -  1,361 

Payables  (3,860)  (2,847)  -  -  (6,707)

Derivatives - hedge payable  (1,709)  -  -  26  (1,683)

Derivatives - hedge receivable  -  1,370  -  (74)  1,296 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  4,151  816  -  -  4,967 

Employee benefits  (1,525)  (181)  -  -  (1,706)

Equity - capital raising costs  (30)  (619)  641  -  (8)

Provisions  (2,871)  2,761  -  -  (110)

Tax losses carried forward  (2,017)  (1,255)  -  -  (3,272)

 23,943  6,460  641  (48)  30,996 

	 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

THE FOLLOWING DEFERRED TAX ASSETS HAVE NOT BEEN BROUGHT TO ACCOUNT AS 
ASSETS:  

Tax losses  18,308  16,530 

Unutilised tax losses are in the United Kingdom, United States and Europe.

13	 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

SHARE CAPITAL  

599,675,707 (2012: 631,237,586 ) ordinary shares, fully paid  669,503  686,311 

Acquisition reserve  (75,887)  (75,887)

 593,616  610,424 

	 Share buy back
On 23 August 2012 the Board announced an on market share buy back program to acquire up to 5% of shares on issue. The share buy 
back was completed on 23 November 2012 having acquired a total of 31,561,879 shares at an average price of 53.4 cents. As a result of 
all acquired shares being cancelled, shares on issue at 30 June 2013 totalled 599,675,707 (30 June 2012: 631,237,586).
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13	 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

	 Terms and conditions
	 Ordinary shares

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote per share at 
shareholders’ meetings. Shares have no par value.

In the event of winding up of the Company, the ordinary shareholder ranks after all other creditors are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

	 Reserve of own shares
The reserve of own shares comprises of shares purchased on market to satisfy the vesting of shares and rights under the LTIP. Shares that 
are forfeited under the Company’s MISP due to employees not meeting the service vesting requirement will remain in the reserve. As at 30 
June 2013 the Company held 16,804,359 treasury shares (2012: 17,943,211) in satisfaction of the employee share plans.

	 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations.

	 Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in fair value of hedging instruments used in cash flow 
hedges pending subsequent recognition of hedged cash flows.

	 Share based payment reserve
The share based payment reserve comprises the expenses incurred from the issue of the Company’s securities under its employee share/
option plans (refer note 3(j)(v)).

	 Dividends
(i)	 The following dividends were declared and paid by the Group:

 
  CENTS PER SHARE TOTAL AMOUNT

FRANKED/
UNFRANKED DATE OF PAYMENT

    $’000    

2013        

Final 2012 ordinary 3.5 22,154  Franked  28 September 2012 

Interim 2013 ordinary 2.5  14,992 Franked 27 March 2013

    37,146    

Franked dividends declared or paid during the year were franked at the tax rate of 30%.

	 Subsequent to 30 June 2013

The Directors have declared that no Final dividend will be paid and no amount has been paid or declared by way of dividends since 
March 2013, or to the date of this report.

	 The following dividends were declared and paid by the Group in the prior year:

 
  CENTS PER SHARE TOTAL AMOUNT

FRANKED/
UNFRANKED DATE OF PAYMENT

    $’000    

2012

Final 2011 ordinary 3.0 18,937  Franked  30 September 2011 

Interim 2012 ordinary 2.5 15,781 Franked 29 March 2012

34,718 
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13	 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

	 Dividends (continued)
(ii)	 Franking account

  THE COMPANY

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

DIVIDEND FRANKING ACCOUNT  

30% franking credits available to shareholders of Emeco Holdings Limited for subsequent financial years  29,391  59,733 

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for:

(a)	 franking credits that will arise from the payment of current tax liabilities and recovery of current tax receivables;
(b)	 franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year end;
(c)	 franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the tax consolidated group at the year-end; 

and
(d)	 franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. The impact on the 
dividend franking account of dividends proposed after the balance sheet date but not recognised as a liability is to reduce it by $Nil (2012: 
$9,468,000). In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the Australian tax-consolidated group 
has also assumed the benefit of $29,391,000 (2012: $59,733,000) franking credits.

14	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

As at 30 June 2013 the Victorian Rental business was no longer in operation.

As at 30 June 2012 the discontinued operations consisted of the Victorian Rental business and Emeco Europe. The Victorian Rental 
business had significantly decreased its assets and held minimal assets available for sale. 

The Emeco Europe business was materially disposed of in FY12 and was presented as a discontinued operation for this prior comparative 
period. During FY13, the Group reclassified the Emeco Europe discontinued operations to continuing operations, which is now a dormant 
entity.

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

LOSSES OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  

Revenue  -  523 

Other income  -  10 

Direct costs  -  (208)

Profit/(loss) on sale of assets  -  220 

Impairment of fixed assets  -  (365)

Other expenses  -  (24)

Employee expenses  -  (113)

FCTR on discontinued operations disposed  -  (156)

EBITDA  -  (113)

Depreciation  -  (142)

EBIT  -  (255)

Income tax  -  28 

LOSS FOR THE PERIOD  -  (227)

Earnings per share  - 0.00

The loss from discontinued operation of $Nil (2012: loss of $227,000) is attributable entirely to the owners of the Company.
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14	 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) DISCONTINUED OPERATION  

Net cash used in operating activities  -  (282)

Net cash from investing activities  -  7,569 

Net cash from financing activities  -  (7,349)

Net cash from (used in) discontinued operation  -  (62)

15	 DISPOSAL GROUPS AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

At 30 June 2013 the disposal groups and non-current assets held for sale comprised assets of $7.2 million (2012: $0.4 million) being 
Australian land and buildings. The Group has engaged real estate agents to actively market these assets and they are expected to be 
disposed of within 12 months. These assets were impaired by $3.04 million and are disclosed at its fair value less costs to sell.

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE  

Property, plant and equipment - land and building  7,200  405 

 7,200  405 

16	 SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has four reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic business 
units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different operational strategies for each 
geographic region. For each of the strategic business units, the Managing Director and Board of Directors review internal management 
reports on a monthly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Australia Provides a wide range of earthmoving equipment and maintenance services to customers in 
Australia.

Indonesia Provides a wide range of earthmoving equipment and maintenance service to customers in 
Indonesia.

Canada Provides a wide range of earthmoving equipment and maintenance services to customers who are 
predominately within Canada.

Chile Provides a wide range of earthmoving equipment and maintenance service to customers in Chile.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profit before 
interest and income tax as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s Managing Director and Board of 
Directors. Segment profit before interest and income tax is used to measure performance as management believes that such information 
is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. Inter-segment 
pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.



EMECO HOLD INGS L IM ITED   ANNUAL REPORT 201398 BET TER EQU IPPED

EMECO HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2013

16	 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

	 Information about reportable segments 2013

AUSTRALIA INDONESIA CANADA CHILE

VICTORIAN 
RENTAL (1) 

(DISCONT’D) OTHER TOTAL

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenues 267,829 60,316 94,179 17,366 - - 439,690

Inter-segment revenue 27,156 5,102 17,198 3,182 - 285 52,923

Depreciation (70,317) (14,390) (23,131) (4,709) - - (112,547)

Reportable segment profit/(loss)

before interest and income tax 45,375 (8,162) 23,340 6,281 - (399) 66,435

Other material non-cash items:

Impairment of receivables (1,675) (13,503) (990) - - (602) (16,770)

Impairment on property, plant and

equipment (3,257) (116) (79) - - - (3,452)

Impairment of intangible assets - (17,844) - - - - (17,844)

Reportable segment assets 607,637 135,011 233,661 143,477 - 482 1,120,268

Capital expenditure (56,295) (14,363) (23,665) (63,995) - - (158,318)

Reportable segment liabilities (37,369) (12,887) (32,045) (16,671) - (448) (99,420)

	 Information about reportable segments 2012

AUSTRALIA INDONESIA CANADA CHILE

VICTORIAN 
RENTAL (1) 

(DISCONT’D)
OTHER 

(DISCONT’D) TOTAL

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

External revenues 448,042 49,931 67,197 - 505 - 565,675

Inter-segment revenue 10,896 1,853 - - - 18 12,767

Depreciation (100,515) (15,223) (19,732) - (142) - (135,612)

Reportable segment profit/(loss)

before interest and income tax 118,363 9,955 16,155 (597) (92) (480) 143,304

Other material non-cash items:

Impairment of receivables (412) (934) (195) - - (548) (2,089)

Impairment on property, plant and

equipment (203) (7) - - (365) - (575)

Impairment of intangible assets - - - - - - -

Reportable segment assets 746,077 141,978 248,119 6,278 405 169 1,143,026

Capital expenditure (138,058) (72,645) (118,409) (5,203) - - (334,315)

Reportable segment liabilities (56,384) (36,980) (20,853) (5,784) - (119) (120,120)

	 (1)	 Victorian Rental forms part of Australia segment but has been separated out as it was discontinued in 30 June 2012.
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16	 SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

	 Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material 
items

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

REVENUES  

Total revenue for reportable segments  492,612  578,442 

Elimination of inter-segment revenue  (52,922)  (12,767)

Elimination of discontinued operations  -  (505)

Consolidated revenue from continuing operations  439,690  565,170 

PROFIT OR LOSS  

Total EBIT for reportable segments  66,435  143,304 

Elimination of discontinued operations  -  254 

Unallocated amounts:  

 Other corporate expenses  (21,577)  (18,738)

 Net interest expense  (28,774)  (24,414)

Consolidated profit before income tax from continuing operations  16,084  100,406 

ASSETS  

Total assets for reportable segments  1,120,268  1,143,026 

Unallocated assets  5,754  73,091 

Consolidated total assets  1,126,022  1,216,117 

LIABILITIES  

Total liabilities for reportable segments  99,420  120,120 

Unallocated liabilities  415,426  455,609 

Consolidated total liabilities  514,846  575,729 

REPORTABLE 
SEGMENT TOTALS

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS

CONSOLIDATED 
TOTAL

  $’000 $’000 $’000

OTHER MATERIAL ITEMS 2013      

Capital expenditure  (158,318)  -  (158,318)

Depreciation  (112,547)  -  (112,547)

OTHER MATERIAL ITEMS 2012

Capital expenditure  (334,315)  -  (334,315)

Depreciation  (135,612)  142  (135,470)

	 Geographical information
Operating segments are the same as the geographical segments. Refer to the segment table for the geographical segments.

	 Major customer
In the year ended 30 June 2013 the Group had no single major customer that would amount to 10% or more of the Group’s total 
revenues.
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17	  CASH ASSETS

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Cash at bank  5,754  73,091 

18	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

CURRENT  

Trade receivables  86,357  91,695 

Less: Impairment of receivables  (16,770)  (2,089)

 69,587  89,606 

VAT/GST receivable  21,100  - 

Other receivables  6,386  9,403 

 97,073  99,009 

NON-CURRENT  

Other receivables  856  1,057 

 856  1,057 

The Group’s exposure to credit risks, currency risks and impairment losses associated with trade and other receivables are disclosed in 
note 6.

19	 DERIVATIVES

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

CURRENT ASSETS  

Forward exchange contract  -  99 

Interest rate swaps  -  308 

Cross currency interest rate swaps  691  369 

 691  776 

NON CURRENT ASSETS  

Interest rate swaps  -  1,493 

Cross currency interest rate swaps  4,489  2,150 

 4,489  3,643 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Forward exchange contract  (20)  - 

Interest rate swaps  (1,261)  (2,239)

 (1,281)  (2,239)

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Interest rate swaps  (1,502)  (3,369)

 (1,502)  (3,369)
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20	 INVENTORIES

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Equipment and parts - at cost  1,130  26,797 

Work in progress - at cost  4,496  2,730 

Consumables, spare parts - at cost  2,851  2,729 

TOTAL AT COST  8,477  32,256 

Equipment and parts - at NRV (1)  6,281  2,858 

TOTAL INVENTORY  14,758  35,114 

BALANCE AT 1 JULY  35,114  48,569 

Additions 9,476  44,758 

Impairment loss on inventory (1) (8,664) (1,277)

Cost of sales inventory on rent (1)  - (1,478)

Disposals (21,168) (55,458)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE  14,758  35,114 

(1)	 During the year ended 30 June 2013 the write-down of inventories to net realisable value (NRV) recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income amounted to $8,664,000 (2012: $2,755,000).

21	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

GOODWILL  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  173,636  172,830 

Impairment of goodwill  (17,844)  - 

Effects of movement in foreign exchange  2,008  806 

 157,800  173,636 

Contract intangibles - at cost  712  712 

Less: Accumulated amortisation  (712)  (712)

 -  - 

Other intangibles - at cost  1,306  2,062 

Less: Accumulated depreciation  (1,030)  (1,750)

 276  312 

Total intangible assets  158,076  173,948 

	 Amortisation and impairment losses
The amortisation charge and impairment of goodwill are recognised in the following line item in the income statement:

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Amortisation expense  192  217 

Impairment of goodwill  17,844  - 

Total expense for the year for continuing operations  18,036  217 
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21	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

	 Impairment tests for cash generating units containing goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s geographical operating divisions. 

The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are as follows:

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Australian rental  151,744  151,745 

Canada rental  6,056  5,637 

Asian rental  -  16,255 

Total rental  157,800  173,637 

The Group has determined the recoverable amount of its cash generating units (CGU) using a value in use methodology (2012: value in 
use) which is based on discounted cash flows for five years plus a terminal value. Impairment testing is intended to assess the recoverable 
amount of both tangible and intangible assets. As such, although the Chile Rental CGU has nil goodwill, impairment testing has been 
performed for this CGU. Nominal post tax discount rates have been derived as a weighted cost of equity and debt. Cost of equity is 
calculated using country specific ten year bond rates plus an appropriate market risk premium. The cost of debt is determined using the 
appropriate CGU three year swap rate plus a margin for three year tenor debt of equivalently credit rated businesses at 30 June 2013. The 
three year swap rates were used as the base rate to reflect the relative illiquidity for longer tenure debt in the current market. The nominal 
post tax discount rates for determining the rental CGU’s valuations range between 9.2% and 12.8% (2012: 7.4% and 11.7%). For future 
cashflows of each CGU, the revenue growth in the first year of the business reflects the best estimate for the coming year taking account 
of macroeconomic, business model, strategic and market factors. Growth rates for subsequent years are based on Emeco’s five year 
outlook taking into account all available information at this current time and are subject to change over time. Compound annual growth 
rates (CAGR) over the five years of the forecast range between negative 0.5% and 1.0% (2012: 2.0% and 10%). The range excludes the 
Chilean CGU given its full first year of operation will be FY14. 

30 June 2013 impairment testing which resulted in the estimated recoverable amount of a CGU exceeding its carrying amount are as 
follows:

AMOUNT BY WHICH CGU RECOVERABLE 
AMOUNT EXCEEDS ITS CARRYING AMOUNT 

(IN $ MILLIONS)

Australian rental 6.2

Canada rental 32.7

Chile rental 7.5

	 Impairment loss
For the interim period ended 31 December 2012, impairment testing indicated the Indonesian Rental CGU was not impaired. Following 
capital investment in Indonesia during FY12, the business suffered significant utilisation decline during the year which is expected to 
translate into revenue growth of negative 75% in FY14.  Consequently, annual impairment testing conducted at 30 June 2013 has 
identified a total goodwill impairment charge of $17.8 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2013. The impairment charge is included 
in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (page 62). Refer to note 2(c).
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21	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

	 Impairment testing sensitivities
The CGU valuations are sensitive to changes in the discount rate and underlying fleet utilisation assumptions for cashflow forecasts and 
terminal value. The following table shows the amount by which these two assumptions would need to change individually in order for the 
estimated recoverable amount of the CGU to be equal to the carrying amount:

CHANGE REQUIRED FOR CARRYING AMOUNT TO EQUAL THE
 RECOVERABLE AMOUNT (IN PERCENT)

CGU DISCOUNT RATE % UTILISATION %

Australian rental 0.1 (0.4)

Canada rental 1.4 (7.3)

Chile rental 0.9 (3.9)

22	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Freehold land and buildings - at cost  12,808  23,801 

Less: Accumulated depreciation  (3,223)  (3,918)

 9,585  19,883 

Leasehold improvements - at cost  4,950  4,936 

Less: Accumulated depreciation  (2,748)  (2,398)

 2,202  2,538 

Plant and equipment - at cost  1,284,734  1,254,698 

Less : Accumulated depreciation  (498,572)  (476,671)

 786,162  778,027 

Leased plant and equipment - at capitalised cost  21,228  21,228 

Less : Accumulated depreciation  (9,294)  (6,127)

 11,934  15,101 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings - at cost  1,378  1,373 

Less : Accumulated depreciation  (690)  (614)

 688  759 

Office equipment - at cost  2,606  2,510 

Less : Accumulated depreciation  (1,637)  (1,433)

 969  1,077 

Motor vehicles - at cost  9,644  8,682 

Less : Accumulated depreciation  (5,005)  (4,117)

 4,639  4,565 

Sundry plant - at cost  14,171  11,984 

Less : Accumulated depreciation  (10,140)  (8,714)

 4,031  3,270 

Total property, plant and equipment - at net book value  820,210  825,220 
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22	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

RECONCILIATIONS  

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:  

FREEHOLD LAND AND BUILDINGS  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  19,883  26,142 

Additions  643  239 

Depreciation  (957)  (1,732)

Disposals  (468)  (4,844)

Effects of movement in foreign exchange  686  78 

Impairment  (3,031)  - 

Reclassified to assets held for sale  (7,171)  - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  9,585  19,883 

LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  2,538  2,859 

Additions  367  398 

Disposals  (124)  (40)

Depreciation  (548)  (680)

Effects of movement in foreign exchange  5  1 

Impairment  (7)  - 

Reclassified to assets held for sale  (29)  - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  2,202  2,538 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  778,027  591,721 

Additions  132,504  309,772 

Net movement in capital work in progress  (13,270)  6,449 

Transferred from leased plant and equipment  -  10,049 

Net movement in rental inventory (1)  (376)  12,052 

Disposals  (46,679)  (26,050)

Depreciation  (103,953)  (126,143)

Impairment loss  (377)  (210)

Effects of movements in foreign exchange  40,286  388 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  786,162  778,027 

FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND FITTINGS  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  758  680 

Additions  178  237 

Disposals  (41)  (19)

Depreciation  (187)  (140)

Impairment  (37)  - 

Effects of movement in foreign exchange  17  - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  688  758 

(1)	 Included in this movement are purchases totalling $19.9 million for the year ended 30 June 2013.
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22	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

RECONCILIATIONS (CONTINUED)  

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:  

OFFICE EQUIPMENT  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  1,077  1,059 

Additions  432  545 

Disposals  (17)  (88)

Depreciation  (543)  (445)

Effects of movement in foreign exchange  20  6 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  969  1,077 

MOTOR VEHICLES  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  4,565  4,412 

Additions  1,881  1,590 

Disposals  (234)  (397)

Depreciation  (1,649)  (1,040)

Effects of movement in foreign exchange  76  - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  4,639  4,565 

SUNDRY PLANT  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  3,270  2,700 

Additions  2,379  2,264 

Disposals  (214)  (250)

Depreciation  (1,543)  (1,480)

Effects of movement in foreign exchange  139  36 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  4,031  3,270 

LEASED PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year  15,101  28,960 

Transferred to owned plant and equipment  -  (10,049)

Depreciation  (3,167)  (3,810)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  11,934  15,101 

	 Security
The Group’s assets are subject to a fixed and floating charge under the terms of the syndicated debt facility. Refer note 24 for  
further details.
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23	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

CURRENT  

TRADE PAYABLES  

Trade payables  13,780  20,558 

Other payables and accruals (1)  26,782  43,738 

 40,562  64,296 

NON-CURRENT  

OTHER PAYABLES  

Other payables and accruals  1,284  - 

 1,284  - 

(1)	 This includes $Nil accruals for equipment received but not yet paid for at 30 June 2013 (2012: $26.8 million).

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk associated with trade and other payables is disclosed in note 6.

The Company has also entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with certain subsidiaries as described in note 37. Under the terms of the 
Deed, the Company has guaranteed the repayment of all current and future creditors in the event any of the entities party to the Deed are 
wound up. Details of the consolidated financial position of the Company and subsidiaries party to the Deed are set out in note 37.

24	 INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

CURRENT  

Amortised cost  

Working capital facility  5,256  - 

Insurance financing  464  - 

Lease liabilities - secured  3,588  3,339 

 9,308  3,339 

NON-CURRENT  

Fair value  

Notes issue – secured (USPP)  95,596  92,652 

Debt raising costs (USPP)  (1,193)  (1,167)

Amortised cost  

Bank loans - secured  252,746  301,980 

Notes issue – secured (USPP)  53,961  49,155 

Lease liabilities - secured  8,770  12,358 

Debt raising costs (bank loans)  (3,100)  (2,060)

Debt raising costs (USPP)  (662)  (648)

 406,118  452,270 
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24	 INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

	 Bank loans
The Group refinanced its senior secured syndicated loan facility with a limit of $450 million (2012: $450 million) on 28 September 2012. 
The debt facility comprises a three year $200 million, a four year $125 million and a five year $125 million revolving multi-currency facility of 
AUD, USD and CAD that matures on September 2015, September 2016 and September 2017 respectively. The syndicated facility allows 
for funds to be drawn in Australian, United States and Canadian dollars. The nominal interest rate is based on USD Libor, BBSW and 
CAD CDOR (2012: USD Libor, BBSW and CAD Libor) for their respective currencies, plus a margin. The Group’s syndicated loan facility is 
measured at amortised cost. At year end the Group had the following drawn: 

FY13 FY12

FUNDS DRAWN 
IN FUNCTIONAL 

CURRENCY
FUNDS DRAWN 

TRANSLATED TO AUD

FUNDS DRAWN 
IN FUNCTIONAL 

CURRENCY
FUNDS DRAWN 

TRANSLATED TO AUD

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

AUD $151,000 $151,000 $80,000 $80,000

CAD C$83,000 $85,558 C$216,000 $207,234

USD US$15,000 $16,188 US$15,000 $14,746

	 USPP notes issue
Under the terms of the note purchase agreement, the noteholders hold a joint fixed and floating charge with the syndicated bank group 
over the assets and undertakings of the Group. The US$140.0 million notes were issued on 22 May 2012 and comprises a 7 year 
US$40.0 million tranche and a US$100.0 million 10 year tranche which matures 22 May 2019 and 22 May 2022 respectively. The nominal 
interest rate for the 7 and 10 year notes are 4.63% and 5.25% respectively. Of the notes, US$20.0 million, with a maturity of 7 years, 
and US$30.0 million of notes, with a maturity of 10 years, are measured at amortised cost. The remaining notes are measured at fair 
value through profit and loss and the Group designated derivatives (interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps) as hedge 
instruments against this underlying debt.

FY13 FY12

FUNDS DRAWN 
IN FUNCTIONAL 

CURRENCY
FUNDS DRAWN 

TRANSLATED TO AUD

FUNDS DRAWN 
IN FUNCTIONAL 

CURRENCY
FUNDS DRAWN 

TRANSLATED TO AUD

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

USD US$140,000 $149,557 US$140,000 $141,807

	 Working capital facility
The working capital facility is secured under the syndicated facility mentioned above, and has a limit of $20.0 million (2011: $25.0 million). 
The Group also obtained working capital facilities for Emeco Canada Limited of C$2.0 million (2011: C$2.0 million). The $20.0 million 
facility expires on 16 November 2013 and it is the intention that it will be renegotiated for another 12 months. The C$2.0 million facility 
expires 11 December 2013. The working capital facility is drawn to $5.3 million at 30 June 2013 (2012: $Nil).

	 Other financial liabilities
Under the terms of the syndicated loan facility, the Group can enter into other permitted indebtedness of A$100.0 million, which is incurred 
in the ordinary course of business, and asset backed indebtedness for the higher of A$100.0 million or 15% of total tangible assets up to 
a maximum of A$200 million and can be increased to a maximum of A$200.0 million. These limits are subject to an aggregate financial 
indebtedness limit not exceeding A$800.0 million. At year end the Group had established finance lease facilities totalling $12.4 million 
(2012: $15.7 million), financed its insurance premium totalling $0.5 million and issued notes in the USPP market totalling US$140.0 million 
(A$149.6 million) (2012: US$140.0 million (A$141.8 million)) which are included within this permitted indebtedness limit. Assets leased 
under the facility are secured by the assets leased.
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24	 INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

	 Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities of the Group are payable as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

FUTURE 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS INTEREST

PRESENT 
VALUE OF 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

FUTURE 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS INTEREST

PRESENT 
VALUE OF 
MINIMUM 

LEASE 
PAYMENTS

2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Less than one year  4,362  (774)  3,588  4,362  (1,023)  3,339 

Between one and five years  9,334  (564)  8,770  13,696  (1,338)  12,358 

More than five years  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 13,696  (1,338)  12,358  18,058  (2,361)  15,697 

The Group leases plant and equipment under finance leases. The Group’s lease liabilities are secured by the leased assets of $11,934,000 
(2012: $15,139,000). In the event of default, the leased assets revert to the lessor.

25	 FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has the ability to access the following lines of credit:

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

TOTAL FACILITIES AVAILABLE:  

Bank loans  450,000  450,000 

USPP Notes  149,557  141,807 

Finance leases  12,358  15,697 

Insurance financing  464  - 

Working capital  22,062  21,919 

 634,441  629,423 

FACILITIES UTILISED AT REPORTING DATE:  

Bank loans  252,746  301,980 

USPP Notes  149,557  141,807 

Finance leases  12,358  15,697 

Insurance financing  464  - 

Working capital  5,256  - 

 420,381  459,484 

FACILITIES NOT UTILISED OR ESTABLISHED AT REPORTING DATE:  

Bank loans  197,254  148,020 

USPP Notes  -  - 

Finance leases  -  - 

Insurance financing  -  - 

Working capital  16,805  21,919 

 214,059  169,939 



109EMECO HOLD INGS L IM ITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2013BET TER EQU IPPED

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2013

26	 PROVISIONS

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

CURRENT  

Employee benefits:  

- annual leave  2,807  3,404 

- long service leave  533  447 

- other  48  115 

 3,388  3,966 

NON-CURRENT  

Employee benefits - long service leave  1,244  1,044 

	 Defined contribution superannuation funds
The Group makes contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds. The expense recognised for the year was $3,424,000 
(2012: $4,879,000). During the prior period there was a one-off expense totalling $1.2 million (post tax) which relates to unpaid employee 
superannuation from prior years arising from a payroll system error identified during an internal payroll systems review which has now been 
rectified.

27	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the year the Company issued performance shares and performance rights to key management personnel and senior employees of 
the Group under its LTIP (refer note 3j(v)). During the prior years LTIP performance shares and rights were also issued under similar terms 
and conditions and priced relative to the time of issue.

Prior to establishing the LTIP certain key management personnel and senior employees were issued shares in the Company under the 
Company’s MISP (refer note 3j(v)).

During the year the Company issued matching shares to certain employees of the Group under its ESOP (refer note 3j(v)).

Performance shares, performance rights, options and shares issued under the MISP are all equity settled.
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27	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Long term incentive plan

 
 
GRANT DATE / EMPLOYEES ENTITLED

NUMBER OF 
INSTRUMENTS

 
 
VESTING CONDITIONS

CONTRACTUAL LIFE 
OF PERFORMANCE 

SHARES/RIGHTS

MATURED IN FY11:
Performance shares/rights 2008 1,290,000 3 years service TSR ranking to a basket of direct and 

indirect peers of 98 listed companies.

50% entitlement for a 50.1% ranking within TSR group. Pro 
rata entitlement up to 100% vesting for a ranking of 75% 
better to TSR group

5 years

MATURED IN FY12:
Performance shares/rights 2009 9,819,790 3 years service TSR ranking to a basket of direct and 

indirect peers of 98 listed companies.

50% entitlement for a 50.1% ranking within TSR group. Pro 
rata entitlement up to 100% vesting for a ranking of 75% 
better to TSR group 

5 years

MATURED IN FY13:
Performance shares/rights 2010 (1) 4,608,076 3 years service TSR ranking to a basket of direct and 

indirect peers of 98 listed companies.

50% entitlement for a 50.1% ranking within TSR group. Pro 
rata entitlement up to 100% vesting for a ranking of 75% 
better to TSR group

3 years

UNVESTED PLANS:
Performance shares/rights 2011 (1) 5,889,200 3 years service TSR ranking to a basket of direct and 

indirect peers of 97 listed companies.

50% entitlement for a 50.1% ranking within TSR group. Pro 
rata entitlement up to 100% vesting for a ranking of 75% 
better to TSR group

3 years

Performance shares/rights 2012 4,246,661 3 years service TSR ranking to a basket of direct and 
indirect peers of 97 listed companies.

50% entitlement for a 50.1% ranking within TSR group. Pro 
rata entitlement up to 100% vesting for a ranking of 75% 
better to TSR group

3 years

Performance shares/rights 2013 6,881,251 3 years service TSR ranking to a basket of direct and 
indirect peers of 93 listed companies.

50% entitlement for a 50.1% ranking within TSR group. Pro 
rata entitlement up to 100% vesting for a ranking of 75% 
better to TSR group

3 years

(1)	 On 16 November 2010 shareholders approved the grant of 925,926 performance rights and 1,183,929 performance shares for nil consideration for the 2010 
and 2011 financial year respectively to the Managing Director. The 925,926 and 1,183,929 instruments have been included in the number of instruments for 
the performance shares/rights 2010 and 2011 respectively above. 

The movement of performance shares and performance rights on issue during the year were as follows:

NUMBER OF 
PERFORMANCE 

SHARES/RIGHTS
 

2013

NUMBER OF 
PERFORMANCE 

SHARES/RIGHTS
 

2012

Outstanding at 1 July 16,970,271 15,794,934

Forfeited during the period (3,355,878) (798,954)

Exercised during the period (3,598,452) (2,272,370)

Granted during the period 6,881,251 4,246,661

Outstanding at 30 June 16,897,192 16,970,271

Exercisable at 30 June 3,364,390 4,955,409
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27	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

	 Management incentive share plan

GRANT DATE / EMPLOYEES ENTITLED
NUMBER OF 

INSTRUMENTS
 
VESTING CONDITIONS

CONTRACTUAL LIFE 
OF MISP

MISP 2006 4,010,000 Service requirement. Partial vesting entitlement after  
2 years with full vesting after 5 years. 

10 years

MISP 2007 1,240,000 Service requirement. Partial vesting entitlement after  
2 years with full vesting after 5 years. 

10 years

MISP 2008 560,000 Service requirement. Partial vesting entitlement after  
2 years with full vesting after 5 years. 

10 years

5,810,000

The number of MISPs are as follows:

NUMBER OF MISP
 

2013

NUMBER OF MISP
 

2012

Outstanding at 1 July 1,600,000 2,160,000

Forfeited during the period - (375,000)

Exercised during the period - (185,000)

Granted during the period - -

Outstanding at 30 June 1,600,000 1,600,000

Exercisable at 30 June (1) 1,600,000 1,040,000

(1)	 While satisfying the service requirements under the MISP, the shares are not considered exercisable until the full vesting period has been satisfied.	

	 Employee share ownership plan

GRANT DATE / EMPLOYEES ENTITLED
NUMBER OF 

INSTRUMENTS
 
VESTING CONDITIONS

CONTRACTUAL LIFE 
OF ESOP

MATURED IN JANUARY 2012  
ESOP 2011

26,976 Service requirement. Full vesting entitlement after 1 year after 
the end of the calendar year in which they are acquired. 

1 year

MATURED IN JANUARY 2013  
ESOP 2012

28,898 Service requirement. Full vesting entitlement after 1 year after 
the end of the calendar year in which they are acquired.

1 year

ESOP 2013 75,388 Service requirement. Full vesting entitlement after 1 year after 
the end of the calendar year in which they are acquired.

1 year

131,262

The number of ESOPs are as follows:

NUMBER OF ESOP
 

2013

NUMBER OF ESOP
 

2012

Outstanding at 1 July 44,215 23,752

Forfeited during the period (3,584) (2,120)

Exercised during the period (26,333) (6,315)

Granted during the period 75,388 28,898

Outstanding at 30 June 89,686 44,215

Exercisable at 30 June (1) - -

(1)	 The shares are not considered exercisable until the full vesting period has been satisfied.
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27	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair value of services received in return for the performance shares and rights granted during the year are based on the fair value of the 
LTIPs granted, measured using Monte Carlo simulation analysis. Expected volatility is estimated by considering the Company’s historical 
daily and monthly share price movement and an analysis of comparable companies. Market conditions are detailed in note 3(j)(v). The 
inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date are as follows:

FAIR VALUE OF PERFORMANCE 
SHARES/RIGHTS

CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER
2013

KEY 
MANAGEMENT 

PERSONNEL
2013

KEY 
MANAGEMENT 

PERSONNEL
2012

SENIOR 
EMPLOYEES

2013

SENIOR 
EMPLOYEES

2012
ESOP
2013

ESOP (1)

2012

Fair value at grant date $0.27 $0.46 $0.76 $0.56 $0.76 $0.28 - $0.86 $0.86 - $1.16

Share price $0.51 $0.70 $0.98 $0.70 $0.98 $0.28 - $0.86 $0.86 - $1.16

Exercise price $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil

Expected volatility (weighted  
average volatility) 40% - 60% 40% - 60% 40% - 60% 40% - 60% 40% - 60% n/a n/a

Maturity (expected weighted  
average life) 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 1 year 1 year

Expected dividends 7.6% 8.7% 4.8% 8.7% 4.8% n/a n/a

Risk-free interest rate (based  
on government bonds) 2.6% 2.7% 3.8% 2.7% 3.8% n/a n/a

(1)	 The ESOP was established in November 2010.

The fair value assumptions for unvested MISPs that continued to be expensed have not changed since the fair value was determined at 
grant date in previous years.

For the Group’s key management personnel commencing with the FY13 grant and all subsequent grants of LTI securities the following 
applies:

Dividends:

•	 dividends (or shadow dividends) will not be paid on unvested LTI securities;
•	 dividends (or shadow dividends) will accrue on unvested LTI securities and will only be paid at the time of vesting on those LTI 

securities that vest, provided all vesting conditions are met; and

Absolute change in control:

•	 the proportion of vesting LTI securities will be pro-rated to reflect the performance achieved;
•	 the proportion of vesting LTI securities will be in accordance with the relevant TSR vesting schedule for each grant; and
•	 the Board retains the discretion to vest a greater amount.

	 Employee expenses

CONSOLIDATED

IN AUD 2013 2012

Performance shares/rights 2,811,633 2,492,552

MISP 583 (29,517)

ESOP 41,188 25,153

Total expense recognised as employee costs (1) 2,853,404 2,488,188

(1)	 Included in share based employee expenses for the year is the write back of prior year share based employee expenses as a result of the shares, rights or 
options being forfeited during the year because the employee does not meet the required performance hurdles or service requirements.
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28	 COMMITMENTS

(a)	 Operating lease commitments

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

FUTURE NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES NOT PROVIDED FOR IN THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND PAYABLE:  

Less than one year  7,850  3,981 

Between one and five years  19,491  5,682 

More than five years  3,351  2,991 

 30,692  12,654 

The Group leases the majority of their operating premises.  The terms of the lease are negotiated in conjunction with the Group’s internal 
and external advisors and are dependent upon market forces.

During the year ended 30 June 2013 an amount of $5,703,000 was recognised as an expense in profit or loss in respect of operating 
leases (2012: $4,091,000).

(b)	 Capital commitments
The Group has entered into commitments with certain suppliers for purchases of fixed assets, primarily rental fleet assets, in the amount  
of $1,413,000 (2012: $77,107,000) payable within one year.

29	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

	 Guarantees
The Group has guaranteed the repayments of $75,000 (2012: $122,500) in relation to office premises with varying expiry dates out to  
30 June 2014.
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30	 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(i)	 Reconciliation of cash
For the purposes of the statements of cash flow, cash includes cash on hand and at bank and short term deposits at call, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash as at the end of the financial year as shown in the statements of cash flows is reconciled to the related 
items in the statements of financial position as follows:-

    CONSOLIDATED

    2013 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

Cash assets 17  5,754  73,091 

(ii)	 Reconciliation of net profit to net cash provided by operating activities

    CONSOLIDATED

    2013 2012

  NOTE $’000 $’000

Net profit  6,004  69,745 

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING/FINANCING ACTIVITIES:  

 Net profit on sale of non-current assets 8  (1,999)  (3,723)

ADD/(LESS) NON-CASH ITEMS:    

 Amortisation 21  192  217 

 Depreciation 22  112,547  135,611 

 Amortisation of borrowing costs 8  1,141  1,180 

 Write off previous deferred borrowing costs 8  1,910  - 

 (Gain)/loss on fair value hedge 8  32  3 

 Realised foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss    452  - 

 Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss    (235)  416 

 Impairment losses on property, plant & equipment 22  3,452  785 

 Impairment of goodwill 21  17,844  - 

 Write down on inventory 20  8,664  1,277 

 Cost of sales equipment on rent 8  -  1,478 

 Bad debts 8  2,053  11,083 

 Provision for doubtful debts (1) 8  13,108  (10,348)

 FCTR of discontinued operations disposed  -  156 

 Other non-cash items  237  342 

 Equity settled share based payments  2,849  2,488 

 (Decrease)/increase in income taxes payable  (27,476)  7,310 

 (Decrease)/increase in deferred taxes  19,162  7,053 

Net cash provided by operating activities before change in assets/(liabilities) adjusted for 
assets and (liabilities) acquired

 159,937  225,073 

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  2,273  (21,980)

 (Increase)/decrease in inventories  20,355  13,456 

 Increase/(decrease) in payables  (884)  13,784 

 Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (378)  134 

Net cash provided by operating activities  181,303  230,467 

(1)	 Included in the movement of the provision for Doubtful debts is $13.5 million related to contract disputes with two customers in Indonesia where the 
Company continued invoicing in accordance with contract terms, after the equipment had been stood down. The Company is continuing negotiations with 
the respective parties on these matters.
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31	 CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(a)	 Particulars in relation to controlled entities

NOTE

COUNTRY
OF

INCORPORATION

OWNERSHIP INTEREST

2013
%

2012
%

Parent entity

	 Emeco Holdings Limited

Controlled entities

	 Pacific Custodians Pty Ltd as trustee for Emeco

	 Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust Australia 100 100

	 Emeco Pty Limited Australia 100 100

		  Emeco International Pty Limited Australia 100 100

			   Emeco Sales Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

			   Emeco Parts Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

	 Emeco (UK) Limited (i) United Kingdom 100 100

	 	 Emeco Equipment (USA) LLC (ii) United States 100 100

		  PT Prima Traktor IndoNusa (PTI) (iii) Indonesia 100 100

		  Emeco International Europe BV (iv) Netherlands 100 100

			   Emeco Europe BV (v) Netherlands 100 100

			   Euro Machinery BV (vi) Netherlands 100 100

		  Emeco Canada Ltd (vii) Canada 100 100

	 Enduro SPA (viii) Chile 100 100

Notes

(i)	 Emeco (UK) Limited was incorporated in and carries on business in the United Kingdom. Emeco (UK) Limited is the parent entity of 
Emeco Equipment (USA) LLC, PT Prima Traktor IndoNusa (PTI), Emeco International Europe BV and Emeco Canada Limited.

(ii)	 Emeco Equipment (USA) LLC was incorporated in and carries on business in the United States. This was classified as a discontinued 
operation in 2010 but was reclassified as a continuing operation at 30 June 2012.

(iii)	 PT Prima Traktor IndoNusa was incorporated in and carries on business in Indonesia.
(iv)	 Emeco International Europe BV was incorporated in and carries on business in the Netherlands. Emeco International Europe BV 

is the parent entity of Emeco Europe BV, and Euro Machinery BV. This was classified as a discontinued operation in 2012 but was 
reclassified as a continuing operation in 2013.

(v)	 Emeco Europe BV was incorporated in and carries on a business in the Netherlands. This was classified as a discontinued operation 
in 2012 but was reclassified as a continuing operation in 2013.

(vi)	 Euro Machinery BV was acquired on 4 January 2007 and carries on business in the Netherlands. This was classified as a 
discontinued operation in 2012 but was reclassified as a continuing operation in 2013.

(vii)	 Emeco Canada Ltd was incorporated and carries on business in Canada. On 2 August 2005 Emeco Canada Ltd acquired River 
Valley Equipment Company Ltd, which operates within Emeco Canada Ltd.

(viii)	 Enduro SpA was incorporated on 24 February 2012 and carries on business in Chile.

(b)	 Acquisition of entities in the current year
There was no acquisition of entities this financial year.

(c)	 Acquisition of entities in the prior year
There was no acquisition of entities in the prior year.
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32	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE

The following were key management personnel of the Group at any time during the reporting period and unless otherwise indicated were 
key management personnel for the entire period.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Robert Bishop

Alec Brennan, Chairperson

John Cahill

Peter Johnston (ceased directorship on 30 June 2013)

Peter Richards 

Erica Smyth 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Keith Gordon, Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

OTHER EXECUTIVES

Stephen Gobby, Chief Financial Officer

Anthony Halls, General Manager Australian Rental

Michael Kirkpatrick, General Manager Corporate Services

Christopher Mossman, President Director Indonesia (ceased employment with Emeco on 31 May 2013)

Grant Stubbs, General Manager Global Asset Management (commenced role on 1 May 2013)

Ian Testrow, President Emeco Americas (ceased role on 25 April 2013) / President New & Developing Business (commenced role on 26 April 2013)

Michael Turner, General Manager Global Asset Management (ceased role on 31 December 2012)

	 Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel compensation is as follows:

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

In AUD

Short-term employee benefits  4,654,631  5,491,243 

Other long term benefits  -  - 

Post-employment benefits  176,534  214,966 

Termination benefits  -  26,182 

Equity compensation benefits  1,040,366  1,534,671 

 5,871,531  7,267,062 

	 Remuneration of key management personnel by the Group
The compensation disclosed above represents an allocation of the key management personnel’s compensation from the Group in relation 
to their services rendered to the Company.

	 Individual Directors and Executives compensation disclosures
Information regarding individual Directors and Executives compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as required by 
Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 and 2M.6.04 are provided in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ report on pages  
47 to 59.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the Group since the end 
of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving Directors’ interests existing at year-end.
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32	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

	 Equity Instruments
	 Shares and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation under management incentive share 

plan
The Company has an ongoing management incentive share plan in which shares have been granted to certain Directors and employees 
of the Company. The shares vest over a five year period and are accounted for as an option in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based 
Payments. The Company has provided a ten year interest free loan to facilitate the purchase of the Shares under the management 
incentive share plan.

	 Shares and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation under long term incentive plan
The Company has an ongoing long term incentive plan in which shares have been granted to certain employees of the Company. The 
shares vest after 3 years depending upon the Company’s total shareholder return ranking against a peer group of 97 Companies. The 
shares have been accounted for as an option in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payments.

The movement during the reporting year in the number of shares issued under the management incentive share plan, performance shares 
under the long term incentive plan and matching employee share ownership plan in the Company held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, 
by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows. These plans have been combined for the purposes of this 
note as they represent direct interests over the shares. Directors or Executives with no holdings are not included in the following tables. 
The disclosure table has included all vested shares to the key management personnel’s equity holdings. The prior year comparatives have 
been restated to reflect this change.

2013 SHARES
HELD AT  

1 JULY 2012
GRANTED AS 

COMPENSATION
VESTED DURING 

THE YEAR
FORFEITED/

LAPSED
HELD AT  

30 JUNE 2013

DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVES          

Stephen Gobby  743,127  531,304  -  -  1,274,431 

Michael Turner (2)  556,717  397,391  -  -  n/a 

Ian Testrow  -  -  -  -  - 

Michael Kirkpatrick  441,579  316,522  -  -  758,101 

Anthony Halls  473,764  338,226  -  -  811,990 

Christopher Mossman (2)  -  -  -  -  n/a 

Keith Gordon  2,091,192  1,498,957  -  -  3,590,149 

Grant Stubbs (3)  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  138,327 

2012 SHARES
HELD AT  

1 JULY 2011
GRANTED AS 

COMPENSATION
VESTED DURING 

THE YEAR
FORFEITED/

LAPSED
HELD AT  

30 JUNE 2012

DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVES          

Hamish Christie-Johnston  1,261,408  413  (727,849)  (533,972)  n/a 

Stephen Gobby  1,152,538  322,571  (731,982)  -  743,127 

David Tilbrook  1,039,714  -  (812,495)  (227,219)  n/a 

Michael Turner  900,785  241,518  (585,586)  -  556,717 

Ian Testrow (1)  540,541  -  (540,541)  -  - 

Michael Kirkpatrick  700,450  191,579  (450,450)  -  441,579 

Anthony Halls  430,218  205,708  (162,162)  -  473,764 

Christopher Mossman  171,667  -  (171,667)  -  - 

Keith Gordon  1,183,929  907,263  -  -  2,091,192 

Dividends paid under the Management Incentive Share Plan are paid against the employees outstanding loan and is reflected in issued capital.
(1)	 Included in this balance of equity instruments Mr Testrow held 300,000 MISP shares at 30 June 2011. These shares vested during FY12.
(2)	 Mr Turner and Mr Mossman ceased to be key management personnel on 31 December 2012 and 31 May 2013 respectively. 
(3)	 Mr Stubbs became a key management personnel on 1 May 2013. The shares held at 30 June 2013 were granted as compensation prior to Mr Stubbs 

becoming a key management personnel.
n/a	 Not applicable as not in a position of key management at reporting date.
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32	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

The movement during the reporting year in the number of performance rights issued under the long term incentive plan in the Company 
held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows. Directors or 
Executives with no holdings are not included in the following tables.

2013 RIGHTS
HELD AT  

1 JULY 2012
GRANTED AS 

COMPENSATION
VESTED DURING 

THE YEAR
FORFEITED/

LAPSED
HELD AT  

30 JUNE 2013

DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVES          

Stephen Gobby  300,926  -  (154,375)  (146,551)  - 

Michael Turner (1)  240,741  -  (123,500)  (117,241)  n/a 

Ian Testrow  697,470  451,371  (122,647)  (116,430)  909,764 

Michael Kirkpatrick  185,185  -  (95,000)  (90,185)  - 

Anthony Halls  166,667  -  (85,500)  (81,167)  - 

Christopher Mossman (1)  369,679  323,875  (36,204)  (34,370)  n/a 

Keith Gordon  925,926  -  (475,000)  (450,926)  - 
           

2012 RIGHTS
HELD AT  

1 JULY 2011
GRANTED AS 

COMPENSATION
VESTED DURING 

THE YEAR
FORFEITED/

LAPSED
HELD AT  

30 JUNE 2012

DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVES          

Hamish Christie-Johnston  203,704  -  (146,273)  (57,431)  n/a 

Stephen Gobby  300,926  -  -  -  300,926 

David Tilbrook  281,481  -  (189,437)  (92,044)  n/a 

Michael Turner  240,741  -  -  -  240,741 

Ian Testrow  508,470  189,000  -  -  697,470 

Michael Kirkpatrick  185,185  -  -  -  185,185 

Anthony Halls  166,667  -  -  -  166,667 

Christopher Mossman  177,586  192,093  -  -  369,679 

Keith Gordon  925,926  -  -  -  925,926 

(1)	 Mr Turner and Mr Mossman ceased to be key management personnel on 31 December 2012 and 31 May 2013 respectively.
n/a	 Not applicable as not in a position of key management personnel at time of compilation.

	 Options over equity instruments granted as compensation under a share option programme
The movement during the reporting year in the number of options held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each former key management 
person, including their related parties is as follows:

2013
HELD AT  

1 JULY 2012
GRANTED AS 

COMPENSATION EXERCISED
OPTIONS 

FORFEITED
OTHER 

CHANGES
HELD AT  

30 JUNE 2013

VESTED 
DURING 

THE YEAR

VESTED AND 
EXERCISABLE 

AT  
30 JUNE 2013

DIRECTORS & 
EXECUTIVES                

L C Freedman  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

R L C Adair  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
                 

2012
HELD AT  

1 JULY 2011
GRANTED AS 

COMPENSATION EXERCISED
OPTIONS 

FORFEITED
OTHER 

CHANGES
HELD AT  

30 JUNE 2012(1)

VESTED 
DURING 

THE YEAR

VESTED AND 
EXERCISABLE 

AT 
 30 JUNE 2012

DIRECTORS & 
EXECUTIVES                

L C Freedman 1,600,000  -  -  (1,600,000)  -  -  -  - 

R L C Adair  533,334  -  -  (533,334)  -  -  -  - 

(1)	 The options issued to Mr Freedman and Mr Adair expired 5 years after their date of issue on 4 August 2011. 
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32	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

	 Equity holdings and transactions
The shares in the Company held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their personally-related 
entities at year end, are as follows. The disclosure table has been adjusted to include the transfer of vested shares from the employee 
share plans to the equity holdings of the members of key management personnel. The prior year comparatives have been restated to 
reflect this change.

2013

 HELD AT  
1 JULY 2012 
ORDINARY 

SHARES 

TRANSFERRED 
FROM SHARE 

PLAN PURCHASES SALES 

HELD AT  
30 JUNE 2013 

ORDINARY 
SHARES 

DIRECTORS          

K D Gordon  650,000  475,000  -  -  1,125,000 

A N Brennan  1,581,700  -  -  -  1,581,700 

P B Johnston  100,000  -  -  -  100,000 

J R Cahill  120,000  -  -  -  120,000 

R P Bishop  300,000  -  266,600  -  566,600 

P I Richards  40,000  -  -  -  40,000 

E L Smyth  -  -  71,049  -  71,049 

EXECUTIVES          

M A Turner  3,187,151  124,903  3,816  (1,190,000)  n/a 

S G Gobby  201,547  155,778  8,974  -  366,299 

I M Testrow  892,541  -  -  -  892,541 

M R Kirkpatrick  -  -  -  -  - 

A G Halls  171,817  86,813  8,974  -  267,604 

C Mossman  184,167  36,204  -  -  n/a 

G Stubbs  n/a  n/a  1,869  -  19,942 

n/a	 Not applicable as not in a position of key management personnel at time of compilation.
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32	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE (CONTINUED)

2012

 HELD AT  
1 JULY 2011 
ORDINARY 

SHARES 

TRANSFERRED 
FROM SHARE 

PLAN PURCHASES SALES 

HELD AT  
30 JUNE 2012 

ORDINARY 
SHARES 

DIRECTORS

K D Gordon  650,000  -  -  -  650,000 

A N Brennan  1,581,700  -  -  -  1,581,700 

P B Johnston  100,000  -  -  -  100,000 

J R Cahill  120,000  -  -  -  120,000 

R P Bishop  300,000  -  -  -  300,000 

P I Richards  40,000  -  -  -  40,000 

E L Smyth  -  -  -  -  - 

EXECUTIVES

D O Tilbrook  3,352,000  812,495  n/a  n/a  n/a 

M A Turner  3,056,578  585,586  4,987  (460,000)  3,187,151 

S G Gobby  465,578  731,982  4,987  (1,001,000)  201,547 

I M Testrow  352,000  540,541  -  -  892,541 

H A Christie-Johnston  92,067  727,849  n/a  n/a  n/a 

M R Kirkpatrick  -  450,450  -  (450,450)  - 

A G Halls  24,668  162,162  4,987  (20,000)  171,817 

C Mossman  12,500  171,667  -  -  184,167 

	 Loans
Other than the loan issued under the management incentive share plan no specified Director or Executive has entered into any loan 
arrangements with the Group.

	 Other key management personnel transactions
A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or 
significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.

A number of these entities transacted with the Company or its subsidiaries in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of the 
transactions with management persons and their related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably 
be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-director related entities on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate value of transactions recognised during the year related to key management personnel and their related parties were as 
follows:

TRANSACTION VALUE  
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE

BALANCE OUTSTANDING 
AS AT 30 JUNE

      2013 2012 2013 2012

    NOTE  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERSON AND THEIR 
RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION

   

Mr P Richards 
- �Kangaroo Resources 

Limited

Rental of heavy 
earthmoving  
equipment (1)  399  4,408  -  947 

Total current assets  399  4,408  -  947 

(1)	 PT Prima Traktor IndoNusa (refer note 31) rents heavy earthmoving equipment to PT Mamahak Coal Mining, a subsidiary of Kangaroo Resources Limited 
for an annual revenue of A$399,000 (2012: A$4,408,000) (inclusive of VAT) translated at an AUD/USD average exchange rate of 1.0378 for FY13 (2012: 
1.0319). The balance outstanding as at 30 June 2013 was A$Nil (2012: A$947,238) translated at the 30 June 2013 AUD/USD rate of N/A (2012: 1.0172). The 
rental contract was negotiated on an arm’s length basis. One of the Group’s Non-Executive Directors, Mr Peter Richards, was a Non-Executive Director of 
Kangaroo Resources Limited.
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33	 OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 Subsidiaries
Loans are made between wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group for capital purchases. Loans outstanding between the different wholly 
owned entities of the Company have no fixed date of repayment. Loans made between subsidiaries within a common taxable jurisdiction 
are interest free. Cross border subsidiary loans are charged at LIBOR plus a relevant arm’s length mark up. 

	 Ultimate parent entity
Emeco Holdings Limited is the ultimate parent entity of the Group.

34	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 30 July 2013 Mr Keith Gordon announced his intention to step down from his role as Managing Director. Mr Gordon will remain in his 
current position until a new Managing Director is appointed.

35	 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

	 Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 30 June 2013 was based on the profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
$6,004,000 (2012: $69,745,000) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding less any treasury shares for the year 
ended 30 June 2013 of 585,137,181 (2012: 609,182,029). 

	 Profit attributed to ordinary shareholders

  CONSOLIDATED

    2013     2012  

 
CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS TOTAL

CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS TOTAL

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit/(loss) for the period 6,004 - 6,004 69,972 (227) 69,745

	 Weighted average number of ordinary shares

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 July 631,238 631,238

Effect of purchased treasury shares (46,101) (22,056)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 585,137 609,182

	 Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 30 June 2013 was based on profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of $6,004,000 
(2012: $69,745,000) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding less any treasury shares during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2013 of 588,094,138 (2012: 624,198,215). 

	 Profit attributed to ordinary shareholders (diluted)

  CONSOLIDATED

    2013     2012  

 
CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS TOTAL

CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS TOTAL

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit/(loss) attributed to ordinary 
shareholders (basic)

6,004 - 6,004 69,972 (227) 69,745
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35	 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)	

	 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June  631,238  631,238 

Effect of the vesting of contingently issuable shares  2,957  15,016 

Effect of purchased treasury shares  (46,101)  (22,056)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 30 June  588,094  624,198 

	 Comparative information
The average market value of the Company’s shares for the purpose of calculating the dilutive effect of ordinary share was based on quoted 
market prices for the period during which the shares were outstanding.

36	 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURE

As at and throughout the financial year ending 30 June 2013 the parent entity (the “Company”) of the Group was Emeco Holdings Limited.

  COMPANY

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

RESULT OF THE PARENT ENTITY  

Profit/(loss) for the period (96,802)  44,654 

Other comprehensive income  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  - 

FINANCIAL POSITION OF PARENT ENTITY AT YEAR END  

Current assets  10,595  22 

Non-current assets  544,519  710,376 

Total assets  458,312  710,398 

Current liabilities  -  15,627 

Total liabilities  -  15,627 

TOTAL EQUITY OF THE PARENT ENTITY COMPRISING OF:  

Share capital  593,616  610,424 

Share based payment reserve  12,144  9,155 

Reserve for own shares (16,433)  (13,757)

Retained earnings (121,047)  12,840 

Total equity  468,280  618,662 

	 Parent entity guarantees in respect of debts of its subsidiaries
The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees debts in respect of its 
subsidiaries.

Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed, are disclosed in Note 37.
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37	 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned subsidiaries listed below are relieved from 
the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of Financial reports, and Directors’ reports.

It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross Guarantee. The effect of the 
Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries 
under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only 
be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the 
event that the Company is wound up.

The subsidiaries subject to the Deed are:

•	 Emeco Pty Ltd

•	 Emeco International Pty Limited

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position, comprising the Company and 
controlled entities which are a party to the Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, for the 
year ended 30 June 2013 is set out as follows:

	 Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and retained earnings

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

Revenue  270,757  455,183 

Cost of sales (188,210) (289,730)

Gross profit  82,547  165,453 

Operating expense (62,213) (64,455)

Finance income  5,377  2,522 

Finance costs (21,048) (18,727)

Impairment of investment (120,278)  - 

Profit before tax (115,615)  84,793 

Tax expense (2,892) (25,861)

Net profit after tax (118,507)  58,932 

Other comprehensive income  1,697  546 

Total comprehensive income for the period  1,697  546 

Retained earnings at beginning of year  107,925  83,165 

Dividends recognised during the year (37,146) (34,718)

Retained earnings at end of year (46,031)  107,925 

Attributable to:  

Equity holders of the Company (46,031)  107,925 

Profit/(loss) for the period (118,507)  58,932 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2013

37	 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (CONTINUED)

	 Statement of financial position

  CONSOLIDATED

  2013 2012

  $’000 $’000

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash assets  218  69,483 

Trade and other receivables  37,717  60,050 

Derivatives  691  776 

Current tax assets  11,376  - 

Inventories  9,739  32,926 

Assets held for sale  -  405 

Total current assets  59,741  163,640 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Trade and other receivables  101,138  58,692 

Derivatives  4,489  3,643 

Intangible assets  151,555  151,622 

Investments  211,310  158,388 

Property, plant and equipment  400,556  497,687 

Total non-current assets  869,048  870,032 

Total assets  928,789  1,033,672 

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables  23,486  30,688 

Derivatives  1,281  2,239 

Interest bearing liabilities  9,308  3,339 

Current tax liabilities  -  15,627 

Provisions  2,327  3,158 

Total current liabilities  36,402  55,051 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Derivatives  1,502  3,369 

Interest bearing liabilities  321,399  248,106 

Deferred tax liabilities  27,050  15,970 

Provisions  1,484  1,478 

Total non-current liabilities  351,435  268,923 

Total liabilities  387,837  323,974 

Net assets  540,952  709,698 

EQUITY    

Issued capital  593,616  610,424 

Share based payment reserve  12,144  9,155 

Reserves  (18,777) (17,806)

Retained earnings  (46,031)  107,925 

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  540,952  709,697 
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Directors’ Declaration

1.	 In the opinion of the Directors of Emeco Holdings Limited (the “Company”):

(a)	 the consolidated financial statements and notes as set out on pages 62 to 124, and Remuneration report in the Directors’ report, set 
out on pages 47 to 59 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

	 (i)	� giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the financial year ended 
on that date; and

	 (ii)	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b)	 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

2.	 There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the group entities identified in Note 37 will be able to meet any obligation 
or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those group 
entities pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

3.	 The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

4.	 The Directors draw attention to note 2(a) to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement of compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Dated at Perth, 21 day of August 2013

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Keith Gordon 
Managing Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EMECO HOLDINGS LIMITED

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Emeco Holdings Limited (the Company), which comprises the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2013, and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the Group comprising the Company and entities it controlled at the year’s end or from 
time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. In note 2(a), the directors also state, 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements of the Group 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s financial position 
and of their performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member
firm of the KPMG network of independent member
firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a)	the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i)	 giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; 
and 

(ii)	 complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b)	the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a). 

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2013. The directors of the Company 
are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Emeco Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013 complies with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

KPMG

R Gambitta 
Partner

Perth

21 August 2013
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
The Annual General Meeting of Emeco Holdings Limited will be held at the Crown Perth, Great Eastern Highway, Burswood, Western Australia 
on Wednesday 20 November 2013 commencing at 12:00 noon (Perth time).

EVENT DATE*

Annual General Meeting 20 November 2013

Half year 31 December 2013

Half year profit announcement February 2014

Year end 30 June 2014

*	 Timing of events is subject to change and Board discretion.

SHAREHOLDER STATISTICS
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Details regarding substantial holders of the Company’s ordinary shares as at 6 September 2013, as disclosed in the substantial holding notices, 
are as follows:

NAME SHARES % ISSUED CAPITAL

First Samuel Limited 52,565,810 8.77

Franklin Resources Inc. and its affiliates 36,841,465 6.14

Dimensional Fund Advisors 36,375,691 6.07

LSV Asset Management 31,174,717 5.20

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
As at 6 September 2013, there were 7,324 holders of the Company’s ordinary shares. The distribution as at 6 September 2013 was as follows: 

RANGE INVESTORS SECURITIES % ISSUED CAPITAL

100,001 and Over 342 502,559,388 83.81

10,001 to 100,000 2,550 78,795,062 13.14

5,001 to 10,000 1,482 11,676,531 1.95

1,001 to 5,000 2,071 6,169,858 1.03

1 to 1,000 879 474,868 0.08

Total 7,324 599,675,707 100.00

The number of security investors holding less than a marketable parcel of 2,223 securities ($0.225 on 6 September 2013) is 1,611 and they 
hold 1,669,265 securities.

Shareholder  
Information
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20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
The names of the 20 largest holders of the Company’s ordinary shares as at 6 September 2013 are: 

RANK NAME TOTAL UNITS % ISSUED CAPITAL

1 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 108,419,296 18.08

2 JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 70,543,448 11.76

3 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 64,568,366 10.77

4 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 55,620,494 9.28

5 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 39,059,799 6.51

6 PACIFIC CUSTODIANS PTY LIMITED 16,387,647 2.73

7 ELPHINSTONE HOLDINGS PTY LTD 6,860,000 1.14

8 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA 6,705,860 1.12

9 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 6,132,463 1.02

10 UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,719,198 0.62

11 G HARVEY NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 3,661,800 0.61

12 UNITING GROWTH FUND LIMITED 3,600,000 0.60

13 MR TREVOR THOMAS SAUVARIN 3,000,000 0.50

14 CAROLINA CORPORATION PTY LTD 2,713,932 0.45

15 GOLDKING ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 2,554,519 0.43

16 ABN AMRO CLEARING SYDNEY NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,514,840 0.42

17 RBC INVESTOR SERVICES AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 2,431,996 0.41

18 QIC LIMITED 2,364,555 0.39

19 AMP LIFE LIMITED 2,345,520 0.39

20 CS FOURTH NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,234,991 0.37

VOTING RIGHTS OF ORDINARY SHARES
Voting rights of shareholders are governed by the Company’s constitution. The Constitution provides that on a show of hands every member 
present in person or by proxy has one vote and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy has one vote for each fully paid ordinary 
share held by the member.
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Share Price History

CLOSING SHARE PRICE ($)

0.38

0.58

0.78

0.98

1.18 

1.38 

FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13
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Company Directory

DIRECTORS 
Robert Bishop 
Alec Brennan 
John Cahill 
Keith Gordon 
Peter Richards 
Erica Smyth 

SECRETARY 
Michael Kirkpatrick 

REGISTERED OFFICE 
Level 3, 71 Walters Drive  
Osborne Park WA 6017 

Phone: +61 8 9420 0222  
Fax: +61 8 9420 0205 

SHARE REGISTRY 
Link Market Services Limited  
Level 12, 680 George Street  
Sydney NSW 2000 

Phone: 1300 554 474  
www.linkmarketservices.com.au 

AUDITORS 
KPMG 
235 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE LISTING 
Emeco Holdings Limited ordinary shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd. ASX code: EHL



EMECO HOLD INGS L IM ITED   ANNUAL REPORT 2013132 BET TER EQU IPPED

EMECO HOLDINGS LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

This page has been left blank intentionally.





BETTER 
EQUIPPED

2013 ANNUAL REPORT

AUSTRALIA INDONESIA CANADA CHILE

emecogroup.com
Global Head Offi  ce
Level 3
71 Walters Drive
Osborne Park WA 6017
Australia

T +61 (0) 8 9420 0222
E corporate@emecogroup.com

D
esign by M

indfi eld

2013 AN
N

UAL REPO
RT


